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respective businesses organically.
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introduction
The financial year ended 31 August 2013 was characterised by significant change for ConvergeNet Holdings 
Limited ("Convergenet", "Group" or "Company"). The Group embarked on a strategic realignment and cost-
saving process encompassing the closure of its head office, disposal of non-core and loss-making subsidiaries 
and comprehensive rationalisation of the Group’s legal and capital structure. 

results
During the year revenue from continuing operations increased by 18.7% from R238.5 million to R283.0 million, 
whilst the gross profit margin increased from 19.7% to 22.7% compared to the corresponding period, primarily 
as a result of a change in the business mix. 

Operating expenditure from continuing operations has increased from R135.0 million to R158.2 million. Included in operating 
expenditure are impairments of goodwill and other financial asset to the amount of R58.7 million (Restated 2012: R30.2 
million) which resulted primarily due to the restructuring of the Group and sale of subsidiaries. As a result of the increase 
in operating expenses, the Group has made an operating loss from continuing operations of R81.3 million compared to an 
operating loss of R49.1 million for the corresponding restated period. 

The Group loss from continuing operations for the year ended 31 August 2013 was R87.6 million (Restated 2012: R50.4 
million) and attributable loss from continuing operations was R83.9 million (Restated 2012: R49.5 million) resulting in a 
basic loss per share of 9.44 cents (Restated 2012: 5.57 cents) and a headline loss of 3.01 cents per share (Restated 2012: 
5.66 cents).

As a result of the losses made the net tangible asset value per share decreased by 28.2% to 18.7 cents per share 
(Restated 2012: 26.0 cents per share).

Strategic Progress
During the year under review, ConvergeNet enhanced its ability to service clients in the mobile telecommunications industry 
with proprietary base station management systems and the installation of long haul optic fiber and related services.

The Group established itself as a key provider of telecommunication infrastructure development solutions in South Africa 
and built relationships with prominent domestic fixed-line and mobile telecommunication suppliers. 

We are positive that these relationships will allow ConvergeNet to implement its growth strategy which is to focus on 
cabling, base station management and related power supply products as well as to launch a diversification programme 
into the rail and mining industries. ConvergeNet will look to expand its local service offerings beyond the borders of South 
Africa within the next twelve months as its established customer base increases their exposure to African countries in a 
bid to “connect” Africa to the world. We will also seek to establish an office of CK Solutions in Dubai as first step in the 
implementation of our globalization programme.

The Group will also evaluate opportunities to acquire complementary businesses to further diversify its operations.

corporate activities
Numerous corporate transactions were initiated and concluded during the year under review. This included the disposals 
of Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited, X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited, Telesto Communication 
Solutions Proprietary Limited, SIMAT Group and EQ Tickets Proprietary Limited as further detailed in note 13 of the 
consolidated annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Group further resolved during August 2013 to close the Group head offices and rationalise the 
Group’s capital structure which resulted in a share consolidation on a 1-for-10 basis as part of a cost-saving and strategic 
realignment strategy.

outlook
Following full implementation of the Group restructuring, management’s key mandate during the next financial year will be 
to return ConvergeNet to profitability in a cost-controlled and systematically sound manner. 

Our core operating entities, are well poised to take advantage of a strengthened capital base to grow their respective 
businesses organically. A rationalised Group will allow us to attract new investment where it is required to support an 
expansion of these companies, as well as to externally fund the Group’s acquisition strategy in the new financial year, 
should this be required.

Whilst we foresee domestic demand for ICT infrastructure products and services remaining strong, the fourth generation 
of cellular wireless standards (4G) and proliferation of mobile internet devices in South Africa and Africa as a whole, will 
create further opportunities for ConvergeNet to install similar cabling, base station solutions and related power supply 
products in SADC countries for our South African multi-national clients.

Letter FroM tHe cHairMaN
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introduction
The directors of ConvergeNet ("Board") are pleased to present the Group’s second integrated sustainability and corporate 
governance report to stakeholders. This is a continuous process to move closer to the goals of sustainable development 
and to demonstrate ConvergeNet’s commitment to those goals. As can be expected this is a major task and for this reason 
ConvergeNet has decided to adopt a staggered approach. Over the next few years the board will strive to broaden and 
deepen the contents of this report. This will be done in conjunction with the Group’s stakeholders to ensure meaningful, 
understandable and useful information is available on a timely basis, thus achieving true transparency and building a 
trusting relationship with all stakeholders. 

The Group endorses the principles contained in the King III report on corporate governance and confirms its commitment 
to the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency as advocated therein. The Board strives to 
ensure that the Group is being ethically managed according to prudently determined risk parameters and in compliance 
with generally accepted corporate practices and conduct.

Board of directors
The Board is based on a unitary structure and exercises full and effective control over the Group. It comprises six members, 
being a non-executive chairman, another three non-executive directors and two executive directors. Three of the four non-
executive directors are independent. The responsibility of all directors is clearly divided to ensure a balance of power and 
authority to prevent unfettered powers of decision-making. 

The Board is:

- guided by the letter and spirit of the values expressed in King III and the JSE Listings Requirements;
- responsible for actively reviewing and enhancing the Group’s system of control and governance on a continuous basis 

to ensure that the Group is managed ethically and within prudently determined risk parameters;
- maintain their independence when deciding on matters relating to strategy, performance, resources and standards of 

conduct;
- committed to sustainable value creation for all identified stakeholders; and
- responsible for the integrity of the integrated reporting and for overseeing all sustainability issues.
The directors during the financial year were:

Non-Executive Directors Appointment Date Resignation Date
Dumisani Tabata (Chairman)* N/A N/A
Nkomsentu Nika* N/A N/A
Lerato Mangope* N/A N/A
Tim Modise* N/A 1 August 2013
Charles Pettit N/A N/A
Executive Directors Appointment Date Resignation Date
Sandile Swana
(Chief Executive Officer)

N/A 1 August 2013

Danie Bisschoff 
(Financial Director and Acting Chief 
Executive Officer)

N/A 31 December 2013

Hanno van Dyk
(Chief Operating Officer)

N/A 12 December 2013

Peter van Zyl
(Chief Financial Officer)

Appointed as independent non-
executive director on 21 November 
2013. Subsequently, on 1 January 
2014 appointed as executive Chief 
Financial Officer.

N/A

* independent
N/A appointed in prior reporting period

The Board comprises a majority of non-executive directors who bring specific skills and experience to the Board. The 
composition of the Board is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure ongoing compliance with the requirement entailed in the 
Act and King III. 

CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2013
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In terms of the memorandum of incorporation one-third of the directors rotate at the annual general meeting. Lerato 
Mangope and Charles Pettit will rotate and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

The Board is responsible for monitoring and reporting on the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control. It 
is assisted by the audit and risk committee in the discharge of this responsibility. 

The non-executive directors derive no benefit from the Company other than their fees and emoluments as proposed by the 
Board through the remuneration and nomination committee and approved by shareholders at the Group’s annual general 
meeting.

During the reporting period, Nkosemntu Nika was appointed as independent non-executive director and 
chairman of the audit and risk committee effective 23 November 2013. As part of the restructuring of the Group, 
Sandile Swana and Tim Modise resigned as directors of the Company effective 1 August 2013. Hanno van Dyk 
resigned as a director of the Board on 12 December 2013. 

the chairman 
The chairman’s role is to set the ethical tone for the Board and to ensure that the Board remains efficient, 
focused and operates as a unit. Dumisani Tabata is an independent non-executive chairman and his role is 
separate from that of the chief executive officer. 

From 25 November 2013, Dumisani’s status changed from the non-executive chairman of the Company, 
to independent chairman following the disposal of the majority of his indirect shareholding in the Company, 
previously constituting 9.3% of the total issued share capital of the Company to an indirect holding of 1.12% 
which is considered by the Board to be sufficiently immaterial to render his status independent and free of undue 
influence and bias.

Dumisani provides overall leadership to the Board and chief executive officer without limiting the principle of 
collective responsibility for Board decisions. He is also a member of the audit and risk committee, social & ethics 
committee as well as the remuneration and nomination committee. The chairman is also responsible for the 
annual appraisal of the chief executive officer’s performance and he oversees the formal succession plan for the 
Board. Although the Board evaluates the chairman annually, election of the chairman does not occur annually, 
but only as and when required. 

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer
The chief executive officer reports to the Board and is responsible for the day-to-day business of the Group and 
implementation of policies and strategies approved by the Board. The executive committee assists him with this task. 
Board authority conferred on management is delegated through the chief executive officer, against approved authority 
levels. 

Sandile Swana resigned as director and chief executive officer of the Company effective 1 August 2013 and Danie Bisschoff 
was appointed acting chief executive officer on the same date until 31 December 2013. The process has commenced for 
the appointment of a chief executive officer. 

Danie Bisschoff fulfilled the role of financial director until 31 December 2013 after which he was replaced by Peter van Zyl.

Non-executive directors
All members of the Board have a fiduciary responsibility to represent the best interest of the Group and all of its stakeholders. 
The Group’s non-executive directors are individuals of high caliber and credibility who make a significant contribution to the 
Board’s deliberations and decisions. They have the necessary skill and experience to exercise judgment on areas such as 
strategy, performance, transformation, diversity and employment equity.

company secretary
Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited, represented by Sirkien van Schalkwyk, was appointed Company secretary 
effective 1 March 2013. The Company secretary plays a vital role in the corporate governance of the Group and is 
responsible for ensuring Board compliance with procedures and regulations of a statutory nature. The Company secretary 
ensures compliance with the Listings Requirements and is responsible for the submission of the annual compliance 
certificate to the JSE Limited. 

The Company secretary ensures that, in accordance with the pertinent laws and regulatory framework, the proceedings 
and affairs of the Board and its members, the Company itself and, where appropriate the owners of securities in the 
Company, are properly administered. The Company secretary is the secretary of all the Board committees.

The Board satisfied itself regarding Sirkien van Schalkwyk’s work experience, performance and technical skills in fulfilling 
her role as Company secretary. She is a consultant and maintains an arms-length relationship with the Board of directors.

Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited resigned as Company secretary with effect from 1 December 2013 and was 
replaced by Lavender Sky, represented by Warwick van Breda on the same date.

corPorate GoVerNaNce &
SUStaiNaBiLitY rePort
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Board processes
The directors have access to the advice and services of the Company secretary. They are entitled, at the Company’s 
expense, to seek independent professional advice about the affairs of the Company regarding the execution of their duties 
as directors. 

A Board charter is in place and outlines the responsibilities of the Board as follows:

• act as the focal point for, and custodian of, corporate governance by managing its relationship with management, the 
shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company along sound corporate governance principles;

• retain full and effective control of the Company;
• give strategic direction to the Company, both long and short term;
• monitor management in implementing plans and strategies as approved by the Board;
• create value through social, economic and environmental performance;
• appoint and evaluate the performance of the chief executive officer;
• ensure that succession is planned;
• identify and regularly monitor key risk areas and key performance indicators of the business;
• ensure that the Company complies with relevant laws, regulations and codes of business practice;
• ensure that the Company communicates with shareowners and relevant stakeholders openly and promptly;
• identify and monitor relevant non-financial matters;
• establish a formal and transparent procedure for appointment to the Board, as well as a formal orientation programme 

for incoming directors;

• regularly review processes and procedures to ensure effectiveness of internal systems of control and accept 
responsibility for the total process of risk management; 

• assess the performance of the Board, its committees and its individual members on a regular basis;

• ensure that the Company is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen by having regard to not only the financial 
aspects of the business of the Company but also the impact that business operations have on the environment and 
the society within which it operates;

• ensure that the Company’s performance includes that of an economic, social and environmental perspective;

• ensure that the Company’s ethics are managed effectively;

• ensure that the Company has an effective and independent audit committee; 
- be responsible for information technology (IT) governance;
- appreciate that stakeholder’s perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;
- ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated report;
- monitor the Company’s compliance with the above; 
- act in the best interests of the Company by ensuring that individual directors:

- adhere to legal standards of conduct;
- exercise the degree of care, skill and diligence that would be exercised by a reasonably individual;
- act in good faith and in the manner that the director believes is in best interests of the Company;
- take independent advice in connection with their duties following an agreed procedure;
- disclose real or perceived conflicts to the Board and deal with them accordingly;
- deal in securities only in accordance with the policy adopted by the Board; and
- commence business rescue proceedings as soon as the Company is financially distressed.

The charter also addresses issues such as the composition and size of the Board, Board and committee assessments, 
Board procedures, matters reserved for Board decision and the frequency and proceedings of Board meetings. 

interest in contracts
During the year ended 31 August 2013, directors having a significant interest in any contract or arrangement entered into 
by the Company or its subsidiaries, are disclosed in the directors' report on page 27.

Directors are required to inform the Board timeously of conflicts or potential conflicts of interest they may have in relation 
to particular items of business. Directors are obliged to excuse themselves from discussions or decisions on matters in 
which they have a conflict of interest. The procedures around conflict of interests are included in the Board charter and a 
declaration and conflict of interest policy was adopted. 

Directors’ dealings in shares
Directors of the Company and its major subsidiaries may not deal in the Company’s shares without first advising and 
obtaining clearance from the chairman and/or chief executive officer. The chief executive officer and financial director may 
not deal in the Company’s shares without first advising and obtaining clearance from the chairman. No director or executive 
may trade in ConvergeNet shares during closed periods as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements. The directors of 
the Company keep the Company secretary advised of all their dealings in securities and details of dealings are placed on 
SENS in line with the JSE Listings Requirements. 
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Board evaluation
No formal Board evaluation was done during the reporting period. A self-evaluation of the Board and sub-committees was 
conducted during November 2013 and will be presented to the Board for further action. 

Board meeting attendance
The following Board meetings were held during the reporting period:

Member 22 Nov 2012 7 Feb 2013 25 Apr 2013 25 Jul 2013
Danie Bisschoff √ √ √ √
Tim Modise √ √ √ x
Nkosemntu Nika n/a x √ √
Charles Pettit √ √ x √
Sandile Swana √ √ √ √
Hanno van Dyk √ √ √ √

* appointed 23 November 2012
N/A not a member of the board

Board committees
While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the performance and affairs of the Company, it 
delegates to management and Board committees certain functions to assist it in properly discharging its duties. 
The chairman of each Board committee reports at each scheduled meeting of the Board and minutes of 
Board committee meetings are provided to the Board. Each Board committee functions in accordance with the 
provisions of the committee terms of reference as approved by the Board.

Both the directors and the members of the Board committees are supplied with full and timely information that 
enables them to properly discharge their responsibilities. All directors have unrestricted access to all Group 
information.

The chairman of each Board committee is required to attend annual general meetings to answer questions 
raised by shareholders.

The established Board committees are:

audit and risk committee
The current members of the audit and risk committee are Nkosemntu Nika (chairman), Lerato Mangope and Dumisani 
Tabata. Charles Pettit stepped down as audit and risk committee member on 23 November 2012 when Nkomsemtu Nika 
was appointed to the board as an independent non-executive director and as chairman of the risk and audit committee. 
The committee consist of three non-executive directors. In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements the committee must 
comprised of at least three independent non-executive directors. Prior to the restructuring of the Group and changes in 
the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata was considered to be non-independent. The Company has been 
granted dispensation from the JSE to appoint the third independent director. Subsequent to the restructuring of the Group 
and change in the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata’s status as being non-independent has been 
reconsidered and the board is satisfied that he is now independent.

A report from the chairman of the committee can be found on page 17 of the integrated report. 

remuneration and nomination committee
The committee comprises Nkosemntu Nika (chairman), Dumisani Tabata and Charles Pettit. Two of the members are 
independent. The chief executive officer attends by invitation. 

The Group head-office was drastically restructured as a result of the planned and published restructuring of the Group. 
To this end the remuneration of all directors came under the direct scrutiny of the Board and was dealt with at the Board 
meeting in order to control head-office costs. The remuneration and nomination committee therefore met during the Board 
meetings held 25 April 2013, 25 July 2013, 2 September 2013, 21 October 2013 and 21 November 2013.

The remuneration committee report can be found on page 20 of the integrated report. 

Social and ethics committee
During the reporting period, the Board established the social and ethics committee in line with the requirements of the 
Act. The members were Tim Modise (chairman until 1 August 2013), Dumisani Tabata and Danie Bisschoff. Following the 
resignation of Tim Modise on 1 August 2013, Dumisani Tabata took over the interim role of chairman and was replaced by 
Peter van Zyl on 21 November 2013. 

corPorate GoVerNaNce &
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investment committee
The investment committee currently comprise of Nkosemntu Nika (chairman), Danie Bisschoff, Charles Pettit and Hanno 
van Dyk. Only the chairman is independent. Sandile Swana and Tim Modise resigned as members effective 1 August 2013. 
Hanno van Dyk resigned with effect from 12 December 2013. Danie Bisschoff resigned with effect from 31 December 2013.

During the period under review, the following meetings were held and the attendance of the meetings was as follows:

Member 11 Apr 2013 21 May 2013
Danie Bisschoff √ √
Tim Modise x x
Nkosemntu Nika n/a √
Charles Pettit √ √
Sandile Swana √ √
Hanno van Dyk √ √

investment committee continued
Meetings are held as frequently as required, but not less than twice a year. A formal terms of reference for the committee 
was adopted and implemented. Restrictions, guidelines for investments and activities that require specific approval form 
part of the committee’s terms of reference. 
The duties of the committee include the following:
- To define the Group’s investment objectives; 
- To identify and approve suitable acquisitions, divestitures and other activities requiring approval;
- To monitor performance of investments made and take corrective actions, as required;
- The investment committee is permitted to reject acquisitions, divestitures and other activities requiring approval with-

out further reference to the Board of directors or any other authority; and 
- All acquisitions, divestitures and other activities requiring approval must firstly be approved by the investment commit-

tee prior to submission to the Board of directors for final approval where applicable.
The Board has requested that the investment committee assess proposed investment opportunities that the executive 
management of the Company believe should be presented to the Board. Once the financial and other qualitative aspects 
have been considered, the investment committee is required to make a recommendation to the Board. 
Non-financial matters
ConvergeNet subscribes to the highest ethical standards and behavior in the conduct of its business and related activities, 
and requires total honesty and integrity from its directors and employees. ConvergeNet expects its shareholders, suppliers 
and partners to subscribe to the same high ethical standards. 
communications with stakeholders
The Group is committed to ongoing and effective communication with stakeholders. It subscribes to a policy of open and 
timeous communication in line with JSE Limited guidelines, sound corporate governance and will manage these through 
an investor relations programme. 
employment, development and employment equity
The Company continues to promote a culture that provides all employees with opportunities to advance to their optimal 
levels of career development. 
The Company upholds and supports the objectives of the Employment Equity Act and intends implementing various 
initiatives that provide opportunities for all levels of staff within its various developments as they become established and 
will seek to position itself as an employer of choice, whilst at the same time enhancing its participation in making South 
Africa more internationally competitive. 
The Company’s employment policies are designed to provide equal opportunities, without discrimination, to all employees. 
Sustainability reporting
The Group is committed to high moral, ethical and legal standards and expects all representatives of the Group to act in 
accordance with the highest standards of personal and professional integrity in all aspects of their activities and to comply 
with all applicable laws, regulations and the Group’s policies.
The board believes that the Group has adhered to the ethical standards during the year under review.
The overall well-being of employees is regarded as important and the Company encourages its employees to raise any 
issues with the executive directors as well as at subsidiary level.
From a business perspective the Group is actively involved in reduction of energy consumption for certain of its 
telecommunications customers, which are expected to have a sustainable positive impact on the environment, its customers 
and the Group. In the coming year, the Group will also be focusing on energy efficient power solutions and products. 
Furthermore, in the Company’s office environment, systems aimed at reducing resource consumption over time are in 
place and the Company is continuously exploring ways in which to reduce paper, energy and water usage.
The Board is in the process of implementing procedures to issue a full sustainability report to shareholders in the future to 
report on its progress with regards to the initiatives of the Company detailed above.
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Summary of the supplication of King iii principles
The Company and its subsidiaries endorses the principles contained in the King III report on corporate governance and 
confirms its commitment to the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency as advocated therein. 
The Board strives to ensure that the Group is being ethically managed according to prudently determined risk parameters 
and in compliance with generally accepted corporate practices and conduct.

The Group applies the principles in King lll to the extent justified by its size and the complexity of its operations.  The Board 
rates the overall compliance of the Company at a maturity level of 2 and strives to improve its processes to a level of 3 in 
the future. The King III application table below sets out the manner in which its principles have been applied and, where 
appropriate, the reasons for not doing so. 

1 – Not applied / will not be applied
2 – In process / partially applied
3 – Full application

Principle Stage of 
Maturity comments

1. ethical leadership and corporate citizenship

1.1
The Board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation

3
The Board observes the highest standards of ethical 
conduct in discharging its responsibilities. The Board has 
established a social and ethics committee.

1.2
The Board should ensure that the 
Company is, and is seen to be, a 
responsible corporate citizen

3
The Board acknowledges the importance of the Company 
being seen as a responsible citizen. The Board has 
established a social and ethics committee.

1.3
The Board should ensure that the 
Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively

3
The Board, together with executive management, observes 
the highest standards of ethical conduct in discharging its 
responsibilities. The Board has established a social and 
ethics committee. 

2. Board and Directors 

2.1
The Board should act as the 
focal point for and custodian of 
corporate governance 

2

The Board is committed to and endorses the application of 
the principles of transparency, integrity and accountability 
as recommended in the King III Code. Whilst the Board 
remains committed to the principles of good governance, 
it is working towards and in the process of implementing 
more effective procedures to improve its corporate 
governance disclosures in compliance with King III.

2.2
The Board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable

3
The Board has established committees, as recommended by 
the King III Code, in ensuring that strategy, risk, performance 
and sustainability are integrated. 

2.3
The Board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation

3
The Board observes the highest standards of ethical conduct 
in discharging its responsibilities. The Board has established 
a social and ethics committee. 

2.4
The Board should ensure that the 
Company is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

3
The Board acknowledges the importance of the Company 
being seen as a responsible citizen. The Board has 
established a social and ethics committee. 

2.5
The Board should ensure that the 
Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively

3
The Board, together with executive management, observes 
the highest standards of ethical conduct in discharging its 
responsibilities. The Board has established a social and 
ethics committee.

2.6
The Board should ensure that 
the Company has an effective 
and independent audit and risk 
committee

2

The committee consist of three non-executive directors. 
In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements the committee 
must comprised of at least three independent non-executive 
directors. Prior to the restructuring of the Group and changes 
in the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata 
was considered to be non-independent. The Company has 
been granted dispensation from the JSE to appoint the 
third independent director on or before 31 December 2013. 
Subsequent to the restructuring of the Group and change in 
the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata’s 
status as being non-independent has been reconsidered and 
the board is satisfied that he is now independent.

corPorate GoVerNaNce &
SUStaiNaBiLitY rePort
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Principle Stage of 
Maturity comments

2. Board and Directors 

2.7 The Board should be responsible 
for the governance of risk 3

The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by the 
Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board on 
this matter.

2.8
The Board should be responsible 
for information technology (IT) 
governance

 2

The IT Governance and responsibility has been delegated 
to the audit and risk committee. Refer to the Terms of 
Reference of the audit and risk committee which address IT 
Governance. The Company has not yet established an IT 
governance framework given the size and nature of the IT 
environment of the Group and no significant IT investments 
or expenses have been incurred to date. 

2.9

The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards

3

The audit and risk committee is mandated to ensure that 
the Company complies with applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding rules, codes and standards, 
as assisted and advised by the Company secretary and 
external advisors to the extent required.

2.10
The Board should ensure that there 
is an effective risk-based internal 
audit

 3

The executive directors conduct an annual review of the 
Company’s internal controls, and report their findings to 
the audit and risk committee. This review covers financial, 
operational and compliance controls, as well as a review 
of the risk management policies and procedures of the 
Company. In addition the Company has appointed KPMG, 
an external firm to fulfill the role of Internal Auditors who will 
assist in developing an Integrated Assurance model for the 
Group.

2.11
The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect 
the Company’s reputation

3

The Board has procedures in place to ensure that all 
material matters are communicated to its stakeholders in an 
effective and responsible manner. Executive management 
is tasked to implement this policy in conjunction with Board-
appointed advisors.

2.12
The Board should ensure the 
integrity of the Company’s 
integrated report

3
ConvergeNet has formulated and implemented processes to 
ensure the integrity of the Company’s integrated report, the 
contents whereof will be consistent with the size and nature 
of ConvergeNet’s business.

2.13
The Board should report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal controls

 3

The directors recognise that they are responsible for the 
Group’s system of financial and internal controls. The 
executive directors are responsible for identifying, analysing, 
reporting and managing Group risk which forms part of their 
daily functions. The Terms of Reference of the Audit and risk 
committee includes the need to report to the Board annually 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial 
controls.

2.14
The Board and its directors should 
act in the best interests of the 
Company

3 Directors are required to declare their interest at every Board 
meeting.

2.15

The Board should consider 
business rescue proceedings or 
other turnaround mechanisms as 
soon as the Company is financially 
distressed as defined in the Act

3
In the event that business rescue proceedings are 
contemplated, same will be implemented within the 
framework of the Companies Act.

2.16

The Board should elect a 
chairman of the Board who is 
an independent non-executive 
director. The CEO of the Company 
should not also fulfill the role of 
chairman of the Board

2

The roles of the interim CEO and Chairman were fulfilled 
by separate individuals up to the date of resignation of the 
interim CEO on 31 December 2013. The chairman is now 
an independent non-executive director. The role of the CEO 
is currently vacant, however the Board expects to appoint a 
candidate by 31 March 2014.

corPorate GoVerNaNce &
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2.17
The Board should appoint the chief 
executive officer and establish a 
framework for the delegation of 
authority

3

The Company has appointed its current Chief Financial 
Officer, DF Bisschoff, as Chief Executive Officer of the 
restructured Group on an interim basis, with effect from 30 
July 2013, which interim appointment will terminate on 31 
December 2013. The Company is already in discussions 
with potential candidates in this regard and expect to make 
an appointment by 31 March 2014.

2.18

The Board should comprise a 
balance of power, with a majority 
of non-executive directors. The 
majority of non-executive directors 
should be independent

3

The Board comprises a majority of non-executive directors, 
of which only the majority of members are independent. 
Prior to the restructuring of the Group and changes in the 
composition of major shareholders, the chairman was 
considered to be non-independent and the Board only 
consisted of two independent members. The Company 
was been granted dispensation from the JSE to appoint a 
third independent director on or before 31 December 2013. 
Subsequent to the restructuring of the Group and change in 
the composition of major shareholders, the chairman’s status 
as being non-independent was reconsidered and the board 
is satisfied that he is now independent and that the Company 
complies with the requirements of King III.

2.19 Directors should be appointed 
through a formal process 3

The appointment of directors is a matter considered by 
the Board as a whole, as assisted by the remuneration 
committee. A formal Appointments to the Board Policy was 
adopted by the Board.

2.20
The induction of and ongoing 
training and development of 
directors should be conducted 
through formal processes

2
New directors will have unlimited access to the Company’s 
resources in order to familiarise themselves with all matters 
related to the Company. They are also provided with 
induction packs but no formal training currently exists.

2.21
The Board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced Company secretary

3
An independent Company fulfills the role as Company 
secretary to the Company. This function will be reviewed 
annually.

2.22
The evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and the individual 
directors should be performed 
every year

 2 
Due to the number of Board changes, no formal evaluation 
of the Board has taken place; however, a self-evaluation is 
scheduled.

2.23
The Board should delegate certain 
functions to well-structured 
committees without abdicating its 
own responsibilities

3 The Board has established committees, as detailed in above, 
which report to the Board. 

2.24
A governance framework should be 
agreed between the Group and its 
subsidiary Boards

3
The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by the 
Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board on 
this matter.

2.25
Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly and 
responsibly

3 The remuneration committee is mandated to establish and 
assess the remuneration policy of the Group.

2.26
Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior 
executives

3 The remuneration of the Company’s directors is disclosed in 
its Annual Financial Statements, as required.

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 
Company’s remuneration policy 3

The remuneration of the Company’s directors is subject to 
approval by shareholders at the Company’s annual general 
meetings.

corPorate GoVerNaNce &
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3. audit and risk committees

3.1

The Board should ensure that 
the Company has an effective 
and independent audit and risk 
committee (private Company 
exception)

3

The committee consist of three non-executive directors. 
In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements the committee 
must comprised of at least three independent non-executive 
directors. Prior to the restructuring of the Group and changes 
in the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata 
was considered to be non-independent. The Company has 
been granted dispensation from the JSE to appoint the 
third independent director on or before 31 December 2013. 
Subsequent to the restructuring of the Group and change in 
the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata’s 
status as being non-independent has been reconsidered and 
the board is satisfied that he is now independent.

3.2

Audit and risk committee members 
should be suitably skilled and 
experienced independent, non-
executive directors (subsidiary 
exception)

3
The members of the audit and risk committee, which is 
constituted by non-executive directors, all have sufficient 
financial backgrounds and extensive business experience. 

3.3
The audit and risk committee 
should be chaired by an 
independent non-executive director

3 The audit and risk committee is chaired by an independent 
non-executive director.

3.4

The audit and risk committee 
should oversee the integrated 
reporting (integrated reporting, 
financial, sustainability and 
summarised information)

The audit and risk committee 
should be responsible for 
evaluating the significant 
judgments and reporting decisions 
affecting the integrated report.

The audit and risk committee’s 
review of the financial reports 
should encompass the annual 
financial statements, interim 
reports, preliminary or provisional 
result announcements, 
summarised integrated 
information, any other intended 
release of price-sensitive financial 
information, trading statements, 
circulars and similar documents.

3
Processes in this regard are in place for the compilation of 
an integrated report, the contents whereof are appropriate 
for the size and nature of ConvergeNet’s business, and 
forms part of the audit and risk committee’s mandate.

3.5

The audit and risk committee 
should ensure that a combined 
assurance model is applied to 
provide a coordinated approach to 
all assurance activities

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish a 
combined assurance model and to apply same in providing a 
coordinated approach to all assurance activities.

3.6

The audit and risk committee 
should satisfy itself of the 
expertise, resources and 
experience of the Company’s 
finance function

3
The audit and risk committee evaluates the performance 
of the finance function on an annual basis and makes 
appropriate recommendations to the Board in this regard.

3.7
The audit and risk committee 
should be responsible for 
overseeing of internal audit

 3

The audit and risk committee conduct an annual review of 
the Company’s internal controls, and report their findings 
to the executive Committee. This review covers financial, 
operational and compliance controls, as well as a review 
of the risk management policies and procedures of the 
Company. 
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3.8
The audit and risk committee 
should be an integral component of 
the risk management process

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated by the Board 
to establish policies and procedures in respect of the risk 
management process.

3.9

The audit and risk committee is 
responsible for recommending the 
appointment of the external auditor 
and overseeing the external audit 
process

3
The audit and risk committee considers the appointment of 
the external auditor on an annual basis and manages the 
relationship throughout the financial year.

3.10
The audit and risk committee 
should report to the Board and 
shareholders on how it has 
discharged its duties

3
The audit and risk committee’s report to the Board and 
shareholders is included in the Company’s annual financial 
statements.

4. the governance of risk

4.1 The Board should be responsible 
for the governance of risk 3

The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by the 
Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board on 
this matter.

4.2 The Board should determine the 
levels of risk tolerance 3

The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by 
the Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board 
on this matter.

4.3
The risk committee or audit and 
risk committee should assist 
the Board in carrying out its risk 
responsibilities 

3
The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by 
the Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board 
on this matter.

4.4
The Board should delegate to 
management the responsibility to 
design, implement and monitor the 
risk management plan

3
The audit and risk committee is specifically mandated by 
the Board to address this matter, and reports to the Board 
on this matter.

4.5
The Board should ensure that risk 
assessments are performed on a 
continual basis

3 The audit and risk committee meets and reports to the Board 
on a quarterly basis to ensure its mandate is carried.

4.6

The Board should ensure that 
frameworks and methodologies 
are implemented to increase 
the probability of anticipating 
unpredictable risks

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated by the Board to 
establish and implement frameworks and methodologies to 
increase the probability of anticipating unpredictable risks.

4.7
The Board should ensure that 
management considers and 
implements appropriate risk 
responses

3

The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
risk management policies and procedures, which is in turn 
implemented by executive management in responding to 
various risks. A risk register was adopted and risks mitigated 
by management.

4.8 The Board should ensure continual 
risk monitoring by management 3

The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
risk management policies and procedures, which is in turn 
implemented by executive management in monitoring and 
responding to various risks. The risk register and responses 
is discussed at each meeting.

4.9
The Board should receive 
assurance regarding the 
effectiveness of the risk 
management process

3

The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
risk management policies and procedures, which is in 
turn communicated to and implemented by executive 
management. The audit and risk committee reports to the 
Board in this regard on this matter.

4.10

The Board should ensure that there 
are processes in place enabling 
complete, timely, relevant, accurate 
and accessible risk disclosure to 
stakeholders

3

The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
policies and procedures to ensure risk areas are identified 
and monitored continuously and timeously. The Board in 
turns ensures complete, timely, relevant, accurate and 
accessible communication to stakeholders in this regard.
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5. the governance of information technology

5.1
The Board should be responsible 
for information technology (IT) 
governance

 3

As per the Board charter the executive Board is responsible 
that technology and systems used in the organization are 
adequate. The audit and risk committee assists the Board 
to consider IT as it relates to financial reporting, IT risk 
management and related controls. 

5.2
IT should be aligned with the 
performance and sustainability 
objectives of the Company

 3

As per the Board charter the executive Board is responsible 
that information technology and systems used in the 
organization are adequate to run the business properly for it 
to compete through the efficient use of its assets, processes 
and resources. 

5.3
The Board should delegate to 
management the responsibility 
for the implementation of an IT 
governance framework

3

The audit and risk committee assists the Board to consider 
IT as it relates to financial reporting, IT risk management, 
related controls and IT Governance. It specifically oversees 
IT risk and controls, business continuity and data recovery 
and IT security.

5.4
The Board should monitor and 
evaluate significant IT investments 
and expenditure

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
policies and procedures to ensure significant IT investments 
and expenditure are monitored and evaluated on a 
continuous basis.

5.5 IT should form an integral part of 
the Company’s risk management 3

The audit and risk committee assists the Board in reviewing 
its IT responsibilities and does form an integral part of the 
Company’s risk management.

5.6
The Board should ensure that 
information assets are managed 
effectively

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish 
policies and procedures to ensure significant IT investments 
and expenditure are monitored and evaluated on a 
continuous basis.

5.7
A risk committee and audit and risk 
committee should assist the Board 
in carrying out its IT responsibilities

 3
As stipulated in its terms of reference the audit and 
risk committee assists the Board in reviewing its IT 
responsibilities.

6. compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards

6.1

The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to nonbinding rules, codes and 
standards

3
The Company secretary advises the Board on all laws, 
rules, codes and standards applicable to the Company. The 
directors are well-versed in this regard, and where required, 
appoint external advisors to assist on specific matters.

6.2

The Board and each individual 
director should have a working 
understanding of the effect of the 
applicable laws, rules, codes and 
standards on the Company and its 
business

3
The Company secretary advises the Board on all laws, 
rules, codes and standards applicable to the Company. The 
directors are well-versed in this regard, and where required, 
appoint external advisors to assist on specific matters.

6.3
Compliance risk should form an 
integral part of the Company’s risk 
management process

3
The audit and risk committee is mandated to identify areas of 
compliance risk, in conjunction with the Company secretary, 
and to establish policies and procedures to mitigate same.

6.4
The Board should delegate to 
management the implementation 
of an effective compliance 
framework and processes

2

The audit and risk committee is mandated to establish an 
effective compliance framework and related processes, 
which are then implemented by executive management 
throughout the Group. The Board is in the process of 
implementing procedures to improve its monitoring of the 
selected compliance frameworks and disclosure.

7. internal audit

7.1
The Board should ensure that there 
is an effective risk-based internal 
audit

3

The audit and risk committee conducts an annual review of 
the Company’s internal controls, and report their findings to 
the executive Board. This review covers financial, operational 
and compliance controls, as well as a review of the risk 
management policies and procedures of the Company. 
Internal audit function has been implemented and the audit 
and risk committee has reviewed and approved the internal 
audit charter. An external firm has been identified to fulfill the 
Internal Audit function following the completion of the Group 
restructuring.
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7.2
An external firm has been identified 
to fulfill the Internal Audit function 
following the completion of the 
group restructuring.

3

In accordance with its terms of reference, the audit and 
risk committee has satisfied itself that the internal audit 
coverage plans and approach of the Company address 
the strategy and risks of the Company. An external firm has 
been identified to fulfill the Internal Audit function following 
the completion of the Group restructuring

7.3

Internal audit should provide 
a written assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal control and risk 
management.

2
The audit and risk committee considers the written results 
of the work performed by and the conclusion of the internal 
audit function and reports it to the Board. 

7.4
The audit and risk committee 
should be responsible for 
overseeing internal audit

3
As per the terms of reference of the audit and risk committee 
it is responsible for assessing the work performed by the 
external firm appointed as Internal Auditors.

7.5
Internal audit should be 
strategically positioned to achieve 
its objectives

3

The audit and risk committee considers whether the 
objectives, organization resources and staffing plans, 
financial budgets, audit plans and standing of the internal 
audit function provide adequate support to enable the 
committee to meets its objective. It satisfies itself that the 
internal audit coverage plans and approach are informed by 
and addresses the strategy and risks of the Company. 

8. Governing stakeholder relationships

8.1
The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect a 
Company’s reputation

3

The Board is ultimately responsible for determining the 
Company’s interactions with its stakeholders and for 
overseeing the development of a formal stakeholder 
engagement plan. The Board has procedures in place 
to ensure that all material matters are communicated to 
its stakeholders in an effective and responsible manner. 
Executive management is tasked to implement this policy in 
conjunction with Board-appointed advisors.

8.2
The Board should delegate to 
management to proactively deal 
with stakeholder relationships

3

The Board is ultimately responsible for determining the 
Company’s interactions with its stakeholders and for 
overseeing the development of a formal stakeholder 
engagement plan. The Board has procedures in place 
to ensure that all material matters are communicated to 
its stakeholders in an effective and responsible manner. 
Executive management is tasked to implement this policy in 
conjunction with Board-appointed advisors.

8.3

The Board should strive to achieve 
the appropriate balance between 
its various stakeholder Groupings, 
in the best interests of the 
Company

3

The Board has procedures in place to ensure that all 
material matters are communicated to its stakeholders in an 
effective and responsible manner. In doing so, the Company 
is able to achieve an appropriate balance between its 
various stakeholders and the Company’s best interest.

8.4

Companies should ensure 
the equitable treatment of 
shareholders (only applicable 
to companies and state owned 
companies)

3
The Board has procedures in place to ensure that all 
material matters are communicated to its stakeholders 
in an effective and responsible manner. All shareholders, 
minorities included, are treated equitably.

8.5

Transparent and effective 
communication with stakeholders 
is essential for building and 
maintaining their trust and 
confidence

3

The Board is ultimately responsible for determining the 
Company’s interactions with its stakeholders and for 
overseeing the development of a formal stakeholder 
engagement plan. The Board has procedures in place 
to ensure that all material matters are communicated to 
its stakeholders in an effective and responsible manner. 
Executive management is tasked to implement this policy in 
conjunction with Board-appointed advisors.
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8.6
The Board should ensure 
that disputes are resolved 
as effectively, efficiently and 
expeditiously as possible

2
Resolution of disputes is not always achieved effectively or 
timeously and the Company is seeking to improve in this 
area.

9. integrated reporting and disclosure

9.1
The Board should ensure the 
integrity of the Company’s 
integrated report

3
The Company’s annual report, which consists of an 
integrated report, is reviewed by the Board to ensure integrity 
thereof prior to its approval.

9.2
Sustainability reporting and 
disclosure should be integrated 
with the Company’s financial 
reporting

1 ConvergeNet will not produce a separate sustainability report 
for the time being.

9.3
Sustainability reporting and 
disclosure should be independently 
assured

1
An assurance statement on ethics and sustainability 
reporting has not been obtained as yet. Consideration is 
currently being given as to how this recommended practice 
can best be implemented.

Sustainable development strategy
The Group is continuously reviewing and updating its sustainable development strategy.

The following principles have been applied in developing this strategy:

· To consider environmental impact.

· Forming strong, sustainable relationships with stakeholders.

· Improve relationship with the workforce and be fair.

· Upliftment of communities in which it operates.

· Assist in developing Small and Medium Enterprises in the various regions.

Stakeholders
The Group subscribes to an open, timely communication policy. Material stakeholders, the current engagement methods 
and proposed improvements to the engagement methods have been identified below. 

Stakeholder engagement Method Proposed improvement to 
engagement Method

Shareholders The ConvergeNet Annual General Meeting

Media announcements on SENS and in the press

Web site updates 

Results presentations

The Company did not manage 
to do any results representations 
in the past year due to the 
restructure of the company. 
This will be reconsidered in the 
forthcoming year. 

Employees Training initiatives

Incentive schemes

The Company has started 
initiatives to provide training to 
staff members in areas that they 
require.

Customers Regular liaison with customers and associated industry 
bodies

Suppliers Service level agreements

Certifications
Consumers Web site updates Social networking media
Communities and 
civil society

Web site

Media announcements

Transfer Office
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd acts as transfer secretaries to the Company. 
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The audit and risk committee operates under a formal mandate that has been approved by the Board and has 
conducted its affairs in compliance and discharged its responsibilities as stipulated in the committee terms of 
reference. The audit and risk committee terms of reference are available on request. 

Due to the size of the Group, the Board made a decision to combine the audit and risk committees and attend 
to both audit and risk responsibilities.

Audit and risk committee members

The current members of the audit and risk committee are Nkosemntu Nika (chairman), Lerato Mangope and 
Dumisani Tabata. Charles Pettit stepped down as audit and risk committee member on 23 November 2012
when Nkomsemntu Nika was appointed to the board as an independent non-executive director and as chairman of the 
risk and audit committee. The CEO and Group Financial Director have a standing invitation to attend all audit and risk 
committee meetings.

The committee consist of three non-executive directors. In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements the committee must 
comprise of at least three independent non-executive directors. Prior to the restructuring of the Group and changes in the 
composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata was considered to be non-independent. 

The Company has been granted dispensation from the JSE to appoint the third independent director. Subsequent to the 
restructuring of the Group and change in the composition of major shareholders, Dumisani Tabata’s independence status 
has been reconsidered and the board is satisfied that he is now independent.

Member 7 Nov 2012 16 Nov 2012 18 Apr 2013 18 Jul 2013
Lerato Mangope √ √ √ x
Nkosemntu Nika n/a n/a √ √
Charles Pettit √ √ n/a n/a
Dumisani Tabata √ √ x √

Roles and responsibilities

The committee’s roles and responsibilities include its statutory duties as defined in the Companies Act, 2008 and the 
responsibilities assigned to it by the Board. The committee reports to both the Board and shareholders.

Statutory duties

In the conduct of its duties, the committee has performed the following statutory duties:

- Nominated, for appointment as external auditor of the Company under section 90, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as 
registered auditor who, in the opinion of the audit and risk committee, is independent of the Company;

- Determined the fees to be paid to the external auditor and the auditor’s terms of engagement;

- Ensured that the appointment of the external auditor complies with the provisions of the Act and any other legislation 
relating to the appointment of external auditors;

- Determined, subject to the provisions of chapter 3 of the Act, the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the 
external auditor may provide to the Company or that the external auditor must not provide to the Company, or any 
related Company;

- Adopted a non-audit services policy to pre-approve any proposed agreement with the external auditor for the provision 
of non-audit services to the Company;
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Statutory duties (continued)

- Prepared this report, 

• describing how the committee carried out its functions;

• stating whether the committee is satisfied that the external auditor was independent of the Company; and

• commenting in any way that the committee considers appropriate on the financial statements, the accounting 
practices and the internal financial control of the Company.

External auditor

The committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was independent of the 
Company. The committee sought assurance that internal governance processes within PricewaterhouseCoopers support 
and demonstrate their claim to independence and this was provided.

The committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and 
budgeted audit fees.

The committee has recommended the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the external auditors and Deon 
Storm as designated auditor, for the 2014 financial year. It has further satisfied itself that the audit firm and designated 
auditor are accredited to appear on the JSE list of accredited auditors.

During the period under review, the committee met with the external auditor without management being present. The 
external auditors also have full and unrestricted access to both the committee and other board members. 

Internal audit function

The executive directors are continuously reviewing the Company’s internal controls, and will report any material break 
down to the audit and risk committee. This review covers financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as a review 
of the risk management policies and procedures of the Company.

After thorough review of the Company’s internal control processes and the expansion of the Group’s operations, the Board 
identified the need to establish a formal internal audit process, which would require appointment of an external function 
due to the constrained resources to facilitate the function internally. In this regard the Board has appointed KPMG to 
replace Rain Inc, which were appointed in July 2011 as internal auditors on 30 May 2013. They have completed an initial 
risk assessment and profiling exercise and developed an integrated assurance plan for implementation in the new financial 
year. KPMG has not yet conducted any control verification work due to the restructuring process.

Internal financial control

Nothing has come to the attention of the committee or arose out of the internal control self-assessment process that causes 
the committee to believe that the current system of internal control of management is not effective.

Financial statements

The committee has reviewed the financial statements of the Company and is satisfied that they comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“iFrS”) and that areas of judgment were discussed to confirm accounting estimates. 

Going concern

The audit and risk committee has considered the Group and Company’s going concern status at year-end. The financial 
statements of three of the smaller inactive subsidiaries (Simat Management Company SA, ConvergeNet SA t/a ConvergeNet 
Projects and Navix Distribution), will be prepared on a break-up basis, however it was concluded that it will not affect the 
going concern status of the Group or Company.

The committee resolved and recommend acceptance of the conclusion to the Board. 

Expertise of the financial director

After review the committee has satisfied itself of the competence and expertise of the financial director, Danie 
Bisschoff.
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Duties assigned by the Board

The committee oversees the Company’s integrated annual report and the reporting process, including the 
system of internal financial control. The committee is satisfied that it has complied with its legal, regulatory and 
other responsibilities.

Risk Management

The Board has assigned oversight of the Company’s risk management function to the committee and the risk register, 
consisting of strategic, operational and IT risks is tabled bi-annually for discussion. The risk register also acts as a basis on 
which independent assurance activities will be developed.

The major risks identified by the Group are:

• Adequacy of working capital to fund future growth strategies

• Reliance on a number of key customers

• Compliance with new BEE codes

• Not sufficient annuity revenue streams

• Supply chain management (both suppliers and sub-contractors)

Information Technology Management

The Board delegated the oversight function in terms of information technology (IT) to the committee. These responsibilities 
include IT risk management, related controls, business continuity and data recovery. An IT policy was adopted by the 
committee during the reporting period.

Recommendation of the integrated report for approval by the Board

The committee recommended the integrated annual report for approval by the Board on 31 March 2014.

Nkosemntu Nika
chairman

31 March 2014

aUDit & riSK coMMittee rePort
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The remuneration committee operates under a formal mandate that has been approved by the Board and has conducted 
its affairs in compliance and discharged its responsibilities as stipulated in the committee terms of reference. 

Remuneration and nomination committee members

The committee consists of three non-executive directors, two of whom is independent. The members comprise Nika 
Nkosemntu (chairman), Dumisani Tabata and Charles Pettit. 

The chairman of the Board is not eligible for appointment as chairman of the committee, but will preside as chairman when 
the committee fulfils its oversight responsibilities on nomination matters and Board/director interactions. A policy detailing 
the procedures for appointments to the Board is in place. 

The Group head-office was drastically restructured as a result of the planned and published restructuring of the Group. 
To this end the remuneration of all directors came under the direct scrutiny of the Board and was dealt with at the Board 
meeting in order to control head-office costs. The remuneration and nomination committee therefore met during the Board 
meetings held 25 April 2013, 25 July 2013, 2 September 2013, 21 October 2013 and 21 November 2013.

Roles and responsibilities

The committee is primarily responsible for assisting the Board in carrying out the following duties:

- the Group’s remuneration structures and benefits in general; 

- the specific remuneration and terms of employment of executive directors and senior management in the Group; 

- the regular review of the composition of the Board; 

- the nomination of potential candidates for appointment to the Board as and when deemed necessary; and

- succession planning.

Remuneration philosophy

The Remuneration philosophy is as follows and is reviewed annually.

Salary Structure

All employees will be remunerated on a total cost-to-company (CTC) structure. 

Salary Benchmarking

To ensure autonomy, position benchmarks may be undertaken for remuneration packages, which allows for flexibility. In 
the event of a new appointment, a position specific benchmark report may be requested from a reputable survey company 
to ensure external equity.

The remuneration levels for ConvergeNet employees are to be revised on an annual basis, for approval by the Board. Due 
to the restructuring process salaries were not reviewed during the current year.

Benefits

The CTC package may include the following benefits which must be structured over 12 months:

- Basic salary;

- Pension/Provident fund contributions;

- Medical aid contributions (unless an employee is a dependent on a spouse/partner’s scheme); and

- Any other benefits as determined from time to time.

Annual Salary Increases

Increases for employees are not guaranteed. Annual increases will be considered by adopting a co-operative 
approach between employees and management and/or the remuneration and nomination committee and 
are dependent on the economic circumstances of ConvergeNet. Salaries are normally reviewed annually for 
implementation in March or September. Should an employee be granted an increase, the following factors may 
be considered in determining the increase: 

- Employee’s position against the market;

- Performance; and 

- Enhanced qualifications related to the job. 
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Interim increases may be granted in exceptional circumstances where there have been consequential changes in the 
employee’s job or position, e.g. change in market conditions, or promotion.

Short-term Incentive Scheme (“STIS”)

In order to encourage high standards of performance it is recognised that outstanding performance should be rewarded. 
The STIS applies to all executive directors of ConvergeNet Holdings Limited.

The framework for the STIS is as follows:

- The annual STIS is determined on the basis of financial and non-financial indicators of individual performance measured 
against agreed targets. These indicators and targets are outlined in the employees’ performance agreement;

- The performance reviews, which are conducted at least twice a year;

- The STIS payment will be made once a year after the last performance review for the applicable performance period; 

- Bonuses will only be payable once the remuneration committee has determined the affordability thereof;

- The amount received by the employee will be subject to current tax regulations;

- The STIS is received as an ex-gratia payment that does not influence pensionable earnings; and

- The performance scores are obtained using the Balanced Scorecard approach for each employee.

The Company also has a forfeiture share plan (“FSP”) which was approved by shareholders in general meeting on  
18 January 2008. The FSP is governed by, and is the responsibility of, the remuneration committee and is limited by an 
aggregated number of shares to be allocated at any one time as was approved by shareholders. This FSP is on-going and 
continues to be implemented throughout the Group.

Directors’ remuneration

In line with section 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, 2008, the remuneration of directors was approved by shareholders 
at the annual general meeting held on 25 January 2013. No increase in fees is proposed for the next financial year and the 
unchanged fees will be presented to shareholders at the 2014 annual general meeting.

Remuneration of the executive directors can be viewed on page 86 of the integrated report. 

Nkosemntu Nika

chairman

31 March 2014

reMUNeratioN &
NoMiNatioN coMMittee rePort

!
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SociaL & etHicS coMMittee rePort

The social and ethics committee operates under a formal mandate that has been approved by the Board and has conducted 
its affairs in compliance and discharged its responsibilities as stipulated in the committee terms of reference. 

Social and ethics committee members

The members of the committee comprised Tim Modise (chairman), Danie Bisschoff and Dumisani Tabata. The inaugural 
meeting was held on 10 June 2013 and all members attended the meeting. Following the resignation of Tim Modise on 1 
August 2013, he was replaced by Lerato Mangope and Dumisani Tabata took over the interim role of chairman.  On 21 
November 2013, Danie Bisschoff was replaced by Peter van Zyl who immediately assumed the role as chairman. Dumisani 
Tabata remains a member of the committee.

Roles and responsibilities

The committee is responsible for the following responsibilities and duties:

- to monitor the Company’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing 
codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to social and economic development, including the Company’s 
standing in terms of goals and purposes of the 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact Principles; 

- to promote good corporate citizenship;

- to care for the environment, health and public safety, including the impact of the Company’s activities and of its 
products or services;

- to monitor labour and employment;

- review any statements on ethical standards or requirements for the Company and the procedures or review system 
implemented to promote and enforce compliance;

- review significant cases of employee conflicts of interest, misconduct or fraud, or any other unethical activity by 
employees or the Company;

- where requested, make recommendations on any material potential conflict of interest or questionable situations;

- ensure that the code of conduct and ethics-related policies are drafted and implemented;

- reporting on and disclosing the Company’s ethics performance; 

- to draw matters within its mandate to the attention of the Board as the occasion requires; and

- to report, through one of its members, to the shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on the matters 
within its mandate.

Sustainability and corporate social awareness

The Group is fully committed to sustainability and corporate social awareness. We are cognisant of the fact that the growth 
and success of the Company is dependent on the ability to continue to deliver value to our stakeholders. Sustainability can 
only be achieved through paying greater attention to the world in which we operate. 

The Group remains committed to the maintenance of high moral, ethical and legal standards and expects all representatives 
of the Group to act in accordance with the highest standards of personal and professional integrity in all aspects of their 
activities and to comply with all applicable laws, regulations and the Group’s policies. 

The Group operates in transparent and co-operative manner with all employees who are encouraged to raise any issues 
with the executive directors as well as at subsidiary level. In accordance with the Group’s sustainability objectives, all 
Group companies are actively involved in reducing and monitoring the energy consumption of their customers, which is 
expected to have a sustainable positive impact on the environment, its customers and the Group. In the ensuing year, the 
Group will also be focusing on expanding its energy efficient power solutions and products to new industries. The Group 
continuously explores ways in which to reduce paper, energy and water usage. 

Peter van Zyl
Chairman
31 March 2014



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2013 23

StateMeNt oF
DirectorS' reSPoNSiBiLitY
The directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation, 
integrity and fair presentation of the Group and Company financial statements of ConvergeNet Holdings 
Limited. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

The directors consider that having applied IFRS in preparing the Group and Company financial statements 
they have selected the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgments and estimates, and that all IFRS statements that they consider to be applicable have 
been followed.

The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the Group and Company financial statements fairly
presents the results of operations for the year and the financial position of the Group at year end. The directors 
also prepared the other information included in the integrated report and are responsible for both its accuracy 
and its consistency with the financial statements. 

In addition, the directors are responsible for the Company’s system of internal financial control. This is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, 
verify and maintain accountability of the assets, and to prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to 
the attention of the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and 
systems has occurred during the year under review. 

The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared on the going-concern basis, since the directors have 
every reason to believe that the Group and Company have adequate resources in place to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These Group and Company financial statements 
support the viability of the Company and the Group.

The Group and Company financial statements have been audited by the independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc., in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, and which was given unrestricted 
access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors 
and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their 
audit are valid and appropriate. 

Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements which appear on pages 34 to 102 were produced by Marinda van Heerden CA(SA) and Charl 
de Villiers CA(SA) under the supervision of the financial officer, Peter van Zyl and approved by the board of directors on  
31 March 2014 and are signed on their behalf by:

 DD tabata  P van Zyl 
 Non-Executive Chairman  Chief Financial Officer
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DecLaratioN BY coMPaNY SecretarY

In terms of section 88 (e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (No. 71 of 2008) (“the Act”), we certify that, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, the company has filed the required returns and notices in terms of the Act with the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) for the financial year ended 31 August 2013, all such returns as are required of a 
public company in terms of the aforesaid Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Warwick van Breda 
Company Secretary 
31 March 2014
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SHareHoLDerS' DiarY

Dates of importance to shareholders

Financial year-end 31 August
Publication of reviewed condensed consolidated annual financial statements for the year 13 December 2013
Integrated Annual Report posted to shareholders 31 March 2014
Annual General Meeting 12 May 2014
Publication of interim results May 2014
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DirectorS' rePort

to the Members of convergeNet Holdings Limited

The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year 
ended 31 August 2013. These financial statements have been audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

Nature of business

ConvergeNet Holdings Limited (“convergeNet””) is the holding company for the interests of the ConvergeNet Group 
which provides information, communication and telecommunication (“ict”) infrastructure products and solutions as well as 
ancillary support and managed services.

Financial results

During the year revenue from continuing operations increased by 18.7% from R238.5 million to R283.0 million, whilst the 
gross profit margin increased from 19.7% to 22.7% compared to the corresponding period, primarily as a result of a change 
in the business mix. 

Operating expenditure from continuing operations has increased from R135.0 million to R158.2 million. Included in operating 
expenditure are impairments of goodwill and other financial asset to the amount of R58.7 million (Restated 2012: R30.2 
million) which resulted primarily due to the restructuring of the Group and sale of subsidiaries. As a result of the increase 
in operating expenses, the Group has made an operating loss from continuing operations of R81.3 million compared to an 
operating loss of R49.1 million for the corresponding restated period.

The Group loss from continuing operations for the year ended 31 August 2013 was R87.6 million (Restated 2012: R50.4 
million) and attributable loss from continuing operations was R83.9 million (Restated 2012: R49.5 million) resulting in a 
basic loss per share of 9.44 cents (Restated 2012: 5.57 cents) and a headline loss of 3.01 cents per share (Restated 2012: 
5.66 cents).

As a result of the losses made the net tangible asset value per share decreased by 28.2% to 18.7 cents per share 
(Restated 2012: 26.0 cents per share).

corporate activities during the year

Numerous corporate transactions were initiated and concluded during the year under review.  This included the acquisition 
of the remaining minority interest in Sizwe Africa IT Group (Pty) Ltd and Chrystalpine Investments 9 (Pty) Ltd and the 
disposals of Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited, X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited, Telesto 
Communication Solutions Proprietary Limited and SIMAT Group as further detailed in note 13 of the consolidated annual 
financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Group further resolved during August 2013 to close the Group head offices and rationalise the 
Group’s capital structure which resulted in a share consolidation on a 1-for-10 basis as part of a cost-saving and strategic 
realignment strategy.
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issue and repurchase of shares

On 3 December 2012, the Group acquired 71,478,594 of its own shares for a total consideration of R21.2 
million through one of its subsidiaries. These shares were held as treasury shares. On 12 December 2012, 
4,000,000 of the treasury shares were re-issued for cash to the amount of R0.8 million. 

On 25 January 2013 ConvergeNet’s shareholders approved the increase in authorised share capital from 1.0 
billion ordinary shares of 0.01 cents each to 2.0 billion no par value shares.

On 14 March 2013 a further 27.77 million shares were re-issued for cash to the amount of R 5.0 million (18 
cents per share). On 14 May 2013 a further 50.35 million shares were re-issued to the value of R16.1 million 
(32 cents per share) as part settlement of the acquisition price of the remaining 25% interest in Sizwe Africa 
IT Group Proprietary Limited (refer to note 36 of the annual financial statements) . On 4 July 2013 9.6 million 
treasury shares were re-issued for cash to the amount of R1.2 million (13 cents per share). 

The above transactions were entered into to fund ongoing operations and acquisitions.

interest in subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are provided in note 5 to the Group’s annual financial statements.

Director changes

Mr NG Nika was appointed on 23 November 2012 as an independent non-executive director. Mr S Swana and T Modise 
resigned as Chief Executive Officer (“ceo”) and executive director respectively on 1 August 2013 and Mr DF Bisschoff, 
the Group Financial Director was appointed as interim CEO until 31 December 2013. Subsequent to the reporting period 
Mr P van Zyl was appointed on 21 November 2013 as an independent non-executive director and Chief Financial Officer 
with effect from 1 January 2014. The Company's request for further dispensation of the appointment of a permanent CEO, 
which initially expired on 31 December 2013, was granted for a second time and will remain in effect until April 2014.

Directors’ interests and share dealings

The directors’ interests, whether directly or indirectly, in ConvergeNet shares (excluding shares held in treasury), as at  
31 August 2013 are as follows: 

Current directors:

Beneficial
Director Direct indirect total Shares total %
DD Tabata - 10 826 575 10 826 575 1.12%
DF Bisschoff# 4 850 000 - 4 850 000 0.50%
L Mangope - - - -
H van Dyk* 108 900 50 000 158 900 0.02%
CE Pettit - - - -
NG Nika - - - -
total 4 958 900 10 876 575 15 835 475 1.63%

* A van Dyk, an associate of H van Dyk, owns 50% of the ConvergeNet shares which are indirectly held by TitanTrade, 
totalling 50 000 ConvergeNet shares.H van Dyk resigned as director with effect from 12 December 2013.
#  Resigned 31 December 2013.

DirectorS' rePort
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The has been no change in directors’ interests or any share dealings by directors subsequent to 31 August 2013.

The directors’ interests in ConvergeNet shares (excluding shares held in treasury), as at 31 August 2012 were as follows: 

Beneficial
Director Direct indirect total Shares total %
DD Tabata* - 86 019 724 86 019 724 9.33%
S Swana 634 501 3 839 638 340 0.07%
DF Bisschoff 4 850 000 - 4 850 000 0.52%
L Mangope** - - - -
H van Dyk - 19 786 813 19 786 813 2.15%
CE Pettit* - - - -
TM Modise - 11 125 771 11 125 771 1.21%
total 5 484 501 116 936 147 122 420 648 13.28%

* non-executive

** independent non-executive

DirectorS' rePort
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Information relating to the directors’ dealings in securities for the period from 1 September 2012 to 31 August 2013 is 
detailed as follows:

Director Nature of trade trade date trade price
No. of  

shares traded
Sandile Swana* Purchase 09/07/2012 35 cents 243 428
Hanno van Dyk# Purchase 10/07/2012 35 cents 50 000

Change in interest (sale of shares 
in a shareholder of ConvergeNet)

26/11/2012 - 1 012 008

Change in interest (purchase 
of shares in a shareholder of 
ConvergeNet)

26/04/2013 - 2 024 008

Purchase 08/05/2013 18 cents 50 000
Purchase 09/05/2013 18 cents 25 000
Change in interest (purchase 
of shares in a shareholder of 
ConvergeNet)

04/06/2013 - 506 002

Tim Modise* Change in interest (sale of shares 
in a shareholder of ConvergeNet)

26/11/2012 - 2 024 008

Change in interest (sale of shares 
in a shareholder of ConvergeNet)

26/04/2013 - 4 048 017

Change in interest (sale of shares 
in a shareholder of ConvergeNet)

04/06/2013 - 1 012 004

* Resigned as a director with effect from 1 August 2013
# Resigned as a director with effect from 12 December 2013

Shareholder spread

The number of public and non-public shareholders at 31 August 2013 were analysed as follows:

 
No. of 

Shareholders
No. of  

Shares Held
Shares  
held %

Directors of the Company 3                  5,593,401 0.58%
Director of Subsidiaries 4                  2,669,309 0.27%
Associate of Directors 1                    100,000 0.01%
Treasury shares 2                  4,287,756 0.44%
Major Shareholders (holding 5% or more) 4              674,684,573 69.49%

Total Non-public Shareholders 13              601,161,539 61.92%
Total Public Shareholders 688 369,773,586 38.08%
total 701 970,935,125 100.00%

DirectorS' rePort
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Major shareholders of the Company at 31 August 2013 were:

Shareholders holding more than 5% No. of Shares Held

% interest  
in the issued  

Share capital
Yellow Star Group Holdings Proprietary Limited 354,013,036 36.46%
Green Tree Investments 306 Proprietary Limited 132,338,037 13.63%
Citygate Securities Limited 102,160,000 10.52%
Absa Trading and Investment 86,173,500 8.88%

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of executive and non-executive directors are determined by the Group’s remuneration committee.

Further information relating to the earnings of directors is provided in note 30 to the Group annual financial statements.

Forfeitable share plan

The Company has a Forfeitable Share Plan (“FSP”) which was also approved by shareholders at the general meeting held 
on 18 January 2008. The FSP is governed by, and is the responsibility of, the remuneration committee. The FSP is limited 
by an aggregated number of shares to be allocated at any one time as approved by shareholders. This FSP is on-going 
and continues to be implemented throughout the Group. 

During the year, no shares (Restated 2012: 6 170 000) were granted and no shares (Restated 2012: 400 000) were 
forfeited in terms of the rules of the FSP. 

company secretary

The company secretary, represented by Arcay Client Support Proprietary Limited, was replaced by Juba Statutory Services 
Proprietary Limited and subsequent to year-end and as a result of the restructuring of the Group, Juba Statutory Services 
Proprietary Limited was replaced by Lavender Sky, represented by Warwick van Breda on 1 December 2013.

Warwick van Breda is an attorney and was awarded Legum Baccalaureus (LLB) and Legum Magister (LLM) degrees from 
the University of Stellenbosch. He is a member in good standing of the Institute of Directors of South Africa.  His previous 
roles include various legal and company secretarial positions within private and JSE-listed entities. 

auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (“PwC”) acted as Group auditors from 2 January 2013, replacing Advoca Inc. Mr D Storm 
acted as designated auditor. 

The audit and risk committee is satisfied with the independence of the new auditors of the Group and will continue to 
assess their independence during the next financial year.

Share capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August 2013 is set out in note 14 of the annual financial 
statements. As at 31 August 2013, there were 970 935 125 issued ordinary shares and 1 029 064 875 unissued ordinary 
shares. 

DirectorS' rePort
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Dividend

The declaration of cash dividends will continue to be considered by the board in conjunction with an evaluation of current 
and future funding requirements and will be adjusted to levels considered appropriate at the time of declaration. The 
directors have decided not to declare a dividend for the year under review (2012: nil).

Litigation

The directors are not aware of any litigation matters that warrant disclosure in this report or the annual financial statements 
of the Group.

Special resolutions

Other than the general authority to repurchase shares, which resolution was passed at the previous annual general 
meeting, no special resolutions for the Company were approved during the year under review.

corporate governance

The directors subscribe to the values of corporate governance as embodied in the King III Report on Corporate Governance. 
Details of the Group’s compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as contained in the King III Report 
are contained in the sustainability and corporate governance report. 

Subsequent events after the balance sheet date  

Subsequent to the reporting date, all of the transaction agreements related to the sale of Sizwe, Simat Group and Telesto 
became unconditional.   

 Lavender Sky, represented by Mr Warwick van Breda was appointed as company secretary to ConvergeNet and its 
subsidiaries with effect from 1 December 2013, prior to which date the role was fulfilled by Juba Statutory Services 
Proprietary Limited.      

Mr DF Bisschoff’s appointment as interim CEO terminated on 31 December 2013. Subsequent to the reporting period Mr 
P van Zyl was appointed on 21 November 2013 as an independent non-executive director and replaced Mr. Bisschoff as 
Chief Financial Officer from 1 January 2014.    

The interest bearing loan from Bell Tower Financial disclosed in note 15 was settled on behalf of ConvergeNet by AfrAsia 
Special Opportunities Fund on 21 November 2013 (the “Advance Date”).  The loan is repayable within 6 months of the 
Advance Date and carries interest at prime plus 10%. The loan is secured by a pledge of 100% of the issued ordinary 
shares of Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a Contract Kitting, 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Structured Connectivity 
Solutions Proprietary Limited and all of the proceeds received by the Group from the disposal of Sizwe Africa IT Group 
Proprietary Limited (refer note 13)..  

The directors of the company are not aware of any other material facts or circumstances not already disclosed above that 
require disclosure in this report.    

Future prospects

Following full implementation of the Group restructuring, management’s key mandate during the next financial year will be 
to return ConvergeNet to profitability in a cost-controlled and systematically sound manner.  

Our core operating entities are well poised to take advantage of a strengthened capital base to grow their respective 
businesses organically.  A rationalised Group will allow us to attract new investment where it is required to support an 
expansion of these companies, as well as to externally fund the Group’s acquisition strategy in the new financial year, 
should this be required.

Whilst we foresee domestic demand for ICT infrastructure products and services remaining strong, the fourth generation 
of cellular wireless standards (4G) and proliferation of mobile internet devices in South Africa and Africa as a whole, will 
create further opportunities for ConvergeNet to install similar cabling, base station solutions and related power supply 
products in SADC countries for our South African multi-national clients.

DirectorS' rePort
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Approval of the annual financial statements and going concern statement

The annual financial statements set out in this report have been prepared in accordance with statements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited and in the manner required by the 
South African Companies Act, 2008, and are based on appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied, which are 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgment and estimates.

The annual financial statements were compiled by Marinda van Heerden CA (SA) and Charl de Villiers CA (SA) under 
the supervision of Mr P van Zyl, the current chief financial officer. The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements and related financial information that fairly present the state of affairs and 
the results of the Company and the Group. To enable the board to meet these responsibilities, systems of internal control 
and accounting and information systems have been implemented aimed at providing reasonable assurance that risk of 
error, fraud or loss is reduced.

Particulars relating to the role and function of the audit and risk committee are set out in the corporate governance report 
on page 12. The directors are responsible for the implementation and oversight of the internal audit function of the Group.  
During the year under review, no review of Group controls were performed, however, based on the information given by 
management, the directors are of the opinion that the internal accounting controls are adequate, and that the financial 
records may be relied upon for the preparation of the financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets and 
liabilities. It is the opinion of the directors that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the 
Company and of the Group as at 31 August 2013.

To the best of its knowledge and belief, based on the above and after making inquiries, the board of directors confirms that 
it has every reason to believe that the Company and the Group have adequate resources in place to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the board adopted the going concern basis in preparing the annual 
financial statements.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2013 which appear on pages 34 - 102 were approved by the 
board on 31 March 2014 and are signed on its behalf.

DD Tabata
Independent non-executive chairman
31 March 2014

DirectorS' rePort
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rePort oF tHe iNDePeNDeNt aUDitorS

iNDePeNDeNt aUDitor’S rePort to tHe SHareHoLDerS oF coNVerGeNet HoLDiNGS LiMiteD

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of ConvergeNet Holdings Limited set out 
on pages 34 to 102, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 August 2013, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of ConvergNet Holdings Limited as at 31 August 2013, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2013, we have read 
the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying 
whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not 
identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 
However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: D. Storm 

Registered Auditor 

Sunninghill

31 March 2014



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201334

StateMeNt oF FiNaNciaL PoSitioN
  Group  company 
   2013   Restated   Restated  2013   2012
R'000   Notes   2012 2011

aSSetS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment  2  4 342   49 281   30 669   8   22 
Goodwill  3  34 822   171 199   184 816   -   - 
Intangible assets  4 2 910   13 100   19 222   -  - 
Investments in subsidiaries  5 -  -  -  134 941   365 363 
Investments in associates  6  -  6 001   36 155   -  - 
Loans to subsidiaries, associates 
and other related parties   7   -  -  -  - 12 254 
Other financial assets 8  -  500   42 385   -  500 
Deferred taxation  9  9 777   26 326   26 002   -  - 

  51 851  266 407   339 249   134 949   378 139 

current assets 
Inventories  10  58 688   100 172   85 981   -  - 
Loans to subsidiaries, associates 
and other related parties  7  -  2 273   332   11 758  51 601 
Other financial assets 8  2 331  7 336   6 168   2 200   4 583 
Current tax receivable   883  1 394  3 410   -   -
Trade and other receivables  11  62 644  253 351   252 566   101   519 
Cash and cash equivalents  12  14 689   66 998   66 961   839   3 130 

  139 235  431 524   415 418   14 898   59 833 

Non-current assets held for sale  13  262 058   43 499   -   122 831   43 499 

  401 293  475 023   415 418   137 729   103 332 

totaL aSSetS   453 144  741 430   754 667   272 678   481 471 

eQUitY aND LiaBiLitieS 
total equity
Shareholders' equity  14  219 113  424 145   481 541   242 582   468 552 
Non-controlling interest   (8 605)  59 043   63 945   -   -

  210 508   483 188   545 486   242 582   468 552 

LiaBiLitieS 
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and 
other financial liabilities  15  -  16 730   21 124   -   - 
Finance lease obligation  16  -  6 975   1 039   -   - 
Operating lease liability  28  1 251   1 806   1 738   -   - 
Deferred taxation  9  106   5 309   6 165   -   3 163 

  1 357  30 820   30 066   -  3 163 

current liabilities
Loans from subsidiaries, associates  
and other related parties  7  -   -  -  -   5 
Interest bearing loans 
and other financial liabilities  15  29 241   9 638   1 652   27 206   - 
Current tax payable   490  6 119   4 794   490   - 
Finance lease obligation  16  126   6 968   841   -  - 
Provisions  17  1 046   976   976   -  - 
Deferred Income   -   1 351  908 - -
Trade and other payables  18 56 062  192 723  169 504   2 400   606 
Bank overdraft  12  15 066   502   440   -  - 

  102 031  218 277   179 115   30 096   611 
Liabilities of disposal group held for sale  13  139 248  9 145   -  -  9 145 

  241 279  227 422   179 115   30 096   9 756 

Total Liabilities   242 636  258 242   209 181   30 096   12 919 

totaL eQUitY aND LiaBiLitieS   453 144  741 430   754 667   272 678   481 471 

Prior years reported periods have been restated as disclosed in note 38.
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StateMeNt oF coMPreHeNSiVe iNcoMe
  Group  company 
   Restated
R'000   Notes   2013   2012   2013  2012 

continuing operations 
Revenue   19   283 007  251 657  996   930 
Cost of sales    (218 650)  (191 525)  -   - 

Gross profit   64 357  60 132   996   930 
Other income    12 495   19 747   641   27 771 
Operating expenses    (158 200)  (128 974)  (252 947)  (32 161)

Impairment of goodwill and other financial assets  22   (58 667)  (30 151)  (234 006)  (22 284)
Fair value adjustments    5 646   (2 808)  5 646   (2 808)
Other operating expenses    (105 179)  (96 015)  (24 587)  (7 069)

operating loss   20   (81 348)  (49 095)  (251 310)  (3 460)
Investment income   21   520   1 077   7 392   3 457 
Share of profit of associates    -   2 366  - -
Finance costs   23   (815)  (913)  (614)  - 
Loss before taxation    (81 643)  (46 565)  (244 532)  (3)
Taxation   24   (5 980)  (3 834)  2 674  (9 438)

Loss for the year from continuing operations    (87 623)  (50 399)  (241 858)  (9 441)

Discontinued operations 
Net (loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations    (138 644) 140   -   - 

Loss for the year    (226 267)  (50 259)  (241 858)  (9 441)

Other comprehensive income: 
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations*   388   (388)  -   - 
Gains on revaluation of land and buildings    99   -   -   - 

other comprehensive loss for the year net of tax    487   (388)  -   - 

total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year   (225 780)  (50 647)  (241 858)  (9 441)

Loss for the year attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent    (209 204)  (45 547)  (241 858)  (9 441)
Non-controlling interests    (17 063)  (4 712)  -   - 

   (226 267)  (50 259) (241 858)  (9 441)

Loss for the year from continuing operations attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent    (83 974)  (49 539)  (241 858)  (9 441)
Non-controlling interests    (3 649)  (860)  -   - 

   (87 623)  (50 399)  (241 858)  (9 441)

Loss for the year from discontinued operations attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent    (125 230)  3 992   -   - 
Non-controlling interests    (13 414)  (3 852)  -   - 

   (138 644) 140  -   - 

total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent    (208 949)  (45 745)  (241 858)  (9 441)
Non-controlling interests    (16 831)  (4 902)  -   - 

   (225 780)  (50 647)  (241 858)  (9 441)

* Recyclable  
earnings per share 
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)
From continuing operations   (9.43)  (5.57)
From discontinued operations    (14.08)  0.45
Basic loss for the year    (23.51)  (5.12) 

The impact of the potential conversion of FSP shares to  
ordinary shares is anti-dilutive. As a result, the basic and  
diluted loss per share is equal and headline and diluted  
headline loss per share is equal.

Headline and diluted headline loss per share (cents)
From continuing operations    (3.01)  (5.66)
From discontinued operations    (5.94)  0.45 
Headline loss for the year    (8.95)  (5.21)

Prior years reported periods have been restated as disclosed in note 38.
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R'000   Share   Share   Treasury   Share   Foreign   Revaluation   Retained   Transactions   Total to   Non-   Total 
 capital capital and shares based currency reserve earnings with non- attributable controlling  equity
  share premium  payment translation   controlling equity interests of
    reserve reserve   shareholders holders the parent

Group 

Balance at 01 September 2011 as reported   -   435 532   (21 256)  7 380   -   137   120 243   (59 798)  482 238   64 156   546 394 

Prior year error (refer to note 38)   -     -     -     -     -     -     (697)  -     (697)  (211)  (908)

Balance at 01 September 2011 as restated   -     435 532   (21 256)  7 380   -     137   119 546   (59 798)  481 541   63 945   545 486 

Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (45 547)  -     (45 547)  (4 712)  (50 259)
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations  -     -     -     -     (200)  -      -     (200)  (188)  (388)
Equity settled share based payments   -     -     -     2 180   -     -     -     -     2 180   -     2 180 
Shares vested in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     8 260   (8 260)  -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     1 419   -     -     -     -     -     -     1 419   -     1 419 
Shares issued in terms of forfeitable share plan not yet vested   -     -     (1 350)  -     -     -     -     -     (1 350)  -     (1 350)
Shares forfeited in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     (144)  -     -     -     -     -     (144)  -     (144)
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -      -     (13 516)  -     (13 516)  -     (13 516)
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     (238)  (238)  (2)  (240)

Balance at 31 august 2012   -     436 951   (14 490)  1 300   (200)  137   60 483   (60 036)  424 145   59 043   483 188 
Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (209 204)  -     (209 204)  (17 063)  (226 267)
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations  -     -     -     -     200    -     -     200   188   388 
Revaluation   -     -     -     -     -     55   -     -     55   44   99 
Conversion of par value shares to no par value shares   436 951   (436 951)  -     -     -     -     -      -     -     -   
Shares issued in terms of transaction with non-controlling shareholders   15 888     -         15 888   -     15 888 
Equity  settled share based payments   -     -     -     476   -     -     -      476   -     476 
Shares vested in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     876   (876)  -     -     -      -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Own shares acquired by subsidiaries, held as treasury shares   -     -     (21 211)  -     -     -     -     -     (21 211)  -     (21 211)
Own shares acquired by subsidiaries, held as treasury shares re-issued     29 521   -     -     -     (6 382)  -     23 139   -     23 139 
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     (14 375)  (14 375)  (50 817)  (65 192)
Balance at 31 august 2013   452 839   -     (5 304)  900   -     192   (155 103)  (74 411)  219 113   (8 605)  210 508 
Notes   14  14         

company             

Balance at 01 September 2011   -     435 532   -     -     -     -     54 861   -     490 393   -     490 393 
Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (9 441)  -     (9 441)  -     (9 441)
Comprehensive loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     1 419   -     -     -     -     -     -     1 419   -     1 419 
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -     -     -     (13 819)  -     (13 819)  -     (13 819)

Balance at 31 august 2012   -     436 951   -     -     -     -     31 601   -     468 552   -     468 552 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (241 858)  -     (241 858)  -     (241 858)
Conversion of par value shares to no par value shares   436 951   (436 951)  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   15 888   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     15 888   -     15 888 
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Balance at 31 august 2013   452 839   -     -     -     -     -     (210 257)  -     242 582   -     242 582 
Notes   14   14          
Prior years reported periods have been restated as disclosed in note 38.
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R'000   Share   Share   Treasury   Share   Foreign   Revaluation   Retained   Transactions   Total to   Non-   Total 
 capital capital and shares based currency reserve earnings with non- attributable controlling  equity
  share premium  payment translation   controlling equity interests of
    reserve reserve   shareholders holders the parent

Group 

Balance at 01 September 2011 as reported   -   435 532   (21 256)  7 380   -   137   120 243   (59 798)  482 238   64 156   546 394 

Prior year error (refer to note 38)   -     -     -     -     -     -     (697)  -     (697)  (211)  (908)

Balance at 01 September 2011 as restated   -     435 532   (21 256)  7 380   -     137   119 546   (59 798)  481 541   63 945   545 486 

Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (45 547)  -     (45 547)  (4 712)  (50 259)
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations  -     -     -     -     (200)  -      -     (200)  (188)  (388)
Equity settled share based payments   -     -     -     2 180   -     -     -     -     2 180   -     2 180 
Shares vested in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     8 260   (8 260)  -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     1 419   -     -     -     -     -     -     1 419   -     1 419 
Shares issued in terms of forfeitable share plan not yet vested   -     -     (1 350)  -     -     -     -     -     (1 350)  -     (1 350)
Shares forfeited in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     (144)  -     -     -     -     -     (144)  -     (144)
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -      -     (13 516)  -     (13 516)  -     (13 516)
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     (238)  (238)  (2)  (240)

Balance at 31 august 2012   -     436 951   (14 490)  1 300   (200)  137   60 483   (60 036)  424 145   59 043   483 188 
Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (209 204)  -     (209 204)  (17 063)  (226 267)
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations  -     -     -     -     200    -     -     200   188   388 
Revaluation   -     -     -     -     -     55   -     -     55   44   99 
Conversion of par value shares to no par value shares   436 951   (436 951)  -     -     -     -     -      -     -     -   
Shares issued in terms of transaction with non-controlling shareholders   15 888     -         15 888   -     15 888 
Equity  settled share based payments   -     -     -     476   -     -     -      476   -     476 
Shares vested in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     876   (876)  -     -     -      -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Own shares acquired by subsidiaries, held as treasury shares   -     -     (21 211)  -     -     -     -     -     (21 211)  -     (21 211)
Own shares acquired by subsidiaries, held as treasury shares re-issued     29 521   -     -     -     (6 382)  -     23 139   -     23 139 
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     (14 375)  (14 375)  (50 817)  (65 192)
Balance at 31 august 2013   452 839   -     (5 304)  900   -     192   (155 103)  (74 411)  219 113   (8 605)  210 508 
Notes   14  14         

company             

Balance at 01 September 2011   -     435 532   -     -     -     -     54 861   -     490 393   -     490 393 
Loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (9 441)  -     (9 441)  -     (9 441)
Comprehensive loss for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   -     1 419   -     -     -     -     -     -     1 419   -     1 419 
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -     -     -     (13 819)  -     (13 819)  -     (13 819)

Balance at 31 august 2012   -     436 951   -     -     -     -     31 601   -     468 552   -     468 552 
Total comprehensive income for the year   -     -     -     -     -     -     (241 858)  -     (241 858)  -     (241 858)
Conversion of par value shares to no par value shares   436 951   (436 951)  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Issue of treasury shares in terms of forfeitable share plan   15 888   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     15 888   -     15 888 
Dividends paid   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Balance at 31 august 2013   452 839   -     -     -     -     -     (210 257)  -     242 582   -     242 582 
Notes   14   14          
Prior years reported periods have been restated as disclosed in note 38.
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StateMeNt oF caSH FLoWS

 Group   Company
   Restated 
R'000   Notes   2013   2012   2013   2012 

Operating activities 
Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations   26   (42 423)  1 405  (3 655)  (4 781)
Dividends received    -   -   7 000   2 000 
Investment income   21   520   793   78   1 457 
Finance costs    (233)  (834)  (32)  - 
Tax paid    (840)  1 857   -   - 
From discontinued operations    2 418   (9 769) - -

Net cash (utilised in)/from operating activities    (40 558)  (6 548)  3 391   (1 324)

Investing activities 
Additions to property and equipment   2   (854)  (2 379)  (10)  - 
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment   2  57   32   -   - 
Proceeds on disposal of other financial assets   236   14 441   -   15 992 
Proceeds on disposal of associates    -   936   -  - 
Proceeds on disposal of investment    18 789   11 812   18 789   11 812 
Other loans advanced    -   (3 651)  (15 057)  (24 514)
Transaction with non-controlling shareholders    -   -   (21 976)  - 
By discontinued operations    (19 207)  (16 978)  -   - 

Net cash (utilised in)/from investing activities    (979)  4 213   (18 254)  3 290 

Financing activities 
Proceeds from loans    12 572   18  12 572   - 
Repayment of loans    -   (326)   -   (495)
Transaction with non-controlling shareholders    (21 920)  (240)  -   - 
Repayment of interest bearing loans and 
other financial liabilities    -   117   -   - 
Finance leases    (142)  (128)  -   - 
Proceeds on share issue    7 015   -   -   1 419 
Dividends paid   27   -   (11 506)  -   (13 809)
By discontinued operations    (8 758)  14 766 - -

Net cash (utilised in)/from financing activities    (11 233)  2 701   12 572   (12 885)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    52 770  366   (2 291)  (10 919)
Cash at the beginning of the year    66 496   66 521   3 130   14 049 
Exchange losses    -   (391)  -   - 
Cash balances transferred to held for sale    (14 103)  -   -   - 

Total cash at end of the year   12   (377)  66 496   839   3 130

Prior years reported periods have been restated as disclosed in note 38.
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accounting Policies for the year ended 31 august 2013

The principal accounting policies of the Group and the Company are set out below. The consolidated financial 
statements of the Company comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the Company’s interest in 
associates.

1. Statement of compliance

1.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
comply with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
the JSE Listings Requirements and the requirements of the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 
2008.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation 
of land and buildings and certain financial instruments that have been measured at fair value and incorporate the 
principal accounting policies set out below. Amounts are presented in South African Rands. 

The accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the previous period, except for the changes set out 
below, new and revised standards and interpretations.

Going concern

The projections and plans indicate that the Group will fund its short term working capital and other obligations as 
discussed in note 32 through a combination of cash generation,  future organic and inorganic growth strategies 
as well as from the proceeds of the sale of various entities as disclosed in note 13.

The directors have considered the accuracy of projections and forecasts in comparison to the results up to the 
signing date, and also reconsidered the reasonableness of assumptions used in projections and the possible 
implications should certain assumptions not be accurate. The directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the next 12 months 
and are confident that the Group and Company will have the resources to continue to pay its liabilities as and 
when they become due. The directors have also considered and confirmed the Group's ability to acquire further 
alternative funding should the need arise.

The directors confirm the Group and Company compliance for the year and continued compliance with the 
regulations as per the Companies Act which require continued assessment of liquidity and solvency. 

Taking into consideration the above, the directors believe that the use of the going concern assumption as the 
basis in preparing the annual financial statements is appropriate. 

adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations

During the current financial year the Group has adopted all the new, revised or amended accounting standards 
and interpretations as issued by the IASB, that are relevant to its operations, which were effective for the Group 
from 1 September 2012.

The adoption of the new and revised accounting standards and interpretations which had no material impact on 
the results of the Group, are as follows:

amendments to iaS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, on presentation of items of oci

The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The main change resulting 
from these amendments is a requirement for entities to Group items presented in other comprehensive income 
(OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification 
adjustments). The amendments do not address which items are presented in OCI.

amendment to iaS 12,’income taxes’ on deferred tax

Currently IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’, requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending on 
whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It can be difficult and 
subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is measured using the 
fair value model in IAS 40 Investment Property. Hence this amendment introduces an exception to the existing 
principle for the measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property measured at 
fair value. As a result of the amendments, SIC 21, ‘Income taxes- recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets’, 
would no longer apply to investment properties carried at fair value. The amendments also incorporate into IAS 
12 the remaining guidance previously contained in SIC 21, which is accordingly withdrawn.
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accounting standards, interpretations and amendments issued not yet effective and not early adopted

• Amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Asset and Liability offsetting

• IAS 19 - “Employee benefits"

• IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (2010)

• Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (2011)

• IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements

• IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements

• IFRS 12 – Disclosures of interests in other entities

• IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement

• IAS 27 (revised 2011) – Separate financial statements

• IAS 28 (revised 2011) – Associates and joint ventures

• Amendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation

• Amendment to the transition requirements in IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11, ‘Joint 
Arrangements’, and IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’

• Amendments to IFRS 10, consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 for investment entities

• Annual Improvement to IFRS’s, issued May 2012:

– Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’

– Amendment to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’

– Amendment to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’

– Amendment to IAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’

The impact of these standards are currently being assessed, however based on the evaluation, management 
does not expect these standards, amendments and interpretations to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
results and disclosures.

1.2 Critical accounting estimates and judgement

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key areas of estimation included in the 
Group’s annual financial statements, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

• Estimates made in determining the recoverable amount of acquired intangible assets included in the 
statement of financial position. The Group continually assesses the carrying value of its intangible assets 
recognised as part of historical acquisitions. This requires an estimation of the value in use, based on 
estimated future cash flows and discount rates of the asset or cash-generating units to which these assets 
belong (refer note 1.6) ;

• Estimates in determining the recoverable amount of goodwill included in the statement of financial 
position. The Group continually assesses the carrying value of its goodwill recognised as part of historical 
acquisitions, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1.5. This requires an estimation of 
the value in use, based on estimated future cash flows and discount rates of the asset or cash-generating 
units to which the goodwill is allocated to (refer note 3);



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2013 41

1.2 Critical accounting estimates and judgement (continued)

• Estimates in determining the probability of future taxable income thereby justifying the recognition of 
deferred tax assets included in the statement of financial position. The Group is subject to income taxes 
in numerous jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining the provision of income taxes;

• Estimates in determining the recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries included in the statement 
of financial position of the Company. The investments in subsidiaries are evaluated annually for impairment 
by comparing the carrying value of the investment to the recoverable amount which is the higher of value 
in use or fair value less costs to sell. The value in use is based on estimated future cash flows and 
estimated discount rates (refer note 5);

• Estimates regarding the fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments. The fair value 
of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. Details of the assumptions made are provided in note 32;

• Estimates made in determining the level of provision required for obsolete inventory in note 10; 
and

• The Group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
profit or loss, the company makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset. 

1.3 Business combinations and basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial results of the Company and all entities which are 
controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power to govern the decision making and 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date 
of disposal.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies in line with those of the Company. 

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately 
from the Company’s interest therein within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests 
are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance.

changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change in control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between 
fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in 
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Company ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at 
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is 
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

accoUNtiNG PoLicieS
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1.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or 
construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or 
service it when relevant to major refurbishment of a component resulting in derecognition of existing component 
and recognition of refurbishment costs.

If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses except for land and buildings which are carried at revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of 
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss for each component of an asset on a straight-line basis over its expected 
useful lives to estimated residual values. Land is not depreciated. The current estimated useful lives for the 
current and comparative periods are as follows:

• Buildings  50 years

• Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years

• Motor vehicles 5 years

• Office equipment  3 to 10 years

• IT equipment 3 years

• Leasehold improvements 2 to 5 years

The residual value, the estimated useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period.

Each component of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total 
cost of the item shall be depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit 
or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the item.

Land and buildings are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from the fair value at the end of the reporting period. The fair value is determined from market based 
evidence by appraisal and is undertaken by professional qualified valuers. Any accumulated depreciation at 
the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is 
restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

If the carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity as a revaluation surplus. However, the increase is recognised in profit or loss 
to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment recognised in profit or loss.

If the carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognised in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it reverses any gains previously recognised in other comprehensive income. The decrease 
recognised in other comprehensive income reduces the amount accumulated in equity as a revaluation surplus.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly 
to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.

1.5 Goodwill
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the 
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as 
incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue 
equity which are recognised in equity.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of assets, liabilities or equity which are given as contingent consideration 
does not affect the consideration transferred, unless they are valid measurement period adjustments.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at fair value at acquisition date.
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1.5 Goodwill (continued)
Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a 
present obligation at acquisition date and are measured at fair value.

On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassifies them 
where the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance 
contracts, whose classification remains as per their inception date.

Non-controlling interest arising from a business combination is measured either at their share of the 
fair value of the net assets acquired or at its fair value. 

The treatment of non-controlling interest is not an accounting policy choice but is selected for each 
individual business combination. In cases where the Group held a non-controlling shareholding in the 
acquiree prior to obtaining control, that interest is re-measured to fair value at acquisition date. Any 
gain or loss on the re-measurement is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and is determined as the difference 
between the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control,
plus non- controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. 
Negative goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash- generating 
units, or Groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
Each significant cash-generating unit or Groups of cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated represents 
the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired 
the impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss and cannot subsequently be reversed.

Bargain purchase is determined when the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree 
exceeds the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior the obtaining control, plus non-
controlling interest. The resulting gain is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

1.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets include those assets acquired and identified as part of a business combination including 
marketing related items such as patents, trademarks and trade names; technology related items like computer 
software and customer related items amongst other items.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is identifiable;

• the entity has control over it;

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost except for those acquired in business combinations which are 
measure at fair value at acquisition date.

Expenditure on research or on the research phase of an internal project is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development or from the development phase of an internal project shall be 
recognised if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the entity 
can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset 
itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible asset; and

• its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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1.6 Intangible assets (continued)

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is 
not provided for these intangible assets. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line 
basis over their useful life to estimated residual values. The current estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

• Patents, trademarks, trade names and other intangible assets 10 years

• Computer software 5 to 7 years

• Customer related 3 to 5 years

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset as finite rather than indefinite is an indicator that the asset 
may be impaired. As a result, the entity tests the asset for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount, 
determined in accordance with IAS 36, with its carrying amount, and recognising any excess of the carrying 
amount over the recoverable amount as an impairment loss.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is recognised in profit or loss and is 
determined as the difference between the net proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset.

1.7 Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment, except when the investment is classified as discontinued operations which is recognised at the lower 
of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment is measured as the difference between the 
investment’s carrying amount and the present value of discounted estimated future cash flows. 

The cost of an investment is the aggregate of the fair value at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the company plus any costs directly attributable to the 
purchase of the subsidiary.

1.8 Investments in associates

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated entity, over which the Company has significant influence 
and over which it has neither control nor joint control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

An investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements 
and measured at cost in the Company separate financial statements, except when the investment is classified 
as discontinued operations which are recognised at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost adjusted for the Company’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive 
income and impairments.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in 
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to 
‘share of profit/(loss) of an associate’ in profit or loss.

Losses in an associate in excess of the Company’s interest in that associate are recognised only to the extent 
that the Company has incurred a legal or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of the associate. 
Any goodwill on acquisition of an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment, however, any 
excess of the investor’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the investor’s share of the associate’s profit 
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Profits or losses on transactions between the Company and an associate are eliminated to the extent of the 
Company’s interest therein.
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1.9 Financial instrument

Classification

The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

• loans and receivables;

• financial liabilities at amortised cost; and

• financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes 
place at initial recognition. 

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments. 

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, 
a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Fair value estimation

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These 
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and 
relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held-for-trading, and those designated as being held at 
fair value through profit and loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised 
as held-for-trading unless they are designated as hedges. 

A financial asset other than a financial asset held-for-trading may be designated as at fair value through profit and 
loss upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise or the financial asset forms part of a Group of financial assets or financial 
liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis or it forms part of a 
contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at such. 

Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held-for- trading or are expected to be 
realised within 12 months of the statement of financial position date.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are 
expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
All related realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. This category does not include those loans and receivables that the Group intends 
to sell in the short term or that it has designated as at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale. 
These assets are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the statement of 
financial position date, which are classified as non-current assets.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less any provision for impairment. 
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1.9 Financial instrument (continued)

Loans and receivables (continued)

Loans and receivables comprise loans receivable and trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and 
VAT), cash and cash equivalents, loans to subsidiaries, associates and other related parties.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. If collection 
is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current 
assets. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
original effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. The carrying amount of trade receivables is reduced 
through the use of a provision for impairment and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. When a 
trade receivable is uncollectable it is written off against a provision account for trade receivables.

Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings, which include loans from subsidiaries, associates and other related parties are 
initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption 
of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 
for borrowing costs.

trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within a year or 
less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises of derivatives and is initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and is subsequently re-measured at its fair value through 
profit or loss.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
are recognised in profit and loss when they are incurred.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The 
Group derecognises financial liabilities when and only when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or they expire.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Company assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of financial assets has 
been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the assets being the present value of expected 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised as a 
charge to profit or loss.
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1.9 Financial instrument (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the 
restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed 
shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

1.10 Non-current assets or disposal Group held for sale

A non-current asset or disposal Group (a business Grouping of assets and their related liabilities) is designated 
as held-for-sale and stated at lower of carrying value and fair value less cost to sell, when its carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The classification as 
held-for-sale of a non-current asset or disposal Group occurs when it is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition and the sale is highly probable. A sale is considered highly probable if management is committed to a 
plan to sell the non-current asset or disposal Group, an active divestiture programme has been initiated, the non-
current assets or disposal Group is marketed at a price reasonable to its fair value and the disposal is expected 
to be completed within one year from classification.

Upon classification of a non-current asset or disposal Group as held-for-sale, it is reviewed for impairment. The 
impairment charged to the income statement is the excess of the carrying value of the non-current asset or 
disposal Group over its expected net selling price (fair value less costs to sell). At each subsequent reporting 
date, the carrying values are remeasured for possible impairment. A reversal of impairment is recognised for any 
subsequent increase in net selling price but not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss already recognised.

The Group ceases the depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets from the date on which they are 
classified as held-for-sale.

When a disposal Group is classified as held-for-sale it is also necessary to assess whether or not the criteria for 
discontinued operations are met. 

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for 
sale, and: 

• represents either a separate major line of business or a geographical area of operations; and

• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations; or

• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale and the disposal involves loss of control.

If the criteria are met, the results of the disposal Group are classified as discontinued operations in the statement 
of comprehensive income and the comparative amounts restated for all periods presented. No restatement of 
statement of financial position comparative amounts are done.

1.11 Taxation

current taxation

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate 
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the 
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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1.11 Taxation (continued)
 current taxation (continued)

Current taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the 
extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, in other comprehensive 
income;

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or

• a business combination.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset 
the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided using the balance sheet method based on temporary differences. Temporary 
differences are differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and their tax base. The amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred 
tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill in a business combination or, an asset or liability in a 
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss). A deferred tax liability is recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interest in 
joint ventures, to the extent that the ability to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference exists 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, 
branches and associates, and interest in joint ventures, to the extent that the temporary difference will be 
reversed in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can 
be utilised.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of the reporting period. The carrying amount 
of a deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probably that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed 
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, in other comprehensive 
income;

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or

• a business combination.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset 
the current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate 
to income taxes levied the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities 
which intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets 
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Withholding tax paid or payable to taxation authorities on dividends paid to shareholders is charged to equity as 
part of the dividends.
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1.12 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Items acquired in terms of finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of 
financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased items or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial 
position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added to the amount recognised as 
an asset.

Subsequently the minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction 
of the outstanding liability. Depreciation relating to assets subject to finance leases is consistent with 
that of depreciable assets which are owned. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will 
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases which have a fixed or determinable escalation are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease liability/asset which is not discounted. Any contingent payments 
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Inventories
The Group measures inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis, except 
for inventories relating to ICT Support Services included in the IT Infrastructure Technology Solutions Segment, 
which are measured on the weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and 
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised 
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.14 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset which is the higher of it fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss and is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. An impairment loss is recognised for cash generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the 
assets of the unit in the following order:

• first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit; and

• then to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other 
than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset 
is treated as a revaluation increase.
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1.15 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.

If the Group reacquires its own equity instruments, those instruments are deducted from equity. No gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. 
Consideration paid or received, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) shall 
be recognised directly in equity. Repurchased shares held by subsidiaries are classified as treasury shares and 
presented as a deduction from total equity on consolidation.

1.16 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Where the effect of time value of money is material, the provision shall be 
measured as the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 
party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The 
amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision. The expense relating to 
a provision may be presented net of the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and 
measured as a provision.

restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.17 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, volume 
rebates and value added tax.

The Group’s revenues includes the sale, installation and maintenance of the following products and solutions that 
include Cabling, Networking, Telecommunication, VoIP, Servers and Storage, Infrastructure Management, Data 
Centres, Card Solutions, Operations Management Solutions and Power and Energy Optimisation Solutions.

Sale of goods

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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1.17 Revenue recognition (continued)

rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, 
revenue associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the end of the reporting period. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably 
when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue 
shall be recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the 
reporting period. Stage of completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total 
services to be performed.

Revenue relating to goods that are sold subject to the installation and inspection is recognised when the buyer 
accepts delivery and the installation and inspection are complete. Installation fees are recognised as revenue 
by reference to the stage of completion unless they are incidental to the product’s sale in which case they are 
recognised when the goods are sold.

Dividend and interest received

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.18 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 
paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised 
in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments 
made to industry managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution 
plans where the Group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution 
retirement benefit plan.

1.19 Share-based payments transactions

Group share-based payment transactions - Equity settled

The Group has an equity-settled share-based incentive scheme that is granted to certain employees of the 
subsidiaries in terms of its Forfeitable Share Plan (“FSP”).

The fair value of shares granted to employees are measured at grant date and are recognised as an employee 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the period during which the employees are required to 
provide services to the Group in order to become unconditionally entitled to the equity instruments.

Fair value is measured as being the Volume Weighted Average Price of a share as quoted on the JSE for the five 
business days immediately preceding the date on which a grant is made. 
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1.20 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs not attributable to qualifying assets are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

1.21 Foreign currency transactions

Functional currency and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in South African Rands (ZAR), which is the Group’s presentation currency.

transactions and balances

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in South African Rands (ZAR) (the functional 
currency) by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency 
and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. At the end of the reporting period monetary items are 
translated using the closing rate.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual 
financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

• income and expenses recognised in profit or loss are translated at average monthly exchange which 
approximates actual; and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a 
separate component in equity called foreign currency translation reserve. When the operation is a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to 
the non-controlling interest.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in 
equity.

1.22 Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group:

• that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including 
revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity);

• whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and

• for which discrete financial information is available.

After the restructuring the Group is currently organised into two segments and these segments are the basis 
on which the Group reports its primary segment information to the Group executive committee (chief operating 
decision maker) to make key operating decisions, allocate resources and assess performance. The reportable 
segments are differentiated and Grouped by their nature of business and relative size, namely IT Infrastructure 
Technology and Telecom Infrastructure Technology.
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1.22 Operating segments (continued)

The Group shall report separately information about an operating segment that meets any of the 
following quantitative thresholds:

• its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales 
or transfers, is 10 per cent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all 
operating segments;

• the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10 per cent or more of the greater, in 
absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not 
report a loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss; 
and

• its assets are 10 per cent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and 
separately disclosed, if management believes that information about the segment would be useful to users of 
the financial statements.

Operating results are reported and reviewed regularly by the Group executive committee and include items 
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be attributed on a reasonable basis, whether from 
external transactions or from transactions with other Group segments.

Unallocated items mainly comprise corporate expenses which do not directly relate to the operating activities of 
the segments or which cannot be re-allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment results are determined before 
any adjustment for non-controlling interests.

1.23 Earnings per share and headline earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share information for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per 
share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for its own shares held. 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held and for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Headline earnings per share is based on the same calculation as earnings per share above except that 
attributable profit specifically excludes separately identifiable re-measurements as set out in Circular 2/2013 
“Headline Earnings” issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants. A re-measurement is an 
amount recognised in profit or loss relating to any change (whether realised or unrealised) in the carrying amount 
of an asset or liability that arose after the initial recognition of such asset or liability. Separately identifiable re-
measurements are those where the applicable International Financial Reporting Standard explicitly requires 
separate disclosure of the operating/trading and/or the platform re-measurement in the separate or individual 
financial statements of the entity/company/subsidiary/associate/joint venture/joint operation or in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Fully diluted headline earnings per share is presented when the inclusion of potential ordinary shares has a 
dilutive effect on headline earnings per share.
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2. Property, Plant and equipment (continued)
reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 
R’000   Land  Buildings Plant & Furniture  Motor Office IT 
   equipment & fixtures vehicles equipment equipment Total
Group 
Balance 
1 September 2010   4 382   6 454   1 446   2 960   4 175   288   8 933   28 638 
Additions   -   29   508   640   1 776   63   5 012   8 028
Disposals   -   (17)  (46)  (69)  (599)  (12)  (368)  (1 111)
Depreciation   -   (106)  (553)  (447)  (673)  (94)  (3 013)  (4 886)

Balance
1 September 2011   4 382   6 360   1 355   3 084   4 679   245   10 564   30 669 
Additions   25   408   1 196   1 396   5 745   31   18 794   27 595 
Disposals   -   -   -   (143)  (238)  -   (102)  (483)
Depreciation   -   (131)  (482)  (657)  (938)  (77)  (6 215)  (8 500)

carrying value
31 august 2012   4 407   6 637   2 069   3 680   9 248   199   23 041   49 281 
Additions   -   48   409   590   1 546   19   10 417   13 030 
Disposals   -   -   (29)  (8)  (157)  (4)  (1 252)  (1 451)
Revaluations   243   40   -   - -   -  - 283 
Translation reserve   -  -  -  196  1 641  153  212  2 202
Nett impairment 
(charges)/reversals  197 (31) - - - - - 166
Derecognised on
disposal of 
subsidiaries   (1 543)  (3 805)  (599)  (884)  (3 827)  (167)  (6 905)  (17 730)
Depreciation   -   (122)  (228)  (805)  (1 866)  (72)  (10 834)  (13 927)
Transferred to 
disposal Group
classified as
held for sale   (3 304)  (2 471)  66   (1 407)  (6 247)  (89)  (14 060)  (27 511)
carrying value
31 august 2013   -   295   1 689   1 362   339   39   618   4 342 

company 
Balance
1 September 2011   -   -   -   156   -   1   -  157 
Disposals   -   -   -   (92)  -   -   -   (92)
Depreciation   - -   - (42)  -   (1)  -   (43)

carrying value
31 august 2012   -   -   -   22   -   -   -   22 
Additions   -   -   -   -   -   -   10   10 
Depreciation   -   -   -   (22)  -   -   (2)  (24)
carrying value
31 august 2013   -   -   -   -   -   -   8   8 

All revaluations of property, plant and equipment were performed by qualified valuers during the year and related to 
revaluations performed by subsidiaries either disposed of (X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited in the 
amount of R150 000 in respect of Portion 1, Erf 488, Arcadia, Gauteng) or transferred to non-current assets held for 
sale (Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited Group in the amount of R94 000 in respect of the land and buildings 
owned by Inzuzu IT Consulting Proprietary Limited). 

The effective date of the revaluation of land and buildings of X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited occurred 
on 20 June 2013. The revaluation was performed by independent valuer, Mrs. I Joubert, of IJ Valuations (Pty) Ltd. IJ 
Valuations (Pty) Ltd is not connected to the Group. The valuation was performed using the open market rental value 
for existing use. A capitalisation rate of 8% was used. The capitalisation rate was based on current market conditions 
of similar properties sold in the area.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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2. Property, Plant and equipment (continued)
The effective date of the revaluation of land and buildings of Inzuzu Consulting Proprietary Limited was 31 July 2013. 
The revaluation was performed by independent valuer, Mr. Chris Lester (professional valuer), of Greystone Country 
Estates and is not connected to the Group. The valuation was performed with the aid of Computer Assisted Valuation 
(CAV), which is based on similar properties which have been sold in the vicinity recently.
Property plant and equipment transferred to the disposal Group classified as held for sale relates to the restructuring 
of ConvergeNet. See note 13 for further details regarding the disposal Groups held for sale.
Net carrying amount of vehicles and machinery includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee 
under a finance lease: 

  Group   company 
 2013 Restated 2012 2013 2012

 Motor vehicles   221   2 533   -   - 
 IT Equipment   -   9 550   -   - 

 Net carrying amount   221   12 083   -   - 

The Group leases vehicles under non-cancellable finance lease agreements. The remaining lease terms are less than 
a year, and ownership of the assets lies within the Group. Collection can also be demanded on default payments 

3. Goodwill

r’000  2013 Restated  
  2012

Carrying value 1 September   103 773   184 816 
Accumulated impairment   (68 951)  (13 617)

carrying value 31 august   34 822   171 199 

reconciliation of goodwill 

     transferred 
     to disposal  
     Group 
     classified 
 carrying    as held  carrying
r'000 Value additions Disposals impairment for sale Value
Group 2013 
Sizwe Africa IT Group (Sizwe)   59 856   -   (3 817)  (55 750)  (289)  - 
Chrystalpine Investments Group (CK)   90 156   -   -   (55 334)  -   34 822 
Telesto Communication Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   16 522   -     -     (16 522)  -     -   
X-DSL Networking Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   4 665   -     (4 665)  -     -     -   

  171 199   -     (8 482)  (127 606)  (289)  34 822

Group 2012

Sizwe Africa IT Group (Sizwe)   59 856   -   -   -   -   59 856 
Chrystalpine Investments Group (CK)   90 156   -   -   -   -   90 156 
Telesto Communication Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   16 522   -     -     -     -     16 522 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited   6 880  -     -     - (6 880)  -     -   
Structured Connectivity Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   6 737   -     -     (6 737)  -     -   
X-DSL Networking Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   4 665   -     -     -     -     4 665 

  184 816   -     -     (13 617)  -     171 199 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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3. Goodwill (continued)

Sizwe africa it Group Proprietary Limited ("Sizwe") (Discontinued operations)

Two subsidiaries of Sizwe, EQ Tickets Proprietary Limited ("EQ Tickets") and Interface Network Technology Proprietary 
Limited ("Interface") were disposed of during the year, the details of which have been summarised in note 13 and 35.  
Goodwill of R2 239 000 000 (2012: nil) in respect of EQ Tickets and R1 578 000 (2012: nil) in respect of Interface was 
derecognised on the disposal of these entities.

Upon the classification of Sizwe as a disposal group held for sale at 31 August 2013 (refer note 13), an impairment 
charge of R55 751 000 (2012:nil) was recognised in profit and loss from discontinued operations to impair the carrying 
value of the disposal group to its fair value less cost to sell.  The fair value less cost to sell used in the determination of 
the impairment charge is R115 731 380, being the net amount of the Sizwe sale consideration of R120 000 000 less 
estimated costs to sell of R4 268 620. 

During the current financial year, a multi-million Rand government contract, which had been awarded to Sizwe on 
a yearly renewal basis since 2007, was not awarded to any of the tendering applicants.  As a result of this, Sizwe 
adjusted its 5 year budgeted revenues downwards which resulted in the reduced fair value of the cash generating unit. 

chrystalpine investments Group ("cK")

Management reassessed the weighted average cost of capital calculation in respect of Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited 
during the year and concluded that increased margin pressures experienced by the entity and shorter operational 
cash flow visibility (caused by the ad hoc nature of revenue generating operations which are mostly contract based) 
required an upward adjustment to the selected discount rate and downward adjustments to projected future gross 
profit margins.  As a result of this, an impairment charge of R55 334 000 (2012: nil) was recognised in profit and loss 
in respect of the CK cash generating unit.

telesto communication Solutions Proprietary Limited ("telesto") (Discontinued operations) 

Upon the classification of Telesto as a disposal group held for sale at 31 August 2013 (refer note 13), an impairment 
charge of R16 522 000 (2012:nil) was recognised in profit and loss from discontinued operations to impair the carrying 
value of the disposal group to its fair value less cost to sell.  The fair value less cost to sell used in the determination 
of the impairment charge is R7 100 000, being the net amount of the Telesto sale consideration of R7 300 000 less 
estimated costs to sell of R200 000. 

During the current financial year, mainly due to increased margin pressures experienced in the current year, Telesto 
recorded lower than budgeted profit before taxation. This prompted management to reassess and  the 5 year 
operational profitability forecast of the business.  Following completion of the reassessment, which included downward 
adjustments to future budgeted gross profit margins, the fair value of the business was assessed to be lower than its 
carrying value.

X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited ("X-DSL") 

Goodwill in the amount of R4 665 000 (2012: nil) was derecognised upon the disposal of X-DSL during the year. Also 
refer note 13. 

convergeNet Sa Proprietary Limited ("cVN Sa") and Structured connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited 
("ScS") 

During the prior year, due to adverse changes in the operational profitability of CVN SA and SCS, management 
impaired the carrying value of goodwill in respect of the Group's investments in CVN SA and SCS to zero.  Impairment 
charges of R6 880 000 and R6 737 000 were recognised in profit and loss in respect of CVN SA and SCS respectively 
as a result of this.

Goodwill impairment assessment assumptions

Goodwill is monitored by management at each significant operating entity or group of operating entities. 

The recoverable amounts of goodwill allocated to continuing operations, as summarised above, have been determined 
using value-in-use calculations. These calculations use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 
the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate for 
the Information and Communication Technology industry in which the entities or group of entities operate. These 
assumptions have been used for the analysis of continued operations. The weighted average growth rates used are 
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates used are post-tax and reflect the specific 
risks relating to the relevant operating entities.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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3. Goodwill (continued)

the key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2013 for continuing operations are as follows:

 Structured connectivity  chrystalpine investments 
 Solutions Proprietary 9 Proprietary
 Limited Limited 

Growth rate range (year 1 to year 5 budgets) 6.00% to 17.00% 6.00% to 17.00%
Discount rate  18.00% 18.00%
Terminal Growth rate 5.00% 5.00%

the key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2012 are as follows:

  Sizwe africa it chrystalpine investments 9 
 Group Proprietary Limited  Proprietary Limited   other* 
Growth rate  5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate  12.41% 12.05% 13.50%

* Weighted average, comprising Telesto Communication Solutions Proprietary Limited, X-DSL Networking Solutions 
Proprietary Limited and ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited and Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited. 

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of continued operations. The weighted average growth rates 
used are consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates used are post-tax and reflect the 
specific risks relating to the relevant operating entities.

4. Intangible assets 

  2013   Restated 2012  Restated 2011
 Cost Accumu-   Accumu-   Accumu- 
  lated Carrying Cost lated Carrying Cost lated Carrying
  amortisation value  amortisation value  amortisation value

Group

Patents, trademarks,
trade names and 
other intangibles   4 019   (2 639)  1 380   4 019   (2 214)  1 805   4 019   (1 838)  2 181 
Computer software   -   -   -   9 542   (4 368)  5 174   6 689   (1 828)  4 861 
Customer related   25 222   (23 692)  1 530   37 514   (31 393)  6 121   37 514   (25 334)  12 180 

Balance at 
31 august   29 241   (26 331)  2 910   51 075   (37 975)  13 100   48 222   (29 000) 19 222 
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4. Intangible assets (continued)

reconciliation of intangible assets 

     transferred 
     to disposal  
     Group 
    Disposals classified 
 opening   of as held  closing
 Balance additions amortisation subsidiaries for sale Balance

Group 2013 

Patents, trademarks,
trade names and
other intangibles   1 805   -   (425)  -   -   1 380 
Computer software   5 174   3 124   (3 436)  (4 862)  -   - 
Customer related   6 121   -   (4 591)  -   -   1 530 

  13 100   3 124   (8 452)  (4 862)  -   2 910 

Group restated 2012 

Patents, trademarks,
trade names and
other intangibles   2 181   -   (376)  -   -   1 805 
Computer software   4 861   2 853   (2 540)  -   -   5 174 
Customer related   12 180   -   (6 059)  -   -   6 121 

  19 222   2 853   (8 975)  -   -   13 100 

Group restated 2011 

Patents, trademarks,
trade names and
other intangibles   2 616   -   (435)  -   -   2 181 
Computer software   247   5 983   (1 369)  -   -   4 861 
Customer related   18 830   -   (6 650)  -   -   12 180 

  21 693   5 983   (8 454)  -   -   19 222 
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5. Investments in subsidiaries - company 

Name of company   issued share  Held by   % Voting power   % Voting power   carrying amount   Carrying amount
 capital (r)  held 2013 held 2012 2013 r’000 Restated 2012

Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   11 200   ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 75%  -   134 393 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  19 978   22 130 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited  1000  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   40 932 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited 200  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 66%  -   5 668 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   3 200 
ConvergeCom Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 100%  -   - 
Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 74%  103 063   147 140 
Northbound Communication Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 70%  -   - 
NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 70%  -   - 
Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited  120  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  51% 51%  -   - 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited  100  Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  11 900   11 900 
Navix Distribution Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited   12 569 902   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
ConvergeNet Networks Proprietary Limited  100  Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
EQ Tickets Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  0% 74%  -   - 
Koba IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
Koba IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  60% 60%  -   - 
Tekanyo IT Services Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Setsibi IT Support Services Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  60% 60%  -   - 
Mantella Trading 634 Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
Inzuzu IT Consulting Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
PG Computer Services Proprietary Limited*   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Leboa IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   120   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  55% 55%  -   - 
Travel Mall Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  45% 45%  -   - 
Travel Mall Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  55% 55%  -   - 
Isiqina Computer Services Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Intelligent Facilities Management Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
Nectere Networks Proprietary Limited *   100   ConvergeNet Networks Proprietary Limited  0% 50%  -   - 
Interface Network Technology Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  0% 51%  -   - 
Simat Group (Incorporated in Mauritius)   100   Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited  0% 100%  -   - 
Simat Congo (Incorporated in the Republic of Congo)   100   Simat Group  0% 100%  -   - 
Simat Gabon (Incorporated in the Republic of Gabon)   100   Simat Group  0% 100%  -   - 

       134 941   365 363 

* - Although the Group does not own more than half of the equity shares of these companies and consequently it does not 
control more than half of the voting power of those shares, it has the power to appoint and remove the majority of the board 
of directors and control of these entities is by the boards. Consequently, these companies are controlled by the Group and 
are consolidated in these annual financial statements.

Refer note 13 disclosure of disposals during the year.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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5. Investments in subsidiaries - company 

Name of company   issued share  Held by   % Voting power   % Voting power   carrying amount   Carrying amount
 capital (r)  held 2013 held 2012 2013 r’000 Restated 2012

Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   11 200   ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 75%  -   134 393 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  19 978   22 130 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited  1000  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   40 932 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited 200  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 66%  -   5 668 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 100%  -   3 200 
ConvergeCom Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 100%  -   - 
Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 74%  103 063   147 140 
Northbound Communication Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  100% 70%  -   - 
NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  0% 70%  -   - 
Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited  120  ConvergeNet Holdings Limited  51% 51%  -   - 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited  100  Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  11 900   11 900 
Navix Distribution Proprietary Limited  100  ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited   12 569 902   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
ConvergeNet Networks Proprietary Limited  100  Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
EQ Tickets Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  0% 74%  -   - 
Koba IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
Koba IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  60% 60%  -   - 
Tekanyo IT Services Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Setsibi IT Support Services Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  60% 60%  -   - 
Mantella Trading 634 Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
Inzuzu IT Consulting Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  40% 40%  -   - 
PG Computer Services Proprietary Limited*   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Leboa IT Solutions Proprietary Limited   120   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  55% 55%  -   - 
Travel Mall Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  45% 45%  -   - 
Travel Mall Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited  55% 55%  -   - 
Isiqina Computer Services Proprietary Limited *   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  50% 50%  -   - 
Intelligent Facilities Management Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  100% 100%  -   - 
Nectere Networks Proprietary Limited *   100   ConvergeNet Networks Proprietary Limited  0% 50%  -   - 
Interface Network Technology Proprietary Limited   100   Sizwe Business Networking Proprietary Limited  0% 51%  -   - 
Simat Group (Incorporated in Mauritius)   100   Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited  0% 100%  -   - 
Simat Congo (Incorporated in the Republic of Congo)   100   Simat Group  0% 100%  -   - 
Simat Gabon (Incorporated in the Republic of Gabon)   100   Simat Group  0% 100%  -   - 

       134 941   365 363 

* - Although the Group does not own more than half of the equity shares of these companies and consequently it does not 
control more than half of the voting power of those shares, it has the power to appoint and remove the majority of the board 
of directors and control of these entities is by the boards. Consequently, these companies are controlled by the Group and 
are consolidated in these annual financial statements.

Refer note 13 disclosure of disposals during the year.
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5. Investments in subsidiaries - company (continued)
reconciliation of investments in subsidiaries 
  company 
r’000   2013   2012 

Carrying value at 1 September   365 363   378 740 
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (Refer to note 36)   67 374   240 
Impairments (Refer to note 22)   (169 295)  (13 617)
Disposals   (5 668)  - 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (Refer to note 13)   (122 831)  - 

carrying value at 31 august   134 943   365 363 

The recoverable amounts of investments in subsidiaries have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations use post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 
five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. 
The growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the Information and Communication Technology 
industry in which the entities or group of entities operate.

the key assumptions used for value-in-use 
calculations in 2013 are as follows:

 Structured connectivity andrews Kit Proprietary 
 Solutions Proprietary  Limited trading as 
 Limited  contract Kitting
Growth rate  5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate  18.00% 18.00%

the key assumptions used for value-in-use 
calculations in 2012 are as follows:

  Sizwe africa   chrystalpine  Structured  telesto  other* 
 it Group investments 9 connectivity communications
 Proprietary Proprietary Solutions Proprietary
 Limited Limited Proprietary Limited Limited
Growth rate  5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate  12.41% 12.05% 13.28% 13.45% 13.55%

* Weighted average 
These assumptions have been used for the analysis of continued operations. The weighted average growth rates 
used are consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates used are post-tax and reflect the 
specific risks relating to the relevant operating entities. Based on these projections, the impairment charges recognised 
in profit and loss were as follows:

  company 
r’000   2013   2012 

Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited*   66 345   - 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited   2 152   6 738 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited*   33 832   - 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited   -   6 879 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited   3 200   - 
Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited (Contract Kitting)   63 766   - 

  169 295   13 617 

* Investments in subsidiaries transferred to disposal Groups held for sale

Refer to note 22.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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6.  Investments in associates 

r’000   Listed/ Place % Voting  % Voting carrying Carrying
 Unlisted   of business   power held power held amount amount
   2013   2012   2013   2012 

Group 
CSI Thabile Networking -
Solutions Proprietary 
Limited*   Unlisted   South Africa  0% 26%  -   3 727 

Fleek Consulting 
Proprietary Limited (Fleek)#  Unlisted   South Africa  26% 26%  -   2 274 

     - 6 001

*On 31 July 2013, due to a change in strategy and focus of the Sizwe operations, Sizwe concluded a transfer of shares 
agreement with Computer Site Installations Proprietary Limited, in which Sizwe  agreed to return and transfer the  
26 shares in CSI Thabile to Computer Site Installations at par value of R1. Loss on sale of R3.255 million on the sale 
of the investment in associate was recognised in profit or loss. The loss resulted from a change in strategy during the 
current financial year.  There was no indication of impairment during the prior financial year.
 #Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited was transferred to disposal Groups classified as held for sale during the year due 
to the sale of Telesto (refer note 13 regarding disposals) 

Summarised financial information of associates 
The Total Assets, Total Liabilities, Revenue and Profit for the year of associates at 31 August 2013 (excluding associates 
disposed of during the year and associates which form part of disposal Groups classified as held for sale at year end) 
were as follows:

r’000   2013  2012 

Total assets   -   21 539 
Total liabilities   -   (9 796)
Revenue   -   45 034 
Profit for the year   -   4 000 

reconciliation of investments in associates 

  Group 

r’000   2013   Restated 2012 

Carrying value at 1 September   6 001   36 155 
(Loss)/Income from associates   (1 148)  3 392 
Impairment recognised on the Fleek investment   (1 000)  - 
Disposal of CSI Thabile Networking Solutions   (3 255)  (33 546)
Transferred the investment in Fleek to the disposal Group classified as held for sale   (598)  - 

carrying value at 31 august   -   6 001 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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 Group   company 
 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

 7.  Loans to/(from) subsidiaries, associates 
 and other related parties 

Subsidiaries 
Navix Distribution Proprietary Limited   -   -   499   15 149 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited   -   -   684   1 786 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   22 530 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   10 088   8 738 
Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited   -   -   487   264 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a Contract Kitting  -   -   -   (5)
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   3 539 
Northbound Communication Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   5 399 
NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   4 279 
ConvergeCom Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   2 
Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   569 

These loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates as 
determined from time to time and are repayable 
as and when funds are available. 

associates and other related parties 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   -   332   -   - 

The loan bore interest at prime and was repayable as 
funds are available. The loan was unsecured. The amount 
owing was transferred to non-current assets held for sale 
following the disposal of Telesto Communications 
Proprietary Limited (refer to note 13).

Matla Group Holdings Proprietary Limited   -   1 941   -   1 600 

The loan bore interest at the prime and was due and 
payable as at reporting date. The loan was unsecured. 
The outstanding loan  amount  was impaired in the 
current year.  The impairment is recognised in loss from 
discontinued operations.

  -   2 273   11 758   63 850 

Non-current assets   -   -   -   12 254 
Current assets   -   2 273   11 758   51 601 
Current liabilities   -   -   -   (5)

  -   2 273   11 758   63 850 

Simat Management company Sa Proprietary Limited ("Simat Sa")
The entity ceased trading after year-end. The loan was fully impaired at year-end as the loan is not considered 
recoverable. The impairment charge was recognised in profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Navix Distribution Proprietary Limited ("Navix")
The entity ceased trading during the year. The loan was fully impaired at year-end as the loan is not considered 
recoverable. The impairment charge was recognised in profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income.      

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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  Group   company 
r’000  2013 2012  2013   2012 

8.  Other financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange contracts - 
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited   131   367   -     -

  131   367   -     -

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Non-interest bearing 
TNJ Projects Solutions Proprietary Limited   -     1 750   -     1 750
The loan was interest-free, had fixed repayment terms 
and was unsecured. The loan was written off during  
the current year and recognised in profit and loss in  
the statement of comprehensive income.

interest bearing
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietry Limited   2 200   -     2 200   -   

This loan bears interest at the prime rate and is repayable 
within 12 months.  The loan is secured by 100% of the 
issued ordinary shares and 100% of the shareholder 
claims of  X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited.

Trinity Asset Management Proprietary Limited   -     3 333   -     3 333 
This loan bore interest at the prime rate and was 
repayable on or before 31 August 2013. The loan was 
impaired in the current year. The impairment charge 
was recognised in profit and loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

other interest bearing loans   -     -     -    -
Lowther Supplies Proprietary Limited    1 385 
Sizwe Asset Finance Proprietary Limited    392 
Other interest bearing loans    609 

These loans were unsecured, had interest at rates as 
determined from time to time and had no fixed terms 
of repayment. The loans were transferred to non- 
current assets held for sale during at year-end. 

  2 200   7 469   2 200   5 083 

Total other financial assets  2 331   7 836   2 200   5 083

Non-current assets   -     500   -     500 
Current assets   2 331   7 336   2 200   4 583 

  2 331   7 836   2 200   5 083 

The carrying amounts of other financial assets approximate their fair values. The balance of loans receivable are 
neither past due nor impaired with a low risk of default.
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SiMat Group Public Limited company, Simat congo Société anonyme and SiMat Gabon SUarL ("Simat 
Group", "Simat congo" and "Simat Gabon" respectively) 
The amounts owed by Simat Group, Simat Congo and Simat Gabon to their holding company, Simat SA Proprietary 
Limited (a subsidiary of ConvergeNet Holdings Limited) were previously eliminated as inter-group loans and receivables 
in the consolidated annual financial statements of the Group.  The loans were all denominated in foreign currency. 
Following the disposal of Simat Group on 31 August 2013, the loans to/(from) these entities were disclosed as Other 
financial assets in the statement of financial position of the Group. The Group resolved to cease the foreign operations 
of these entities during the current year due to ongoing losses made by these entities since the start of the financial 
year and to sell the loss-making entities.  The fair value of loans to these entities were assessed after disposal and 
management concluded that the loans would not be recoverable following cessation of the operations of the entities.  
The Group recognised impairment charges in profit and loss from discontinued operations  in respect of these loans to 
impair the respective carrying amounts to nil. 

TNJ Projects Solutions Proprietary Limited 
This loan was repayable on 31 October 2012 which payment could not be made due to adverse trading conditions 
within the entity.  As the loan was unsecured, management approved the full write off of the amount of R1 750 000 due 
by the entity as it was determine that the amount could not be recovered.  The impairment charge was recognised as 
an expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

  Group   company 
   Restated  Restated
r'000 2013 2012   2011   2013   2012

9.  Deferred taxation 
Estimated tax losses   9 706   22 688   11 002   -   269 
Revaluations   -   (575)  (575)  -   - 
Leases   731   605   503   -   - 
Provisions   523   2 784   1 691   -   - 
Provision against equity   -   -   6 622 
Secondary tax on companies   -   -   6 184 
Other   (1)  257   105   -   719 
Capital gains tax on sale of investment   (482)  (2 545)  (1 667)  -    (4 151)
Intangible assets   (806)  (2 197)  (4 028)  -   - 

  9 671   21 017   19 837   -   (3 163)

The above balance comprise: 
Deferred tax assets   9 777   26 326   26 002   -   994 
Deferred tax liabilities   (106)  (5 309)  (6 165)  -   (4 157)

  9 671   21 017   19 837   -   (3 163)

Where deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of entities which have incurred losses in the current year 
or prior years, a formal process of assessment of the future profitability of the entity has been performed based on 
detailed budgets and cash flow forecasts. As a result management believes the current tax losses will be utilised within 
one to five years.
In the current year, deferred taxation assets have been recognised in respect of ConvergeNet Management Services 
Proprietary Limited in the amount of R3.382 million and Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited in the 
amount of R6.395 million. 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited is expected to generate sufficient profits in the year ahead and in 
future years against which the deferred taxation assets related thereto can be utilised.  The year to date performance 
is profitable.
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited, as part of the restructuring programme of the Group, has 
cancelled its lease with effect from 29 October 2013 and has retrenched the majority of its staff following implementation 
of the corporate transactions described in note 13. With a limited staff compliment, the entity will continue to service 
the two remaining entities within the Group.  Management fees received from the remaining operational entities are 
expected to generate sufficient future profits against which the deferred taxation asset can be utilised.
Neither Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited nor ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary 
Limited are expected to cease operations in the year ahead.
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  Group   company 
   Restated  Restated
r'000 2013 2012   2011   2013   2012

9. Deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred taxation movement 
Balance at the beginning of the year   21 017   19 837   14 800   (3 163)  6 275 
Reversing/(Originating) temporary 
differences as charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income 

- Continuing Operations   (3 184)  3 250   5 037   3 163   (9 438)
- Discontinued Operations   (806)  (3 594)  -   -   - 

Reversing/(Originating) temporary 
differences as charged to the statement 
of comprehensive income in respect of 
prior period restatements     -   -   - 

- Continuing Operations   -   - 
- Discontinued Operations   -   1 524 

Transfer of deferred taxation assets 
to disposal Group classified 
as held for sale   (5 157)  -   -   -   - 
Derecognition of deferred tax 
assets on disposal of subsidiaries   (2 199)  -   -   -   - 

Balance at the end of the year   9 671   21 017   19 837   -   (3 163)

 

  Group   company 
   Restated  Restated
r'000 2013 2012   2011   2013   2012

10. Inventories 
Maintenance spares   -   9 232   6 146  -   - 
Trading stock   58 078   79 964  74 914   -   - 
Contracts in progress   5 435   16 275  6 871  -   - 

  63 513   105 471   87 931  -   - 
Provision for slow moving stock   (4 825)  (5 299) (1 950)  -   - 

  58 688   100 172  85 981  -   - 

Inventories recognised as an expense   197 240   178 680  
Write down/(Reversal of write down) 
of inventories to net realisable value 
recognised as an expense   (474)  3 349  
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  Group   company 
   Restated  Restated

r'000 2013 2012   2011   2013   2012 
11. Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables*  62 285  247 593    -   278 
Less provision for impairment 
of trade receivables   (2 120)  (1 573)   -   - 

Trade receivables - net*  61 165  246 020    -   278 
Prepayments**   608   2 392    -   - 
Deposits*   254   1 084    -   - 
Other receivables*   473   1 833    -   - 
Value added tax**   144   2 022    101   241 

  62 644   253 351    101   519 

* Financial instruments classified as loans and receivables 
 ** Non-financial instruments 
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity. 
Trade and other receivables were pledged as security for the overdraft facilities of R66 190 205 (2012: R51 599 999, 
2011: R57 673 708). However, the maximum exposure to the group is the bank overdraft amount of R15 060 906 
(2012: Rnil, 2011: Rnil).

  Group   company 
    Restated  
  2013 2012   2013   2012 

trade receivables past due not impaired 
The following represents an analysis of 
the aging of trade receivables that are 
past due but not impaired: 
1 month past due    2 329   25,652   -   - 
2 months past due    377   13 072   -   - 
3 months or more past due    2 045   46 943   -   - 

   4 751   85 667   -   - 

the movements in the provision for 
impairment of trade receivables 
are as follows: 
At 1 September    1 573   526  -   - 
Provision for receivables impairment    1 076   1 207   -   - 
Receivables (written off)/reversal of  
write-offs during the year    (529)  (160)  -   - 

Balance at 31 august    2 120   1 573   -   - 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

  Group   company 
    Restated  
  2013 2012   2013   2012 

12. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand    15   222   -   - 
Bank balances    14 674   66 776   839   3 130 

cash and cash equivalents 
(excluding bank overdrafts)    14 689   66 998   839   3 130 

Cash and cash equivalents include the 
following for the purposes of the 
statement of cash flows: 
Cash and cash equivalents    14 689   66 998   839   3 130 
Bank overdraft (refer note 15)    (15 066)  (502)  -   - 

cash and cash equivalents    (377)  66 496   839   3 130 

Current assets    14 689   66 998   839   3 130 
Current liabilities    (15 066)  (502)  -   - 

   (377)  66 496   839   3 130 

Cash balances are held with First National Bank Limited, Standard Bank of South Africa Limited and Investec Limited 
which carry Standard and Poor's ratings of BBB. 
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13. Assets and liabilities of disposal Groups classified as held for sale and discontinued operations 
Following a decision taken by the Board to restructure the ConvergeNet Group of companies various assets and 
associated liabilities have been presented as held for sale and discontinued operations in the Group statement of 
financial position as at 31 August 2013 and statement of comprehensive income for the year. Included within these 
amounts are the following items:

13.1 Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited 
On 29 August 2013, ConvergeNet concluded a sale of shares agreement with Zaloserve Proprietary Limited 
("Sizwe Purchaser" or "Zaloserve"), in which Zaloserve acquired 100% of ConvergeNet's interest in Sizwe Africa 
IT Group Proprietary Limited ("Sizwe"). The Board has determined that ConvergeNet should exit loss-making 
business units.  When the criteria for IFRS 5: 'Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations' 
("IFRS 5") were met, the assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale. The disposal group met the criteria 
to be classified as a discontinued operation.  Sizwe is a support and maintenance provider in the ICT sector . An 
impairment of R50.846 million was recorded against goodwill and  a further R 0.112 million against other assets 
to bring the disposal group in line with its fair value less cost to sell.  The total purchase consideration is R120 
million, of which R40 million will be settled in cash once all suspensive conditions have been met and R80 million 
by means of a loan (the "Sizwe Loan").

The terms of the Sizwe Loan are as follows: 

13.1.1 Term: 4 years, ending 31 December 2017

13.1.2 Repayable in semi-annually instalments of no less than R10 million each (on or before 30 June and 
31 December in each year) (“Payment Date”), provided that on the last Payment Date the Sizwe 
Purchaser shall only be obliged to pay the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan, notwithstanding that 
it may be less than R10 million. 

13.1.3 Interest rate: Prime Rate minus 2%, payable monthly in arrears, subject to adjustment as detailed below. 

The first capital repayment is to be made on 30 June 2014. First interest payment to be made on the first 
day of the month following the Effective Date.

The Sizwe Sale Price will be subject to the following adjustments:
13.1.4 If the Sizwe Purchaser has paid, in capital reduction of the Sizwe Loan:

13.1.4.1 an amount of at least R17.5 million on or in the six-month period prior to the Payment Date 
(each the “Relevant Period”), the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Sale Price will be reduced 
by an amount of R2.5 million on the applicable Payment Date (i.e. if the Sizwe Purchaser 
pays, in capital reduction of the Sizwe Loan, an amount of R17.5 million on or before 30 June 
2014, the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Sale Price will be reduced by an amount of R2.5 
million on 30 June 2014), provided that, if the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan is not 
settled in full by 31 December 2015, the Sizwe Purchaser shall not be entitled to any of the 
capital reductions contemplated in this paragraph, and will, on 31 December 2015, pay an 
amount equal to any capital reductions granted in terms hereof together with any interest 
which would have accrued had such capital reductions not been granted; and provided further 
that, if by 31 of December 2015, the Sizwe Purchase has paid a total amount of R70 million 
in respect of capital reductions of the Sizwe Loan (irrespective of the actual amounts paid by 
the Sizwe Purchaser on each of the Payment Dates) the Sizwe Purchaser will be entitled to a 
capital reduction in respect of the Sizwe Loan in an amount of R10 million with effect from 31 
December 2015;

13.1.4.2 an amount of R30 million in a Relevant Period, the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan 
will be reduced by R10 million on the applicable Payment Date (i.e. if the Sizwe Purchaser 
pays an amount of at least R30 million on or in the six-month period prior to 30 June 2014, 
the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan will reduce by R10 million on 30 June 2014), 
provided that if the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan is not settled in full by no later than 
31 December 2014, the Sizwe Purchaser will not be entitled to any of the capital reductions 
contemplated in this paragraph, and will, on 31 December 2014, pay an amount equal to any 
capital reductions granted in terms hereof together with any interest that would have accrued 
had such capital reductions not been granted, provided further that if by 31 of December 2014, 
the Sizwe Purchaser has paid a total amount of R60 million in respect of capital reductions of 
the Sizwe Loan (irrespective of the actual amounts paid by the Sizwe Purchaser on each of 
the payment dates), the Sizwe Purchaser will be entitled to a capital reduction in respect of the 
Sizwe Loan in an amount of R20 million with effect from 31 December 2014;
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Assets and liabilities of disposal Groups classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations (continued)

13.1.4.3 Solely for the purposes of determining whether the outstanding balance of the Sizwe Loan will be 
reduced in accordance with the paragraphs above, in the event that the Sizwe Purchaser pays 
any amount in excess of R17.5 million or R30 million (as the case may be) during any Relevant 
Period, then such excess (the “Relevant Excess Payment”) will be added to the payment/s 
made in the immediately subsequent Relevant Period, such that if the aggregate of the Relevant 
Excess Payment and the payment made in the immediately subsequent Relevant Period equals 
or exceeds R17.5 million or R30 million (as the case may be), then the outstanding balance of the 
Sizwe Loan will be reduced by an amount of R2.5 million or R10 million (as the case may be) on 
the Payment Date in the subsequent Relevant Period, notwithstanding that the actual payment 
on that Payment Date was less than R17.5 million or R30 million (i.e. if the Sizwe Purchaser pays 
to the Company, in capital reduction of the Sizwe Loan, an amount of R20 million on or before  
30 June 2014 and during the immediately subsequent six-month period thereafter ending 
on 31 December 2014, an amount of R15 million, the Sizwe Sale Price will still be reduced 
by an amount of R2.5 million on 31 December 2014 (as the aggregate of such payments is  
R35 million, being equal to two payments of R17.5 million).

13.1.5 If the Sizwe Purchaser has paid to the Company, in addition to the amount of R40 million detailed in the 
paragraphs above:

13.1.5.1 an amount of R17.5 million or more in capital reduction after the Sizwe Disposal Effective Date 
in respect of Relevant Period, then the outstanding amount under the Sizwe Loan will bear 
interest during the immediately subsequent Relevant Period at the Prime Rate minus 3%; or

13.1.5.2 an amount of R30 million or more in capital reduction after the Sizwe Disposal 
Effective Date in respect of Relevant Period, then the outstanding amount under the 
Sizwe Loan will bear interest during the immediately subsequent Relevant Period at 
the Prime Rate minus 6%.

13.1.6 As security for the due, proper and timeous payment and performance in full of the Sizwe Loan, the 
Sizwe Purchaser has ceded and pledged to and in favour of the Company

• the Sizwe Sale Shares, 

• rights to dividends and other distributions of whatsoever nature attaching to the Sizwe Sale 
Shares and 

• any and all claims of whatsoever nature which the Sizwe Purchaser may from time to time have 
against Sizwe. Similarly, Sizwe has ceded and pledged to and in favour of the Company its book 
debts.

Mr H van Dyk, an executive director of the Board, has a personal financial interest in the conclusion and 
implementation of the Sizwe Disposal by virtue of being the sole director and shareholder of Zaloserve. 

events after the reporting date 

The sale of Sizwe was not unconditional at year-end. On 11 December 2013, the transaction became unconditional 
and payment was effected subsequently of the R40 million deposit amount in terms of the provisions of the sale 
agreement described above.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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13. Assets and liabilities of disposal Groups classified as held for sale and discontinued operations (continued)
13.2 Telesto 

On 16 August 2013, ConvergeNet concluded a sale of shares agreement with ConvergeCom Proprietary Limited 
("ConvergeCom"), in which ConvergeCom acquired 100% of ConvergeNet's interest in Telesto Communications 
Proprietary Limited ("Telesto"). The Board has determined that ConvergeNet should exit sub-scale business 
units in non-core areas.  When the criteria for IFRS 5 were met, the assets and liabilities were classified as 
held for sale. The disposal group  met the criteria to be classified as a discontinued operation as it is part of 
the significant restructuring process.  Telesto focuses exclusively on the AVAYA Predictive Dialer and Agent 
Effectiveness Applications from AVAYA for distribution and sale in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East.  An 
impairment of R16.522 million was recorded against goodwill and a further R0.672 million against other assets 
to bring the disposal group in line with its fair value less cost to sell.  The total purchase consideration is R7.3 
million "Telesto Sale Price") which will be settled in cash. 

13.2.1 The Telesto Sale Price will be settled as follows:

13.2.1.1 R6 million payable in cash on or before 15 November 2013; and

13.2.1.2 R1.3 million payable in cash on or before 31 October 2014 (the “Final Payment”).

13.2.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the paragraphs above, the Telesto Sale Price 
will be considered as settled in full by the Telesto Purchaser if an amount of R7.1 million is paid to 
ConvergeNet on or before 15 December 2013 in settlement of the Telesto Sale Price.

13.2.3  ConvergeNet has provided no warranties to the Telesto Purchaser.

13.2.4 Until the Final Payment is made, ConvergeNet will hold a pledge and cession of the Telesto Sale 
Shares and the book debts of Telesto.

13.2.5 Mr D Bisschoff, an executive director of the Board, has a personal financial interest in the conclusion 
and implementation of the Telesto Disposal by virtue of being the sole director and shareholder of 
ConvergeCom. Effective 1 September 2012, ConvergeNet sold its 100% interest in ConvergeCom to 
Mr Bisschoff for R1. 

The Telesto sale became unconditional on 29 October 2013 and payment of R6 million was effected 
by ConvergeCom in accordance with the terms of the agreement described above.

13.3 Simat Group 

On 31 August 2013, all suspensive conditions precedent for the sale of shares of Simat Group Limited (“Simat 
Group”) between Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited and Afriwiftcom Investment Holdings 
(“Afriwiftcom”), incorporated in Mauritius were fulfilled. The disposal Group met the criteria to be classified as a 
discontinued operation. Purchase consideration of R1030 (US$100) was received from Afriwiftcom in exchange 
for 100% of the issued shares of Simat Group. The profit on sale of this subsidiary, due to substantial losses 
made by the subsidiary, included in the loss from discontinued operations is R24.5 million.

13.4 X-DSL 
In terms of a sale of shares agreement dated 28 August 2013, ConvergeNet disposed of its interest in the 
business of X-DSL Proprietary Limited ("X-DSL") (being 66%) to M. van Dyk and D. Fourie for R1.00. All 
suspensive conditions precedent were fulfilled for the sale of shares as at 31 August 2013.  The disposal group 
met the criteria to be classified as a discontinued operation as it is part of the significant restructuring. Purchase 
consideration of R1 was received for the investment and  the Group recognised a total loss on sale of subsidiary 
of R4.1 million net of tax in profit or loss. 

13.5 Northbound
On 1 September 2012, ConvergeNet acquired the remaining 30% interest in Northbound Communication 
Solutions Proprietary Limited (“Northbound”) for a nominal purchase consideration.
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13.6 FutureCell
Effective 26 November 2012, ConvergeNet sold its remaining 15% interest in FutureCell Proprietary Limited 
("Futurecell) for R40.0 million in cash and the related put and call agreement was cancelled  The investment was 
held for sale in terms of IFRS 5: ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’ (“IFRS 5”) at the 
end of the prior year.  On the date of sale in the current year, a gain on fair value adjustment of R1.7 million was 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

13.7 ConvergeNet Management Services
On 26 November 2012 ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited (“CMS”) purchased  
71.5 million ConvergeNet Holdings Limited ordinary shares, representing 7.7% of the then issued share capital 
of ConvergeNet, at 29.6 cents per share, for an amount of R 21.2 million from Titan Share Dealers Proprietary 
Limited in terms of section 48 of the Companies Act. These shares were held as treasury shares and subsequently 
re-issued during the year for cash and part settlement of the acquisition of the Sizwe non-controlling interest. 

13.8 NetXcom
On 31 December 2012, ConvergeNet sold its 70% stake in NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited 
("NetXcom") for R1. The loss on sale of this subsidiary included in the loss from continuing operations is  
R2.4 million.

13.9 Chrystalpine
On 1 March 2013, ConvergeNet acquired the remaining 26% interest in Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary 
Limited for a purchase consideration of R20.0 million. The purchase consideration exceeded the book value of 
the net assets to the amount of R21.1 million. This amount is accounted for directly in “Transactions with non-
controlling shareholders” in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

 Group   Company
R'000  2013  Restated 2012   2013  2012 

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale    
Property, plant and equipment  27 114   -   -   - 
Goodwill and intangible assets   523   -   -   - 
Other financial assets  28 447   -   -   - 
Inventories  32 451   -   -   - 
Trade and other receivables   164 211   -   -   - 
Other assets   9 312   -   -   - 
Financial assets as fair value through profit or loss   -   43 499   -   43 499 
Investment in subsidiaries   -   -   122 831   - 

  262 058   43 499   122 831   43 499 

Liabilities of disposal group classified held for sale     
Interest bearing loans and other financial liabilities   7 653   -   -   - 
Finance lease obligation   16 477   -   -   - 
Trade and other payables   109 126   -   -   - 
Other liabilities   5 992   -   -   - 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   -   9 145  -   9 145

  139 248   9 145  -   9 145

 There were no accumulated foreign exchange gains or losses recognised directly in equity relating to the assets 
held for sale at 31 August 2013. 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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  Group   company 
 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

14. Shareholders’ equity 
authorised share capital 
The authorised and issued share capital of the 
Company comprising of 1 000 000 000 and  
921 285 941 ordinary shares of R0.001 each was 
converted to 1 000 000 000 and 921 285 941 
ordinary shares of no par value. The authorised 
shares of the Company was increased from 1 000 
000 000 no par value shares to 2 000 000 000 no 
par value shares.
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 0.1 cents each   -   1 000   -   1 000 
2 000 000 000 ordinary shares at no par value   2 000   -   2 000   - 

  2 000   1 000   2 000   1 000 

Number of shares 

  Number   Number   Number   Number 

issued share capital

In issue at beginning of the year   921 285 941   915 115 941   921 285 941   915 115 941 
Shares issued in terms of transactions with  
non-controlling shareholders   49 649 184   -   49 649 184   - 
Shares issued in terms of the forfeitable share plan   -   6 170 000   -   6 170 000 

in issue at end of the year   970 935 125   921 285 941   970 935 125   921 285 941 
Less : Shares of the Company 
acquired by subsidiaries   (10 157 756)  (33 407 756)  -   - 

Net shares   960 777 369   887 878 185   970 935 125   921 285 941 

Unissued ordinary shares are under the control 
of the directors in terms of a resolution of 
members passed at the last annual general 
meeting. 
This authority remains in force until the  
next annual general meeting. 

issued share capital 

Balance at beginning of the year   921   915   921   915 
Shares issued in terms of transactions 
with non-controlling shareholders   15 888   -   15 888 
Shares issued in terms of forfeitable share plan   -   6   -   6 
Conversion of par value shares to no par value shares   436 030   -   436 030   - 

  452 839   921   452 839   921 

Share premium 
Balance at beginning of the year   436 030   434 617   436 030   434 617 
Shares issued in terms of the forfeitable share plan   -   1 413   -   1 413 
Conversion of par value shares to  
no par value shares   (436 030)  -   (436 030)  - 

  -   436 030   -   436 030 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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  Group   company 
 Number of shares  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 
  Number   Number   Number   Number 

14. Shareholders’ equity

treasury shares 

Balance at beginning of the year   (14 490)  (21 256)  -   - 
Shares acquired by subsidiary and  
held as treasury shares   (21 211)  -   -   - 
Shares acquired by subsidiary and  
held as treasury shares re-issued   29 521   -   -   - 
Shares forfeited during the year   -   (144)  -   - 
Shares issued in terms of the  
forfeitable share plan vested during the year   876   8 260   -   - 
Shares issued in terms of the  
forfeitable share plan not yet vested   -   (1 350)  -   - 

  (5 304)  (14 490)  -   - 

Forfeitable Share Plan 
The Company has implemented a Forfeitable Share Plan for certain key individuals in the Group on 1 March 2008. 
In terms of this scheme forfeitable shares were issued to participants on the terms that they may forfeit the forfeitable 
shares if they cease to be an employee of an Employer company before the release date which is 3 years after the 
award date.

The forfeitable reward shall be subject to the restriction that the forfeitable shares to which such forfeitable reward 
relate may not be disposed of or otherwise encumbered at any time before the release date and are held in escrow by 
an escrow agent. The fair value of these shares on the respective grant dates were R0.34 and R0.23 per share, being 
the volume weighted average  price at which the Company's share traded the 5 days prior to the award date. 

This scheme constitutes an equity-settled payment scheme and the cost is amortised over the vesting period with a 
corresponding increase in equity. 

For the period ended 31 August 2013 an amount of R0.620 million (2012: R2.180 million) was recognised as an 
expense in the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

  Number   Price   Value 
   (cents)   r’000 

Outstanding at beginning of period   8 870 000   -   2 226 
Vested during the period   (3 000 000)  -   (876)

Outstanding at end of period   5 870 000  -  1 350 

  Included in Treasury shares 

  Number   2013   2012 
   r’000   R’000 

Vested 1 March 2013   3 000 000   -   876 
To vest 1 September 2014   5 870 000   1 350   1 350 

   1 350  2 226 

At the reporting date no shares (2012: 400 000) were forfeited in terms of the rules of the Forfeitable Share Plan. 

These shares were held as treasury shares and the subsidiary company had the right to re-issue them to employees 
in terms of the Forfeitable Share Plan. 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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  Group   company 
r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

15. Interest bearing loans and other financial liabilities 
interest bearing loans at amortised cost 
Belltower Financial Services Proprietary Limited   20 748  -  20 748  -
The loan bears interest equal to 10,5% (prime plus 2%) 
is repayable on 7 February 2014. The loan is secured 
by a pledge of 100% of the issued ordinary shares of 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a Contract Kitting, 
100% of the issued ordinary shares of Structured 
Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited and all  
of the proceeds received by the Group from the 
disposal of Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited 
(refer note 13)

afrasia Bank Limited  -   18 449   -   - 
The term loan to Simat Group bore interest equal to 
3 months LIBOR + 5.400% which was payable on a 
quarterly basis, had fixed repayment terms and was 
secured by a corporate guarantee from ConvergeNet 
Holdings Limited.  This loan was repaid in full during 
the year. The loan was denominated in USD.

Loans secured by mortgage bonds over  
land and buildings. (Refer note 2)   -   6 824   -   - 
These loans were repayable in average monthly  
instalments of R 0.072 million over a period of  
between 10 and 16 years and at average  
interest rates of 9% .

Short term loans   2 035  -  -   - 

Short term loan with SiMat Group Public Limited 
company, a previous subsidiary of the group
These loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates  
as determined from time to time and have  
no fixed terms of repayment. This is a foreign currency 
loan denominated in USD.
Short term loans with other parties 
These loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates  
as determined from time to time and have no fixed 
terms of repayment.  - 1 095

Other financial liabilities 
andrews Kit Proprietary Limited - Deferred  6 458   -   6 458   - 
consideration 
Second tranche payable of the consideration, 
amounting to R7 million, for the acquisition of 26% in 
CK, recognised at amortised cost and payable on 31 
August 2014. (Also refer to note 13) 

total interest bearing loans and other  
financial liabilities, excluding bank overdrafts   29 241   26 368   27 206   - 

Bank overdraft   15 066   502   -   - 
The bank overdraft in the amount of R20 million 
accrues interest at prime rate up to R9.5 million with 
the rate being increased to prime rate plus 0.8% 
thereafter. 100% of the trade receivables of Andrews Kit 
Proprietary Limited are pledged as security in respect 
of the outstanding amount of the bank overdraft facility 
(refer note 11). 

Total interest bearing loans and other financial  
liabilities, including bank overdrafts   44,307   26,870   27,206   - 

Interest bearing loans and other financial liabilities at year end are either fully impaired or fully performing. No provision 
for impairment of interest bearing loans have been recognised at year end. 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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   Group   company 
 r’000  2013 2012  2013   2012 

15. Interest bearing loans and other  
financial liabilities (continued)
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and other financial liabilities   -   16 730   -   - 

current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and other financial liabilities   29 241   9 638   27 206   - 
Bank Overdraft   15 066   502   -   - 

  44 307   26 870   27 206   - 

The Group, excluding the discontinued operations, has 
a short-term facility of R20 million (2012: R20 million) 
which can be utilised as a loan facility with Standard 
Bank of South Africa Limited. The bank overdraft in 
the amount of R20 million accrues interest at prime 
rate up to R9.5 million with the rate being increased 
to prime rate plus 0.8% thereafter. 100% of the trade 
receivables of Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited in 
the amount of R66,190,205 (2012: R51,599,999, 
2011: R57,673,708) are pledged as security in respect 
of the outstanding amount of the bank overdraft facility.

16. Finance lease obligation 
total value of minimum lease payments due 
- within one year   131   7 723   -   - 
- in second to fifth year inclusive   -   11 284   -   - 

  131  19 007   -   - 
Less: Future finance charges   (5)  (5 064)  -   - 

  126  13 943   -   - 

Present value of minimum lease payments due   
- within one year   126   6 968   -   - 
- in second to fifth year inclusive   -  6 975   -   - 

  126  13 943   -   - 

Non-current liabilities   -  6 975   -   - 
Current liabilities   126  6 968   -   - 

  126  13 943   -   - 

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been 
entered into for contingent rent. 

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the motor vehicles leased. (Refer 
note 2) 
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r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

17. Provisions
Provision for onerous lease obligation   1 046   -   - 
Provision for fees   -   976   -   - 

  1 046  976  -   - 

Movement in provisions 
Balance at beginning of the year   976  976   -   - 
Provisions raised during the year  1 046 -  -   - 
Derecognition of Netctere Proprietary Limited*  (976) - - -

Balance at end of the year   1 046   976   -   - 

* Release of provisions in Nectere Proprietary Limited resulting from the liquidation and deconsolidation of the business 
during the current year.

  Group   company 
r’000 2013  Restated 2012   Restated 2011   2013   2012 

18. Trade and other payables 
Trade payables*   42 495   154 382   151 988   215   596 
Dividends payable to  
non-controlling shareholders*   10   361   351   10   10 
VAT**   1 510   5 767   3 888   -   - 
Other accrued expenses*  5 090 8 105  1 868  2 175   - 
Payroll related accruals**  6 941  23 747  11 385  - 
Operating leases payable*   16   341   4   -   - 
Deposits received**   -   20   20   -   - 

 56 062  192 723  169 504  2 400   606 

 * Financial instruments classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost 

 ** Non-financial instruments 

  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

19. Revenue 
continuing operations 
Sale of goods   275 728   249 850   -   - 
Rendering of services   7 279  1 807  996 930

 283 007 251 657  996 930

20. Operating profit 
continuing operations 
Operating profit for the year is stated  
after accounting for the following: 
auditor’s remuneration 
Fees  1 845  937   811   343 
Consulting   -   2   -   - 
Tax and secretarial services   -   96   -   - 

  1 845  1 035   811   343 

operating lease charges 
Premises   8 930  8 532  -   - 
Motor vehicles   -   -   -   - 
Equipment   325   326   -   - 

  9 255 8 858  -  -

All operating leases are recognised on a straight line basis
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  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

20. Operating profit (continued)
Consumables used 159 443 106 027 - - 
Amortisation of intangible assets   5 016  5 232   -   - 
Consulting and professional fees   12 622   3 732 5 640  2 767 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment   1 310   1 135   24   43 
Employee costs  58 271  81 156  745   - 
Loss on exchange differences   1 866   160  -   - 
Loss on sale of financial subsidiary   4 959   1 891   7 385   1 891 
(Profit)/loss on sale of subsidiary   (2 409)  (2 126)  5 724   - 
Profit from the sale of an associate  -   (16 363)  -   (27 711)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   117  179  -   92 
Research and development   1 017   728   -   - 
Share based payments - equity settled   132   2 392  -   - 
Other expenses 70 385  93 503 4 258 29 644

 312 729 277 646 23 776 6 726

total cost of sales, distribution costs  
and administrative expenses 323 829 287 539 24 587 7 069

  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

21. Investment Income 
Finance income 
continuing operations 
Interest received from loans and other receivables   -   599   314   1 098 
Interest received from cash and cash equivalents   520   478   78   359 

  520   1 077   392   1 457 

Dividend income 
continuing operations 
Dividend received from subsidiaries   -   -   7 000   2 000 

  520   1 077   7 392   3 457 

22. Impairment of goodwill and loans and receivables 
continuing operations 
Loans and other receivables (refer to note 7 and 8)  3 333   16 534   64 711   8 667 
Goodwill (refer to note 3)   55 334   13 617   -   - 
Investments in subsidiaries (refer to note 5)  -   -   169 295   13 617 

  58 667   30 151   234 006   22 284 

The key assumptions regarding the impairment of goodwill by the Group relating to continuing operations are disclosed 
in note 3. 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

23. Finance cost 
continuing operations 
Interest expense on financial liabilities  
measured at amortised costs   101   723   614   - 
Bank overdrafts   714   22   -   - 
Late payment of tax   -  168   -   - 

  815   913   614   - 
Discontinued operations   -   2 465   -   - 

  815   3 378   614   - 

24. Taxation 
Major components of the tax expense / (income) 
current tax from continuing operations 
Current year  2 744  584   490   - 
Prior year  52  -   -   - 

  2 796   584   490   - 

Deferred tax from continuing operations 
Current year 2 739 2 821 (3 166) 9 237
Prior year 445 429 2 201

  3 184   3 250   (3 164)  9 438 

  5 980   3 834   (2 674)  9 438 

reconciliation between applicable tax  
rate and average effective tax rate 
continuing operations 
Loss before tax  (81 642)  (46 565)  (244 532)  (3)
Tax at 28%  (22 860)  (13 038)  (68 469)  (1)
Share of profits from associates  -  (950)  -   - 
Impairment of goodwill and other assets  16 427 5 015  65 522   6 248 
Capital gains  1 771  (1 755)  1 771  (2 356)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  9 391 1 666 792   164 
Income not subject to tax  (297)  -  (2 288)  (560)
Utilisation of secondary tax on companies  - 941  -   1 382 
Derecognition of secondary tax on companies  -  4 802   -   4 360 
Derecognition of deferred tax on FSP  -  6 622   -   -  
Prior year underprovision (497) 429 (2) 201
Derecognition of deferred tax asset 7 341 - - -
Impact of discontinued operations@ (5 296) 102 - -

tax charge  5 980   3 834  (2 674)  9 438 

@ The elimination journals in respect of transactions between continuing and discontinued operations have been 
accounted for in each case based on whether the transactions are expected to continue in the future, in which case 
the eliminations have been accounted for in continuing operations, or otherwise expected not to continue in the future, 
in which case the elimination journals have been accounted for in discontinued operations.  However, the taxation 
effects of elimination journals were accounted for in the legal entities to which they relate.  The resultant differences 
have been reconciled above as the impact of discontinued operations on the taxation charge of continuing operations.

Deferred tax assets to the value of R7.34 million (2012: Rnil) have not been recognised as there is probable assurance 
that the legal entities to which these unrecognised deferred tax assets relate, will not have sufficient future taxable 
income to allow utilisation of the tax benefit. This balance represents in full the estimated tax losses available for set 
off against future taxable income.
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  Profit before    
 tax and non-  Non- 
 controlling   controlling Headline 
r’000 interest   tax   interest   earnings 

25. (Loss)/earnings per share 

 Group

reconciliation between (loss)/earnings  
and headline (loss)/earnings 

31 august 2013 
continuing operations 
Basic loss for the year attributable to  
equity holders of parent   (83 974)  -   -   (83 974)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   117   -   -   117 
Profit on disposal of subsidiary   2 550   (826)  -   1 724 
Impairment of goodwill   55 334   -   - 55 334 

  (25 973)  (826)  -   (26 799)

31 august 2013 
Discontinued operations 
Basic loss for the year attributable  
to equity holders of parent   (125 230)  -   -   (125 230)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   600   -   -   600 
Profit on disposal of associate   3 255   -   -   3 255 
Profit on disposal of subsidiary   (15 020)  (1 348)  12 037   (4 331)
Impairment of goodwill Sizwe Group level   4 792   -   -   4 792 
Impairment of Sizwe and Telesto  
goodwill hold by Holdings   67 368   -   -   67 368 
Loss recognised on the remeasurement  
of asset disposal Groups to its fair value  
less costs to sell   786   -  -  786 

  (63 449)  (1 348)  12 037   (52 760)

31 august 2012 - restated 
continuing operations 
Basic loss for the year attributable  
to equity holders of parent   (49 539)  -   -   (49 539)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   151   -   -   151 
Profit on disposal of associate   (16 363)  2 291   -   (14 072)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary   (2 126)  -   -   (2 126)
Loss on sale of other financial asset   1 891   (265)  -   1 626 
Impairment of goodwill   13 617   -   -   13 617 

  (52 369)  2 026   -   (50 343)

31 august 2012 - restated 
Discontinued operations 
Basic loss for the year attributable to  
equity holders of parent  3 992  -   -   3 992 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment   25   -   -   25 

 4 017  -   -   4 017



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201384

25. (Loss)/earnings per share
  Group
 2013 2012
 Number Number

reconciliation of weighted average number of shares 

Issued shares at the beginning of the year     921 285 941   915 115 941 
Issue of shares in December 2011    -   6 170 000 
Issue of shares in May 2013    16 549 728   - 
Effect of FSP shares recognised     2 935 000   5 179 609 
Effect of own shares held     (43 674 207)  (24 337 756)
Effect of FSP shares issued not yet vested     (7 370 000)  (13 397 551)

Weighted average number of shares     889 726 462   888 730 243 

earnings per share 
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 
From continuing operations     (9.43)  (5.57)
From discontinued operations     (14.08)  0.45 
Basic loss for the year     (23.51)  (5.12)

The Group has used the loss for the year from continuing operations 
attributable to the parent entity as the control number to establish whether 
potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive. As the Group recorded losses 
from continuing operations in the current and prior financial years, the 
potential conversion of FSP shares to ordinary shares will decrease the 
loss per share from continuing operations, and is therefore considered to be 
anti-dilutive. As a result, the basic and diluted loss per share is equal and 
headline and diluted headline loss per share is equal.

Headline and diluted headline loss per share (cents)
From continuing operations     (3.01)  (5.66)
From discontinued operations     (5.94)  0.45 
Headline loss for the year     (8.95)  (5.21)
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  Group   company 
r’000   Restated  
 2013 2012  2013   2012 

26. Cash utilised in operations 

Loss before taxation (81 643) (46 565) (244 532) (3)
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation  1 310  1 135  24  43
Amortisation on intangible assets  5 016 5 232  -   - 
Financial assets written-off  3 350  -   3 350  - 
Fair value adjustments  (5 646)  2 808  (5 646)  2 808
Loan raising fees (non-cash)  600  -   600  - 
Impairment of goodwill and loans and receivables  58 667  30 151  64 711  8 667
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries  -   -   169 295  13 617
Share based payments - equity settled  132  2 180  -   - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  117 179  -   92
Loss on sale of financial asset  4 959  1 891  7 385  1 891
Profit on disposal of associate  -   (16 363)  -   (27 711)
(Profit)/Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  (2 409)  (2 126)  5 724  - 
Investment income  (520)  (1 077)  (7 392)  (3 457)
Finance costs  815  913  614  - 
Share of profit of associates  -  (2 366)  -   - 
Loss on foreign exchange  1 865 493  -   - 
Movement in operating lease assets and accruals (554) 68 - -
changes in working capital:    
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories  (8 554)  3 224  - - 
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (3 605)  13 201  418  (393)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other payables  (17 369)  8 871  1 794  (335)
Movement in provisions 1 046 - - -
Movement in deferred income - (444) - -

   (42 423) 1 405  (3 655)  (4 781)

27. Dividends paid 

continuing operations 
Balance at beginning of the year   (361)  (351)  (10)  - 
Dividends paid   351   (11 516)  -   (13 819)
Balance at end of the year   10   361   10   10 

  -   (11 506)  -   (13 809)

 



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201386

  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 2012  2013   2012 

28. Operating Leases 

operating lease liabilities - continuing operations 
Included in trade and other payables   16   341   -   - 
Long term portion   1 251   1 806   -   - 

  1 267   2 147   -   - 

operating lease commitments -  
continuing operations 
Within one year   8 238   14 474   -   - 
In second to fifth year inclusive   322   19 225   -   - 

  8 560   33 699   -   - 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are 
negotiated for an average term of three to five years and rentals are fixed for an average of one year. No contingent 
rent is payable. 

29. Directors’ emoluments 

R'000

 Fees for 
services 

(Short-term 
benefits) 

 Basic 
salary 

(Short-term 
benefits) 

 Allowances 
and fringe 

benefits 
(Short-term 

benefits) 

 Pension 
and other 

contributions 
(Post-employment 

benefits) 

 Bonuses 
(Short-term 

benefits) 
 Total 
2013 

 Total 
2012 

executive directors 
Paid by subsidiaries 
S Swana  -  1 901  -  262  -  2 163  383 

DF Bisschoff  -  1 639  240  260  83  2 222  3 165 

T Modise  -  1 593  -  235  -  1 828  2 390 

H van Dyk  -  1 892  -  275  -  2 167  1 812 

PWJ Bouwer *  -  -  -  -  -  -  3 062 

GS Edwards*  -  -  -  -  -  -  2 587 

KBJ Kekana *  -  -  -  -  -  -  748 

 -  7 025  240  1 032  83  8 380  14 147 

Non-executive directors 
Paid by company 
DD Tabata  250  -  -  -  -  250  254 

L Mangope  154  -  -  -  -  154  155 

CE Pettit  185  -  -  -  -  185  65 

NG Nika  150  -  -  -  -  150 -
S Swana **  -  -  -  -  -  -  251 

SLL Peteni *  -  -  -  -  -  -  120 

NR Macdonald *  -  -  -  -  -  -  50 

M Scott *  -  -  -  -  -  -  97 

M Krastanov *  -  -  -  -  -  -  144 

 739  -  -  -  -  739  1 136 

 739  7 025  240  1 032  83  9 119  15 283 

Share based payment 
expense relating to 
directors   83 153

* - Till date of resignation 
** - Till date of appointment as CEO
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30. Related parties 

relationships 

Subsidiaries   - Refer to note 5 

Associates   - Refer to note 6 

Shareholder with significant influence   - Yellow Star Group Holdings Proprietary Limited 
  - Green Tree Investments 306 Proprietary Limited 
  - Heritage Capital Assets Limited

Companies with similar directors   - AfrAsia Special Opportunity Fund Proprietary Limited 
  - CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited
  - Choice Technologies Proprietary Limited
  - Eric Andrews Properties CC 
  - Future Cell Proprietary Limited 
  - Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited 
  - Moonstone Investments 85 Proprietary Limited 
  - Proximity Properties 226 Proprietary Limited 
  - Titantrade 306 Proprietary Limited 
  - Win-A-Way Investments 15 Proprietary Limited 
  - Broadfield Turnkey Services Nigeria Limited

Directors and members of  
key management of subsidiaries   - D.E. Fourie 
  - G.E. Visser 
  - J.N. Oosthuizen 
  - M. van Biljoen 
  - M. van Dyk 
  - N.W. Scheepers 
  - D Grobbelaar 
  - B Kekane 
  - T Modise 
  - M Spoelstra 

Key management has been defined as the executive and non-executive directors of the company. The definition 
includes close members of family and any other entity over which key management exercises control. 

related party transactions 
The following transactions were made between subsidiaries of the Group and key management personnel (as defined 
above) and/or organisations in which key management personnel have significant influence;
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  Group   company 

r’000  2013 2012  2013   2012 

30. Related parties (continued)
(Sales to)/Purchases from related parties 
Yellow Star Group Holdings Proprietary Limited  (64)  -   (64)  - 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited   -   -   (996)  (930)
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited  -   -   (719)  - 
Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   (302)  - 
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   (90)  (377)  -   - 
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   532   98   -   - 
Cilantro Investments Proprietary Limited   -   (6 528)  -   - 
Proximity Properties 226 Proprietary Limited   (38)  -   -   - 
Proximity Properties 226 Proprietary Limited   386   240   -   - 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   -   133   -   - 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   -   (76)  -   - 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   675 
MOJ Petroleum CC   3 348   -   -   - 
AfrAsia Special Opportunities Fund Proprietary Limited   9 966   -   -   - 
AfrAsia Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited  5 412 - 5 412 -
Win-A-Way Investments 15 Proprietary Limited   3 335   -   -   - 
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited  -   -   74   - 
Happy Apple Proprietary Limited   (41)  -   -   - 
Zero Plus Proprietary Limited  (12)  -   -   - 

Included in Net (loss)/profit for the year from 
discontinued operations
Guarantee payment by Sizwe Africa IT Group  
Proprietary Limited to AfrAsia Special Opportunities  
Fund Proprietary Limited due to default of  
subcontractor Idada Trading 322 Proprietary Limited 10 304 - - -

other income
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited (1 269) - - -

interest paid to/(received from) related parties 
Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   (66)
NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   (248)
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -  (314)  (295)
Northbound Communication Solutions 
Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   (199)
AfrAsia Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited   688   -   - 
Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   (4)
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   (53)  -   -   - 
D.E. Fourie   20   24   -   - 
M. Van Dyk   13   17   -   - 

Lease rental payments 
Moonstone Investments 85 Proprietary Limited   2 404   4 546   -   - 
Win-A-Way Investments 15 Proprietary Limited   3 093   3 053   -   - 
Eric Andrews Properties CC   974   1 843   -   - 

Non-controlling interest transactions 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   (240)
Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   (47 304)  - 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a Contract Kitting   -   -   (20 665)  - 
Northbound Communication Solutions   -   -   1   - 

Dividends received from/(paid to) related parties 
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   - 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a Contract Kitting   -   -   7 000   - 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   2 000 
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  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 2012  2013   2012 

30. Related parties (continued)
amounts included in trade and other  
receivables/(trade and other payables) 
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   102   -   - 
CSI Thabile Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   (55)  -   -   - 
AfrAsia Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited 2 697 - - -
Simat Group   -   -   -   250 
Matla Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   - 
Broadfield Turnkey Services Nigeria Limited   -   -   -   - 
Win-A-Way Investments 15 Proprietary Limited   (298)  -   -   - 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   -   63   - 
Matla Group Proprietary Limited   -   438   -   - 
Broadfield Turnkey Services Nigeria Limited   -   1   -   - 
H. Van Dyk (21) - - -
Proximity Properties 226 Proprietary Limited 8 - - -
Proximity Properties 226 Proprietary Limited (37) - - -

Loan accounts - owing by/(to) related parties 
ConvergeNet Management Services Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   22 530 
Navix Distribution Proprietary Limited   -   -   11 844  15 149 
ConvergeNet SA Proprietary Limited   -   -   684   1 786 
Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   - 
Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   10 088   8 738 
ConvergeCom Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   2 
X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   2 200   3 539 
Chrystalpine Investments 9 Proprietary Limited   -   -   487   264 
Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited   -   -  (5)  (5) 
Northbound Communication Solutions
Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   5 399 
NetXcom ICT Solutions Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   4 279 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited   385   332   -   - 
Simat Management Company SA Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   569 
Telesto Communications Proprietary Limited   -   -   -   - 
Matla Group Proprietary Limited   -   1 941   -   1 600 
AfrAsia Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited (2 579) - - -
D.E. Fourie   (1 455)   (262)  -   - 
M. Van Dyk  (1 505)   (178)  -   - 

impairment of loans to related parties 
Broadfield Turnkey Services Nigeria Limited   -   6 310   -   - 
Matla Group Proprietary Limited   -   -   1 600   - 

transactions with key management personnel 
Share based payments   83   153   -   - 

Details pertaining to executive and non-executive directors’ remuneration are set out in note 29 and their direct and 
indirect shareholding in the company is set out in the directors’ report. 
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31. Segment information 
The Group’s segment reporting follows the organisational structure and the basis of the nature of goods supplied and 
services provided by the Group’s operating divisions in conformity with the Group’s monthly reporting. It is used for 
assessing the financial performance of the business segments and for allocating resources to these segments.

Operating segments are reported internally to the chief operating decision-maker in a manner consistent with the 
annual financial statements. In addition, the chief operating decision-maker uses of Core profit/(loss) from continuing 
operations as a non-IFRS measure in evaluating the Group’s performance on a segmental level.

Transactions between reportable segments are conducted on the same terms as other transactions of a similar nature. 
There are no differences between the measurement of the reportable segments’ assets, liabilities and profits and that 
of the Group’s assets, liabilities and profit before income tax and discontinued operations.

Danie Bisschoff, the chief financial officer and interim chief executive officer, is the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”). The CODM has changed the focus and financial information reviewed, being only results from continuing 
operations arising from the restructuring programme. The comparatives have been restated. Transactions between 
reportable segments are conducted on the same terms as other transactions of a similar nature. The role of the CODM 
has been fulfilled by Peter van Zyl from 1 January 2014.

 The segment results for the year ended 31 August 2013 are as follows: 

r'000 it infra- telecom infra- africa Site corporate consolidation total
 structure structure Maintenance  and other
 technology technology Solutions 
 solutions solutions 

Period ending 31 august 2013
From continuing operations
Total revenue 42,457 257,328 1,068 20,293 -   321,146
Inter-segment sales (3,703) (12,626) -   (20,293) (1,517) (38,139)
reported revenue 38,754 244,702 1,068 -   (1,517) 283,007
Segmental result
core operating loss for the year (8,866) 12,392 (6,863) (30,264) 10,920 (22,681)
Impairment of goodwill and 
loans and receivables -    -   -   - - (58,667)
Investment income - - -   - - 520
Share of profits of associates -   -   -   -   -   -  
Finance costs - - - - -   (815)
Taxation - - - - - (5,980)
Net loss for the year 
after taxation - - - - - (87,623)

The segment results for the year ended 31 August 2012 are as follows:

Period ending 31 august 2012
From continuing operations
Total revenue 42,203 216,336 -   12,113 - 270,652
Inter-segment sales (6,521) (1,346) 985 (12,113) -   (18,995)

reported revenue 35,682 214,990 985 -   -   251,657
Segmental result
core operating loss 
for the year 320 (3,610) 1,193 (23,046) 6,202 (18,941)
Impairment of goodwill and 
loans and receivables - -   - - -   (30,151)
Investment income - - -   - - 1,077
Share of profits of associates  -   - -   -   - 2,364
Finance costs - - - - - (913)
Taxation - - - - - (3,835)

Net loss for the year 
after taxation - - - - - (50,399)

Revenue from continuing operations relates to counterparties domiciled in South Africa.

Three customers accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s reported revenue from continuing operations. These 
counterparties contributed revenues of R67 763 926, R56 559 174 and R38 290 153 respectively (2012: R77 065 983, 
R38 012 831 and R30 470 675 respectively).
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32. Financial instruments 
overview 
The Group’s Board of Directors provides financial risk management services to the business, coordinates access 
to financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group. The Group’s 
operating activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including currency 
risk an interest rate risk). The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse affects on the Group’s financial performance. This note presents 
information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated annual 
financial statements.

credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, cash and cash 
equivalents, loans and receivables and derivative financial instruments from continuing operations.

The Group has a general credit policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties that includes credit policies 
under which new customers are analysed for creditworthiness before the operation’s standard payment and delivery 
terms and conditions are offered and setting of credit limits for individual customers based on their references and 
credit ratings. Operational management is also held responsible for monitoring the operations’ credit exposure.

Given the downsizing of the Group and focus on limited industries with limited number of bluechip clients, the credit 
quality of customers is considered to be homogenous.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the statement of financial position, which is net of impairment 
losses, represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. At year-end management do not consider there to be any 
material exposure that has not been covered by impairment. The carrying values of continued operations, net of 
impairment allowances are as follows:

  Group   company 

 r’000  2013 Restated 2012  2013   2012 

Loans to subsidiaries, associates and other related parties  -   2,273   11,758   63,855 
Other financial assets  2 331   7 836   2 200   5 083 
Trade and other receivables 61 563   248 937   -   278 
Derivate asset - Put option  -   5 270   -   5 270 
Cash and cash equivalents  14 689   66 998   839   3 130  

 As at 31 August   78 583 331 314   14 797  77 616

In addition to the above, the Company issued a guarantee to AfrAsia Bank Limited in respect of the term loan granted 
to a subsidiary of the Group, Simat Group, in the amount of US$ 2.2 million. The loan was repaid during the current 
year and the guarantee terminated during the year.

Other financial assets(Refer note 8) 

The Group assesses the credit worthiness of any party that a loan or advance is granted to and where considered 
appropriate an impairment allowance is made against the loan receivable. No collateral security is obtained for these 
loans.

Trade receivables (Refer note 11) 
Trade receivables consist primarily of invoiced amounts from normal trading activities. Policies are in place to ensure 
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history and payment history. Individual credit limits are set for 
each customer and the utilisation of these credit limits is monitored regularly by operational management.  Customers 
cannot exceed their set credit limit, without specific senior management approval. Such approval is assessed and 
granted on a case-by-case basis. Operational management regularly review the debtors age analysis and follows up 
on long outstanding debtors. Where necessary, a provision for impairment is made.  Trade and other receivables were 
pledged as security for the overdraft facilities of R66,190,205 (2012: R51,599,999, 2011: R57,673,708). However, the 
maximum exposure to the group is the bank overdraft amount of R15,060,906 (2012: Rnil, 2011: Rnil).
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32. Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk
Cash and cash equivalents (Refer note 12) 
The Company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one 
counterparty. Cash balances are held with First National Bank Limited, Standard Bank of South Africa Limited and 
Investec Limited which carry Standard and Poor's ratings of BBB.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Company’s reputation.

The Group ensures it has sufficient cash on demand or access to facilities to meet expected operational expenses, by 
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; this excludes the potential impact of 
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by each of the operating entities within the Group to ensure sufficient cash to meet 
operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom to ensure that borrowing limits (where applicable) are not 
breached.

The Group, excluding the discontinued operations, has a short-term facility of R20 million (2012: R20 million) which 
can be utilised as a loan facility with Standard Bank of South Africa Limited. 

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments 

  Undiscounted contractual cash flows 
  carrying   Within 12 Within 2 More than 
 amount   total   months   to 4 years   4 years 
  r’000   r’000   r’000   r’000   r’000 

Group 2013 
Variable interest rate borrowings 
Short term loans   2 035   2 035   2 035   -   - 
BellTower Financial Services  
Proprietary Limited   20 748   20 748   20 748 
Other financial liabilities   6 458   6 458   6 458 
Financial leases   126   131   131   -   - 
Bank overdrafts   15 066   15 066   15 066   -   - 
Trade and other payables   47 611  47 611 47 611  -   - 

 92 044  92 049  92 049  -   - 

Group 2012 restated 
Variable interest rate borrowings 
Mortgage bonds   6 824   11 756   824   2 473   8 459 
Short term loans   1 095   1 095   1 095   -   - 
AfrAsia Bank Limited  18 449   20 249   9 509   10 740   - 
Financial leases   13 943   19 007   7 723   11 284   - 
Bank overdrafts   502   502   502   -   - 
Trade and other payables  163 189 163 189  163 189  -   - 

 204 002 215 798  182 742  24 497   8 459 

company 2013 
Variable interest rate borrowings 
BellTower Financial Services  
Proprietary Limited   20 748   20 748   20 748  - -
Other financial liabilities   6 458   6 458   6 458  - -
Trade payables   215   215   215  - -

  27 421   27 421   27 421   -   - 

Company 2012 
Variable interest rate borrowings 
Loans from Group companies   5   5   5   -   - 
Trade payables   606   606   606   -   - 

  611   611   611   -   - 

The expected maturity of financial liabilities is not expected to differ from the contractual maturities as disclosed 
above. 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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32. Financial instruments (continued)
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market price such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans receivable, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings carrying 
interest at variable rates. The Group is not exposed to material fair value interest rate risk as the Group does not have 
any significant fixed interest-bearing instruments carried at fair value.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is reflected under the respective borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
notes (notes 12 and 15). As part of the process of managing the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, interest rate 
characteristics of new borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned according to expected 
movements in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-
derivative financial instruments at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is prepared assuming the 
amount of the instrument outstanding at the statement of financial position date was outstanding for the whole year.  
A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel. 
If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group and 
Company’s profit before tax for the year ended 31 August 2013 would decrease/increase by R292 000 (2012: R403 
000).

Foreign currency risk
The Company undertakes certain purchase transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuations. To manage its foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions, the Group 
uses forward exchange contracts ("FEC's") against confirmed orders.

At 31 August 2013, if the currency had weakened/strengthened against the US dollar or Euro with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been marginally effected mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains 
or losses on translation of US dollar or Euro denominated trade payables, being offset against foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of US Dollar or Euro forward exchange contracts.

With a 10% strengthening or weakening in the rand against all other currencies, profit before tax would have increased 
or decreased by R367 000 respectively. In the prior year, with a 10% strengthening or weakening in the rand against all 
other currencies, profit before tax would have decreased or increased by R1.27 million.

Fair value of financial instruments 
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in 
the annual financial statements approximate their fair values. 

The following table provides analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, Grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on degree to which the fair value is observable: 

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities; 

-  Level 2 fair value adjustments are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

-  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 



CONVERGENET INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 201394

32. Financial instruments (continued)

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   total 
r'000  r’000   r’000  r’000  r’000 

Group 2013 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
FEC’s - Standard Bank of South Africa Limited  -   131   -   131 

  -   131   -   131 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
Derivative liability - Call Option   -   -   -   - 

  -   -   -   - 

There were no transfers between levels during the period. 

reconciliation of fair value measurements:     Financial  Financial 
   Assets   Liabilities 

Opening balance     43 866   (9 145)
Fair value adjustment - Investment in  
Future Cell Proprietary Limited     1 771   - 
Fair value adjustment - Put Option     (5 270)  - 
Fair value adjustment - Call Option     -   9 145 
Disposal of investment in FutureCell Proprietary Limited     (40 000)  - 
Movement in FEC’s     (236)  - 

    131   - 

Group 2012 Restated 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Derivative asset - Put Option   -   -   5 270   5 270 
Investment in Future Cell Proprietary Limited   -   -   38 229   38 229 
FEC’s - Standard Bank of South Africa Limited  -   367   -   367

  -   367   43 499   43 866

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
Derivative liability - Call Option   -   -   (9 145)  (9 145)

  -   -   (9 145)  (9 145)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements:     Financial  Financial 
   Assets   Liabilities 

Opening balance     30 710   (14 519)
Investment in Future Cell Proprietary Limited     37 162   - 
Pepkor Retail Limited     (15 866)
Fair value adjustment - Put Option     (9 249)  - 
Fair value adjustment - Call Option     -   5 374 
Fair value adjustment - Investment in  
Future Cell Proprietary Limited     1 067   - 
Movement in FEC’s     42   - 

    43 866   (9 145)

capital risk management 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity. In order to maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and targets 
a ratio less than 30%. This ratio is calculated as the net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the total 
long-term and short term interest-bearing liabilities (excluding derivatives as described in note 34) less cash and cash 
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Neither 
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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32. Financial instruments (continued)
capital risk management (continued)
Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio at the end of the  
reporting period was as follows:

r'000 2013 Restated 2012 Restated 2011

Debt*  44 433   31 668   10 577 
Cash and cash equivalents  (14 689)  (66 998)  (66 961)

Net debt  29 744   (35 330)   (56 384) 

Equity&  210 508   483 188   545 486 

Net debt to equity ratio 14.13% -7.31% -10.34%

* Debt is defined as total long-term and short term interest bearing liabilities (excluding derivatives as described in note 34)
& Total Equity is defined as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position

33. Financial assets by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

  Financial assets  Financial assets Other financial 
 at fair value  at fair value assets at 
 through profit  through profit amortised cost 
 and loss - held  and loss  
 for trading   -designated   
  as such   

Group 2013 
FEC - Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (refer to note 8)  131   -   - 
Trade and other receivables (refer to note 11)  -   -   61 009 
XDSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   2 200 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 12)  -   - 14 689 

 131  -   77 898 

Group 2012 
Derivative asset - Put Option (refer to note 32)  5 270   -  - 
Investment in FutureCell Proprietary Limited (refer to note 32)  -   38 229   - 
FEC - Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (refer to note 8)  367   -   - 
Trinity Asset Management Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   3 333 
Matla Proprietary Limited (refer to note 7)  -   -   1 941 
TNJ Projects Solutions Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   1 750 
Fleek Consulting Proprietary Limited (refer to note 7)  -   -   332 
Trade and other receivables (refer to note 11)  -   -   256 841 
Other interest bearing loans (refer to note 8)  -   -   2 386 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 12)  -   -   66 998 

  5 637  38 229   333 581 

company 2013 
XDSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   2 200 
Loans to related parties (refer to note 7)  -   -   11 758 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 12)  -   -   839 

  -   -   14 797 
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33. Financial assets by category (continued)
 The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

  Financial assets  Financial assets 
 at fair value  at fair value 
 through profit  through profit  
 and loss - held  and loss Loans and 
 for trading   -designated  receivables at 
  as such   amortised cost 

Company 2012 
Derivative asset - Put Option (refer to note 32)  5 270  -  - 
Investment in FutureCell Proprietary Limited (refer to note 32)  -   38 229   - 
Pepkor Retail Limited (refer to note 32)  -   -   - 
Trinity Asset Management Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   3 333 
Loans to related parties  (refer to note 7)  -   -   62 255 
Matla Proprietary Limited (refer to note 7)  -   -   1 600 
TNJ Projects Solutions Proprietary Limited (refer to note 8)  -   -   1 750 
Trade and other receivables (refer to note 11)  -   -   278 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 12)  -   -   3 130 

  5 270  38 229   72 346

* Designated as such upon initial recognition 

34. Financial liabilities by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments  
have been applied to the line items below: 

  Financial liabilities at   
 fair value through profit and  Financial liabilities 
 loss - designated as such   at amortised cost 

Group 2013 
BellTower Financial Services Proprietary Limited (refer to note 15)  -   20 748 
Other financial liabilities (refer to note 15)  -   6 458 
Trade and other payables (refer to note 18)  -  47 611
Finance Leases (refer to note 16)  -   126 
Short term loans (refer to note 15)  -   2 035 
Bank overdraft (refer to note 15)  -   15 066 

  -  92 044

Group 2012 Restated 
Derivative liability - Call Option (refer to note 32)  9 145   - 
AfrAsia Bank Limited (refer to note 15)  -   18 449 
Mortgage Bonds (refer to note 15)  -   6 824 
Trade and other payables (refer to note 18)  -   163 189 
Finance Leases (refer to note 16)  -   13 943 
Other (refer to note 15)  -   1 095 
Bank overdraft (refer to note 15)  -   502 

  9 145  204 002

company 2013 
BellTower Financial Services Proprietary Limited (refer to note 15)  -   20 748 
Other financial liabilities (refer to note 15)  -   6 458 
Trade payables (refer to note 18)  -   2 400 

  -   29 606 

Company 2012 
Derivative liability - Call Option (refer to note 32)  9 145   - 
Trade payables (refer to note 18)  -   606 

  9 145   606 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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35. Disposal of subsidiaries 
31 august 2013 

 X-DSL Simat eQ tickets NetXcom ict interface Nectere total
 Networking Group* Proprietary Solutions Network Networks 
 Solutions   Limited Proprietary technology Proprietary 
 Proprietary   Limited Proprietary Limited 
 Limited*    Limited  

Date disposed   31 aug 2013   31 aug 2013   31 aug 2013   31 Dec 2012   1 Sep 2012  1 Sept 2012  
% disposed  66% 51% 100% 70% 51% 51% 

The carrying /fair value of net 
assets/(liabilities disposed of:       
Cash and cash equivalents   603   137   53   120   540   -   1 453 
Property, plant and 
equipment   4 861   4 244   5 542   -   3 040   42   17 730 
Intangible assets   -   -   4 848   -   -   -   4 848 
Inventories   50   177   178   328   5 128   -   5 861 
Trade and other receivables   2 974   4 130   874   199   9 103   11 166   28 446 
Deferred tax   1 057   -   17   1 240   (115)  -   2 199 
Borrowings   (2 960)  -   (5 791)  -   -   -   (8 751)
Group Loans   (2 200)  (26 037)  -   (4 959)  -   (6 183)  (39 379)
Other Financial Liabilities   (1 665)  (453)  (55)  -   (1 948)  -   (4 121)
Trade and other payables   (4 842)  (11 930)  (5 549)  (370)  (9 026)  (5 256)  (36 973)

Carrying /fair value of 
subsidiary disposed of   (2 122)  (29 732)  117   (3 442)  6 722  (231)  (28 688)
Loss on sale of 
financial asset   2 426   -   -   -   -   -  2 426 
Foreign currency translation 
reserve recycled   -   5 170   -   -   -  -   5 170 
Other   (269)  -   -   -   -   -  (269)
Non-controlling interest   722   -   3 417   1 033   (3 294)  116  1 994 
Goodwill   4 665   -   2 239   -   1 578   -  8 482 

Carrying /fair value of 
assets disposed of   5 422   (24 562)  5 773   (2 409)  5 006  (115)  (10 885)
Profit/(Loss) on disposal 
of subsidiary   (3 062)  24 563   (2 165)  2 409   (2 006) 115   19 854 

Total proceeds on disposal 
of subsidiary   2 360   1   3 608   -   3 000  -   8 969 

* Part of the restructuring of ConvergeNet Group. Refer to note 13. 
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35. Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)
31 august 2012 

  averge technologies  total 
 Proprietary Limited

Date disposed   1 aug 2012 
% disposed  100%

The carrying /fair value of net assets/(liabilities disposed of: 
Cash and cash equivalents   432   432 
Property plant and equipment   136   136 
Intangible assets   -  -
Inventories   1 071   1 071 
Trade and other receivables  1 431   1 431 
Deferred tax   827   827 
Borrowings   -  -
Group Loans   (3 680)  (3 680)
Other Financial Liabilities   -  -
Trade and other payables  (2 343)  (2 343)

Carrying /fair value of subsidiary disposed of   (2 126)  (2 126)
Loss on sale of financial asset   1 890   1 890 
Non-controlling interest   -   - 
Goodwill   -   - 

Carrying /fair value of assets disposed of   (236)  (236)
Profit /(Loss) on disposal of subsidiary   236   236 

Total proceeds on disposal of subsidiary   -   - 

36. Transactions with non-controlling interests 

 X-DSL Networking Sizwe africa    
 Solutions it Group  chrystalpine Northbound 
 Proprietary Proprietary  investments 9  communication
 Limited Limited Proprietary Solutions
r'000   Limited Proprietary Limited

Transaction date 1 September 2012   31 Mar 2013   1 Mar 2013   1 Sep 2012 
% non-controlling interest acquired  15% 25% 26% 30%

Carrying amount of non-controlling  
interests acquired or disposed  (580)  32 320   21 141   1 043 
Consideration and additional  
costs capitalised  
on acquisition of non-controlling interest   -   (47 685)   (19 689)   - 

Excess of consideration paid  
recognised in parent’s equity  (580)  15 365   (1 452)  1 043 

31 august 2012   Structured connectivity Solutions 
 Proprietary Limited

Transaction date   1 September 2011 
% non-controlling interest acquired  10%

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired   238 
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests   - 

Excess of consideration paid recognised in parent’s equity   238 

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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36. Transactions with non-controlling interests (continued)
chrystalpine investments 9 Proprietary Limited 
ConvergeNet Holdings Limited acquired an additional 26% interest in Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited trading as 
Contract Kitting ("Contract Kitting") during the year.  As part of the consideration payable, an additional amount is 
payable if the average profit after tax for the financial years ending 2013 and 2014 exceeds R10 350 000. 

Based on the 2013 profit after tax for Contract Kitting and the budgeted 2014 profit after tax, it was noted that the 
average profit after tax for these 2 years does not exceed R10 350 000 and therefore the fair value of the contingent 
consideration that has been recognised at acquisition is Rnil.

Sizwe africa it Group Proprietary Limited 

ConvergeNet Holdings Limited acquired an additional 25% interest in Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited 
("Sizwe") during the year.  As part of the consideration payable, an additional amount is payable if:

- The net profit after tax ("NPAT") is equal to or in excess of R40 million, then the purchase prices payable will be 
increased by R15million; 

- If the net profit after tax is between R30 million ("Bottom Line") and R40 million then the purchase price will be 
increased by R1.5 million for every completed R1 million by which the net profit after tax exceeds the Bottom 
Line;  

- In the event that the NPAT of the Company is less than the Bottom Line, there shall be no increase in the 
Purchase price. 

Based on the 2013 audited Sizwe annual financial statements it was noted that the net profit after tax did not exceed 
R30 million or more and therefore no additional purchase consideration is payable in terms of the agreement. 

Therefore the fair value of the contingent consideration that has been recognised at acquisition is Rnil.

37.  Prior period error 
37.1  Revenue recognition errors noted 

The majority of the Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited (“Sizwe”)’s subsidiaries are party to a major 
maintenance and support contract as sub-contractors to the main contractor. The sub-contractor agreement 
provides that, these entities are required to invoice the main contractor a fixed amount on a monthly basis. 
In the middle of the prior year, the main contractor revised the invoicing terms to “invoicing in arrears”. In 
changing these terms, the entities erroneously invoiced the main contractor twice in one month. This error was 
identified and corrected in the current financial year. The earliest affected prior period is 2012.

A revenue recognition error was also identified in X-DSL Networking Solutions Proprietary Limited (“X-DSL”) 
whereby revenue was recognised upon the issue of invoices to customers and not on the stage-of-completion 
basis as required by IFRS and in terms of the Group’s accounting policy on revenue recognition. The earliest 
affected prior period is 2011.

The correction of these errors resulted in adjustments to the following financial statement line items related to 
the prior year: 

  Group 
  effect on prior year  effect on prior year 
 ended 31 august 2012 #  ended 31 august 2011
r'000 r’000 r’000 

Statement of financial position
Increase in inventories  3 932   - 
Decrease in trade accounts receivable  (8 932)   - 
Increase in deferred income  1 352   908 
Increase in deferred taxation  1 524   - 
Decrease in Non-controlling interest  (2 112)   (309) 
Decrease in retained earnings  (1 808)  (599) 

Statement of other comprehensive income
Decrease in revenue  (11 569)   (908) 
Decrease in cost of sales#  6 125   - 
Decrease in taxation#  1 524   - 
Increase in net loss for the year from discontinued operations#  (3 920)   (908) 
# Restated amounts shown as they would have appeared in prior year reported annual financial statements 
before taking into account discontinued operations.
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37.2 Earnings and Headline Earnings per share error noted 

Due to losses reported in the prior year, basic loss per share and headline loss per share were anti-dilutive. 
This fact was not taken into account in calculating the diluted basic loss and diluted headline loss per share in 
the prior year. The earliest affected prior period is 2012.

the effect hereof was as follows: 

  Group 
  restated year ended  reported year ended 
 31 august 2012# 31 august 2012
 r’000  r’000 

Diluted basic loss per share (cents) (4.92) (4.90)
Diluted headline loss per share (cents) (5.01) (4.98)
# Restated amounts shown as they would have appeared in prior year reported annual financial statements 
before taking into account any restatements related to discontinued operations and prior period errors.

 37.3    Intangible assets incorrectly classified as property and equipment 

In the prior year, computer software acquired by a subsidiary of Sizwe was incorrectly classified as property 
and equipment and not as intangible assets as required by IFRS. The earliest affected prior period is 2011.

The correction of this error resulted in adjustments to the following financial statement line items related to the 
prior year:

   Group 
  restated year  reported year restated year reported year 
 ended 31 aug  ended 31 aug ended 31 aug ended 31 aug 
 2012 2012 2011 2011 
r'000 r’000  r’000 r’000 r’000

Statement of Financial Position 
Property and equipment   49 281   54 455   30 669   35 424 
Intangible assets   13 100   7 926   19 222   14 467 

Statement of comprehensive income 
Depreciation of property plant & 
equipment 1 130 3 564 420 1 648 
Amortisation of intangible assets  2 434 - 1 228 -

37.4 Statement of comprehensive income by function restated 
In the prior year statement of comprehensive income, some expense items were disclosed by function and 
others by nature. The presentation of the statement of comprehensive income has been amended in the current 
year to disclose expense items only by function. The earliest affected prior period is 2012. The affects both the 
Group and Company annual financial statements.

Notes to the annual Financial Statements
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37.5 Incorrect classification of revenue from the sale of goods and revenue from the rendering of services 
In the Revenue note to the annual financial statements of the prior year, an error was identified in the classification 
of the source of revenue between revenue earned from the sale of goods and revenue from the rendering of 
services. The earliest affected prior period is 2012.

The correction of this error resulted in adjustments to the following note in the annual financial statements 
related to the prior year:

  Group 
  restated year ended  reported year ended 
 31 august 2012# 31 august 2012
r'000 r’000  r’000 

revenue
Sale of goods  641 691   626 811 
Rendering of services  375 666   390 546 

  1 017 357   1 017 357 
# Restated amounts shown as they would have appeared in prior year reported annual financial statements 
before taking into account any restatements related to discontinued operations and prior period errors.

37.6 Incorrect classification of payroll related accruals in trade and other payables 
In the Trade and other payables note to the annual financial statements of the prior years, an error was 
identified in the classification of payroll related accruals as financial liabilities carried at amortised cost instead 
of non-financial instruments. The earliest affected period is 2011.

The correction of this error resulted in adjustments to the following note in the annual financial statements 
related to the prior years:

R'000   Restated  Reported Restated Reported 
 year ended  year ended year ended year ended
 31 August 2012   31 August 2012   31 August 2011   31 August 2011

Trade and other payables
Trade payables*   154 382   162 519   151 988   153 184 
Dividends payable to 
non-controlling shareholders*   361   361   351   351 
VAT**   5 767   5 767   3 888   3 888 
Other accrued expenses*&  8 105  21 590  1 868   12 057 
Payroll related accruals**   23 747   -   11 385   - 
Operating leases payable**   341   341   4   4 
Deposits received**   20   20   20   20 

  192 723  190 598  169 504   169 504

* Financial instruments classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost 
** Non-financial instruments 
& Restated Other Accrued Expenses above include amounts reclassified from Provisions to Trade and Other 
Payables in the amount of R2,125,000 to enhance the comparability of the annual financial statements.  
The amounts relate to product related accruals previously disclosed as Provisions for Product Warranties 
which should have been disclosed as Trade and Other Payables due to the obligation of the Group in relation 
to these items already having existed at year-end.

The impact of the above is as follows: 

  Group 
  restated year ended  reported year ended 
r'000 31 august 2012 31 august 2012 

Other accrued expenses  2 125   - 
Provisions  -   2 125 

  2 125   2 125 
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37.7 Incorrect treatment of finance leases in statement of cash flows 
In the prior year statement of cash flows, certain motor vehicles and IT equipment acquired and financed by 
finance leases were incorrectly included as items affecting cash flows. This error resulted in both cash utilised 
in investing activities and cash generated from financing activities being overstated. The earliest affected prior 
period is 2012.

The correction of this error resulted in adjustments to the following financial statement line items:

  Group 
  restated year ended  reported year ended 
r'000 31 august 2012 31 august 2012 

Statement of cash flows
Investing activities
Additions to property and equipment  (16 721)   (30 448) 
Financing activities
Finance leases (paid)/raised  (1 664)   12 063 

38. Events after the Reporting Period 

38.1 Sale transactions:
The subsequent events in respect of all corporate transactions not fully unconditional by 31 August 2013 are 
disclosed in note 13 of these annual financial statements.

38.2 Corporate governance 
Mr Warwick van Breda was appointed as company secretary to ConvergeNet and its subsidiaries with effect 
from 1 December 2013, prior to which date the role was fulfilled by Juba Statutory Services Proprietary Limited. 

38.3 Changes to the Board 
Mr DF Bisschoff's resigned as a director on 31 October 2013 and was subsequently appointed as interim 
CEO on a contract basis. This agreement terminated on 31 December 2013. Mr P van Zyl was appointed as 
a director on 21 November 2013 and replaced Mr. Bisschoff as Chief Financial Officer from 1 January 2014.

38.4 Loan refinancing 
The interest bearing loan from BellTower Financial Services Proprietary Limited disclosed in note 15 was 
settled on behalf of ConvergeNet by AfrAsia Special Opportunities Fund on 20 November 2013 (the “Advance 
Date”). The loan is repayable within 6 months of the Advance Date and carries interest at prime plus 10%. 
The loan is secured by a pledge of 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Andrews Kit Proprietary Limited t/a 
Contract Kitting, 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Structured Connectivity Solutions Proprietary Limited 
and all of the proceeds received by the Group from the disposal of Sizwe Africa IT Group Proprietary Limited 
(refer note 13)

The directors of the company are not aware of any other material facts or circumstances not already disclosed 
above that require disclosure in this report. 
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convergeNet Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1998/015580/06)
Share Code: CVN    ISIN: ZAE000102067

(“ConvergeNet” or “the company”)

D F Bisschoff (Financial Director, Interim CEO) ^
PJ Van Zyl $
L Mangope*#
CE Pettit*
NG Nika*#

* Non-executive
# Independent,
^ Resigned with effect from 31 December 2013
$ Appointed with effect from 1 January 2014. 
Abridged CV’s of the directors can be found at the end of this notice. 

Notice oF aGM
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of the company’s shareholders will be held at the offices of AfriAsia 
Corporate Finance, Ground Floor, Oxford Corner, Cnr Oxford & Jellicoe Avenue, Rosebank, on Monday, 12 May 2014 at 
10h00 (“the annual general meeting” or “the AGM”). 

Purpose

The purpose of the Annual General Meeting is to present, consider and adopt the financial statements of the company for 
the year ended 31 August 2013; to transact the business set out in this notice of annual general meeting (“AGM notice”) by 
considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions hereunder; and to 
transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting. 

record date, attendance and voting 2014

Record date in order to be eligible to receive the AGM notice Thursday, 20 March
AGM notice posted to shareholders Friday, 4 April
Last date to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting Wednesday, 23 April
Record date in order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting Friday, 2 May
Last day to lodge forms of proxy for the annual general meeting (by 10h00) Thursday, 8 May
Annual general meeting (at 10h00) Monday, 12 May
Results of the annual general meeting released on SENS  Monday, 12 May

1. Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, 
speak and vote thereat in their stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. A form of proxy, in which are 
set out the relevant instructions for its completion, is enclosed for the use of a certificated shareholder or own-name 
registered dematerialised shareholder who wishes to be represented at the annual general meeting. Completion of a 
form of proxy will not preclude such shareholder from attending and voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) 
at the annual general meeting.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed must reach the company’s transfer 
secretaries at the address given below by not later than 10h00 on Thursday, 8 May 2014.

3. Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the 
annual general meeting in person will need to request their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or 
broker to provide them with the necessary letter of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into 
between such shareholders and the CSDP or broker.

4. Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who are unable to attend 
the annual general meeting and who wish to be represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker with their 
voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker in the 
manner and time stipulated therein.

5. Shareholders present in person, by proxy or by authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, have one vote 
each and, on a poll, will have one vote in respect of each share held.

6. In terms of the Companies Act, any shareholder or proxy who intends to attend or participate at the annual general 
meeting must be able to present reasonably satisfactory identification at the meeting for such shareholder or proxy 
to attend and participate at the annual general meeting. A green bar-coded identification document issued by the 
South African Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s license or a valid passport will be accepted at the annual general 
meeting as sufficient identification.
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agenda

1. Presentation and consideration of the financial statements of ConvergeNet, including the reports of the 
directors and the audit and risk committee for the year ended 31 August 2013. The complete financial 
statements for the year ended 31 August 2013, together with both reports are available for inspection at the 
registered office of AfriAsia Corporate Finance, Ground Floor, Oxford Corner, Cnr Oxford & Jellicoe Avenue, 
Rosebank during office hours and on the company’s website at www.convergenet.co.za; and

2. To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special 
resolutions:

Note: 

In order for any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 8 and numbers 10 and 11 to be adopted, the support of more than 
50% of the voting rights exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof. 

In order for ordinary resolution number 9 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the voting rights exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.

1. ORDINARY BUSINESS

re-election of directors

1.1 Ordinary resolution number 1: Confirmation of appointment of Peter van Zyl

“Resolved that the appointment of Peter van Zyl as Financial Director with effect from 1 January 2014, be and 
is hereby confirmed.”

reason for ordinary resolution number 1 

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1 is that article 32.10.1 of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
Company requires that an appointment of a director has to be confirmed by shareholders at the next annual 
general meeting. 

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Peter van Zyl may be viewed at the end of this AGM Notice.

1.2 ordinary resolution number 2: re-election of Dumisani Dumekhaya tabata

“Resolved that Dumisani Tabata, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
company and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director of the 
company.”

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Dumisani Dumekhaya Tabata may be viewed at the end of this 
AGM Notice.

1.3 ordinary resolution number 3: re-election of Nkosemntu Gladman Nika

“Resolved that Nkosemntu Gladman Nika, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation 
of the company and, being eligible and offering himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director of 
the company.”

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Nkosemntu Gladman Nika may be viewed at the end of this AGM 
Notice.

reason for ordinary resolution numbers 2 and 3

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 2 and 3 is that article 32.8 of the memorandum of incorporation of 
the company and, to the extent applicable, the Companies Act, requires that a third of the non-executive directors 
shall retire at the annual general meeting and, if eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as directors.

re-appointment of auditors

1.4 ordinary resolution number 4: re-appointment of the auditors 

“Resolved that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., together with Deon Storm as the designated auditor, be and are 
hereby appointed as the independent auditors of the company from the conclusion of this annual general meeting 
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the company.”
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reason for ordinary resolution number 4

In accordance with sections 90 and 94(7) of the Companies Act, the audit and risk committee has nominated 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as auditors of the company. 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 4 is that the company, being a public listed company, must have its 
financial results audited and in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act such auditor must be appointed 
or re-appointed each year at the annual general meeting of the company as required by the Companies Act.

election of members to the audit and risk committee 

1.5 ordinary resolution number 5: appointment of Nkosemntu Gladman Nika as a member to the audit and 
risk committee 

“Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, Nkosemntu Gladman Nika be and is hereby 
elected a member of the company’s audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion of this annual 
general meeting.”

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Nkosemntu Gladman Nika may be viewed at the end of this AGM 
Notice.

1.6 ordinary resolution number 6: appointment of Lerato Mangope as a member to the audit and risk 
committee

“Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, Lerato Mangope be and is hereby elected 
a member of the company’s audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion of this annual general 
meeting.” 

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Lerato Mangope may be viewed at the end of this AGM Notice.

1.7 ordinary resolution number 7: appointment of Dumisani Dumekhaya tabata as a member to the audit 
and risk committee

“Resolved that, in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, Dumisani Dumekhaya Tabata be and is hereby 
elected a member of the company’s audit and risk committee, with effect from the conclusion of this annual general  
meeting.”

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of Dumisani Dumekhaya Tabata may be viewed at the end of this 
AGM Notice.

reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 7 (inclusive) is that the company, being a public listed company, 
must appoint an audit committee as prescribed by sections 66(2) and 94(2) of the Companies Act, which also 
requires that the members of such audit committee be appointed, or re-appointed, as the case may be, at each 
annual general meeting of the company.

Unissued shares placed under the control of the directors 

1.8 ordinary resolution number 8: Placing unissued shares under directors’ control

“Resolved that the authorised and unissued ordinary shares in the company, be and are hereby placed under 
the control of the directors of the company until the next annual general meeting and that the directors of the 
company be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue all or part thereof at such time or times to such person 
or persons or bodies corporate and upon such terms and conditions as the directors of the company may from 
time to time deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the memorandum of incorporation of 
the company, and the provisions of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) (“the JSE Listings 
Requirements”).”
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reason for ordinary resolution number 8

The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is to place the authorised but unissued share capital of 
the company under the control of the directors of the company.

General authority to issue shares for cash 

1.9 ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to issue shares for cash

“Resolved that the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised by way of a general authority, to allot 
and issue any of the unissued shares (including the grant or issue of options or convertible securities that are 
convertible into an existing class of shares) placed under their control, for cash, as they in their discretion may 
deem fit, subject to the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act and the further 
restrictions set out below, on the following basis -:

– the general authority shall be valid until the date of the next annual general meeting of the company, 
provided it shall not extend beyond fifteen months from the date of this resolution;

– any such issue will only be shares of a class already in issue or, if this is not the case, will be limited to such 
shares or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

– the general issues of shares for cash in the aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 15% 
<15,141,975 shares> of the company’s issued share capital of that class. For purposes of determining 
whether the aforementioned 15% has been or will be reached, account must be taken of the dilution effect, 
in the year of issue of options/convertible securities, by including the number of any shares which may be 
issued in future arising out of the issue of such options/convertible securities; 

– the number of shares of a class which may be issued shall be based on the number of shares of that class 
in issue added to those that may be issued in future (arising from the conversion of options/convertible 
securities), at the date of such application, less any shares of the class issued, or to be issued in future 
arising from options/convertible securities, during the current financial year, provided that any shares of 
that class to be issued pursuant to a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable and is fully 
underwritten or an acquisition (which has had its final terms announced) may be included as though they 
were shares in issue at the date of application;

– in determining the price at which an issue of shares will be made in terms of this authority the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% of the weighted average traded price of such shares, as determined over 
the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the 
party subscribing for the shares. The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the company’s shares have not 
traded in such 30 business day period;

– any such issue will only be made to public shareholders as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and 
not to related parties; and

– an announcement giving full details, including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the 
weighted average traded price of the shares over the 30 business days prior to the date of issue, the effects 
of the issue on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per shares, the earnings per share and 
headline earnings per share and if applicable, the diluted earnings and headline earnings per share will be 
published after any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within any one financial year, 5% or more of 
the number of shares in issue prior to such issue.”
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the reason for ordinary resolution number 9

For public listed entities wishing to issue shares, it is necessary for the board of directors not only to obtain the 
prior authority of the shareholders in accordance with the company’s memorandum of incorporation but it is 
also necessary to obtain the prior authority of shareholders in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. 
The reason for this resolution is accordingly to obtain a general authority from shareholders to issue shares in 
compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements. The authority granted in terms of this resolution must accordingly 
be read together with authority granted in terms of ordinary resolution number 8 above and any exercise thereof 
will be subject to the conditions contained in ordinary resolution number 9.

Note: In order for this ordinary resolution number 9 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the voting rights 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy must be exercised in favour thereof.

remuneration policy

1.10 ordinary resolution Number 10: adoption of remuneration policy

To endorse the Company’s remuneration policy, as set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 20 and 21 of 
the integrated annual report, by way of a non-binding advisory note.

the reason for ordinary resolution number 10

The reason for ordinary resolution number 10 is to comply with King III which recommends that the remuneration 
policy of a company be endorsed through a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders at the annual general 
meeting of a company.

authority to act

1.11 ordinary resolution Number 11: authority to act

“Resolved that any one director of the company and/or the company secretary of the company be and is hereby 
authorised to do all such things and sign all such documents as deemed necessary for or incidental to the imple-
mentation of the ordinary and special resolutions as set out in this notice convening the annual general meeting 
at which these resolutions will be considered and which are passed by the shareholders in accordance with and 
subject to the terms thereof.”

the reason for ordinary resolution number 11

The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is to ensure that the resolutions voted favourably upon are duly 
implemented through the delegation of powers provided for in terms of article 26.11 of the company’s memoran-
dum of incorporation.

2. SPeciaL BUSiNeSS

2.1 Special resolution number 1: Remuneration of non-executive directors 

“Resolved that the remuneration payable to the non-executive directors be approved on the following basis with 
effect from this annual general meeting until the next annual general meeting held in 2015: 

 Chairman Other members of committees
Monthly retainer

 R15 000 R10 000
Board meeting:
Attendance fee per meeting R10 000 R5 000
audit & risk committee:
Attendance fee per meeting R15 000 R10 000
remuneration committee:
Attendance fee per meeting R15 000 R10 000
investment committee:
Attendance fee per meeting R15 000 R10 000
Social & ethics committee:
Attendance fee per meeting R15 000 R10 000

Note: For any other services rendered to the company outside their normal duties as directors, a fee of R1,500 
per hour will be paid.
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Reasons for and effect of special resolution number 1

The reason for special resolution number 1 is to comply with section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 
which requires the approval of directors fees prior to the payment of such fees.

The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the company will be able to pay its non-executive 
directors for the services they render to the company as directors without requiring further shareholder 
approval until the next annual general meeting.

2.2 Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance to related and inter-related companies

“Resolved that the board of directors of the Group be and is hereby authorised in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of 
the Companies Act, as a general approval (which approval will be in place for a period of two years from the date 
of adoption of this special resolution number 4), to authorise the group to provide any direct or indirect financial 
assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to such term in section 45(1) of the 
Companies Act) that the board may deem fit to any related or inter-related company of the Group (“related” and 
“inter-related” will herein have the meanings attributed to those terms in section 2 of the Companies Act), on the 
terms and conditions and for the amounts that the board of directors may determine.”

reason for and effect of special resolution number 2

The reason for and the effect of special resolution number 2 is to provide a general authority to the board of 
directors of the Group for the Group to grant direct or indirect financial assistance to any company forming part 
of the Group, including in the form of loans or the guaranteeing of their debts.

2.3 Special resolution number 3: Authority to repurchase shares by the Company

“Resolved that as a special resolution that the company and its subsidiaries be and is hereby authorised, as a 
general approval, to repurchase any of the shares issued by the company, upon such terms and conditions and 
in such amounts as the directors may from time to time determine, but subject to the provisions of section 46 
and 48 of the Companies Act, the memorandum of incorporation of the company, the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE, namely that:

– the general repurchase of the shares may only be implemented on the open market of the JSE and done 
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the company and the counterparty;

– this general authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting of the company, provided 
that it shall not extend beyond fifteen months from the date of this resolution;

– an announcement must be published as soon as the company has acquired shares constituting, on a 
cumulative basis, 3% of the number of shares in issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the 
aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, containing full details thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate of 
the initial number of shares acquired thereafter;

– the general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20% in the aggregate in any one financial 
year of the company’s issued share capital at the time the authority is granted;

– a resolution has been passed by the board of directors approving the purchase, that the company has 
satisfied the solvency and liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that since the solvency 
and liquidity test was applied there have been no material changes to the financial position or required 
shareholder spread of the group;

– the general repurchase is authorised by the company’s memorandum of incorporation;

– repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value 
of the shares for five business days immediately preceding the date that the transaction is effected. The 
JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the applicants securities have not traded in such five business day 
period;

– the Company may at any point in time only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s 
behalf;

– the Company and its subsidiaries may not effect a repurchase during any prohibited period as defined 
in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE unless there is a repurchase programme in place as 
contemplated in terms of 5.72(g) of the Listings Requirements of the JSE; and

– the Company must ensure that its sponsor provides the JSE with the required working capital letters 
before it commences the repurchase of any shares.”
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reason and effect of special resolution number 3

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors a general authority in terms of 
its memorandum of incorporation and the Listings Requirements of the JSE for the acquisition by the Company 
and/or its subsidiaries of shares issued by it on the basis reflected in the special resolution. 

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE any general repurchase by the company and/or its subsidiaries 
must, inter alia, be limited to a maximum of 20% of the company’s issued share capital in any one financial year 
of that class at the time the authority is granted.

3. otHer BUSiNeSS

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting or raised by shareholders with or 
without advance notice to the company.

Quorum

A quorum for the purposes of considering the resolutions above shall consist of three shareholders of the company 
personally present (and if the shareholder is a body corporate, it must be represented) and entitled to vote at the an-
nual general meeting. In addition, a quorum shall comprise 25% of all voting rights that are entitled to be exercised by 
shareholders in respect of the resolutions above. 

electronic Participation

Shareholders or their proxies may participate in the annual general meeting by way of telephone conference call at their 
own cost. Shareholders or their proxies who wish to participate in the annual general meeting via the teleconference 
facility will be required to advise the company thereof by no later than 10h00 on Friday, 9 May 2014 by submitting, 
by email to the financial director at peter@thundercapital.co.za or by fax to be faxed to +27 86 506 1167, for the 
attention of the financial director relevant contact details including email address, cellular number and landline, as 
well as full details of the shareholder’s title to the shares issued by the company and proof of identity, in the form 
of copies of identity documents and share certificates (in the case of certificated shareholders), and (in the case of 
dematerialised shareholders) written confirmation from the shareholder’s CSDP confirming the shareholder’s title to 
the dematerialised shares. Upon receipt of the required information, the shareholder concerned will be provided with a 
secure code and instructions to access the electronic communication during the annual general meeting. 

Shareholders who wish to participate in the annual general meeting by way of telephone conference call must note 
that they will not be able to vote during the annual general meeting. Such shareholders, should they wish to have their 
vote counted at the annual general meeting, must, to the extent applicable: (i) complete the form of proxy; or (ii) contact 
their CSDP or broker, in both instances, as set out above.

By order of the board
Warwick van Breda 
Company secretary
31 March 2014
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Mr charles Pettit

Charles is the CEO of AfrAsia Corporate Finance (Proprietary) Limited (“ACF”) and a manager of AfrAsia Special 
Opportunities Fund (Proprietary) Limited (“ASOF”). ACF is a subsidiary of AfrAsia Bank Limited (“AfrAsia Bank”), a boutique 
bank headquartered in the Mauritian International Financial Services Centre, whilst ASOF is a Mauritian registered collective 
investment scheme that invests throughout SADC in structured credit opportunities. Charles has extensive corporate 
finance experience in various SADC and COMESA countries which includes acquisitions, disposals, IPO`s, fundraisings, 
project financings and debt restructurings. 

Mr Dumisani tabata

Dumisani was admitted to practice as an attorney of the Supreme Court of South Africa in 1984. Dumisani has served as 
deputy chairman of ABSA Bank regional board in the Eastern Cape and is currently a member of its Advisory Board as well 
as member of ABSA Bank’s Divisional Board. He is presently executive director of Vuwa Investments (Proprietary) Limited 
(“Vuwa”) and director of Smith Tabata Incorporated in King William’s Town and East London and Smith Tabata Buchanan 
Boyes in Cape Town and Johannesburg.

Ms Lerato Mangope

Lerato holds a Bachelor of Arts in Economics degree from Vista University, an MBA from Henley UK, and a PDM from the 
University of Natal, together with a Diploma in Investments Liability Management from the University of Johannesburg 
(formerly RAU). She is presently the head of the Asset and Liability Management and Corporate Funding (“ALMU”) division 
of the Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa Limited (“IDC”). 

Mr Nkosemntu Nika

Mr Nika is a qualified Chartered Accountant. In 1988, after completing his articles with WL Nkuhlu and Company (in 
association with Hoek and Wiehahn subsequently merged with PwC), he joined Anglo American as an internal auditor 
at head office. Mr Nika is active with the Institute of Internal Auditors and the development of Internal Audit profession 
and function in the country. Mr Nika has also served on a number of boards as non-executive director as well as chaired 
numerous audit committees.

Mr Peter van Zyl 

Peter completed a BCom at UNISA with distinction in Accounting and Financial Management. Peter has wide-ranging 
operational experience in Financial Management and Financial Director roles and has entrepreneurial experience, with a 
particular focus on the ICT industry. From 2004–2009 Peter was Commercial Director of Sekunjalo Investments Ltd, where 
he managed a wide range of transactions, including Sekunjalo Health Care Rights Issue, the acquisition of a BEE stake in 
British Telecom and Marine Growers from Transnet, as well as the restructuring of Sekunjalo Financial Services. 

Shareholder rights

In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (as amended), shareholders have rights to be represented by 
proxy as herewith stated.

(1) At any time, a shareholder of the Company may appoint any individual, including an individual who is not a shareholder 
of the Company, as a proxy to:

(a) participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders meeting on behalf of the shareholder; or 

(b) give or withhold written consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision contemplated in section 60. 

Provided that the shareholder may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different shares held 
by the shareholder.

(2) A proxy appointment:

(a) must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder; and

(b) remains valid for:

(i) one year after the date on which it was signed; or

(ii) any longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in a manner 
contemplated in subsection (4)(c), or expires earlier as contemplated in subsection (8) (d).

DirectorS aBriDGeD cUrricULUM Vitae
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Shareholder rights (continued)

(3) Except to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company provides otherwise:

(a) a shareholder of the Company may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies, and may appoint more 
than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different securities held by the shareholder;

(b) a proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person, subject to any 
restriction set out in the instrument appointing the proxy; and

(c) a copy of the instrument appointing a proxy must be delivered to the Company, or to any other person on behalf 
of the Company, before the proxy exercises any rights of the shareholder at a shareholders meeting.

(4) Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:

(a) the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in 
person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder;

(b) the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise; and

(c) if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by:

(i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and

(ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the Company.

(5) The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on 
behalf of the shareholder as of the later of:

(a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or

(b) the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered as required in subsection(4) (c) (ii).

(6) If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment remains 
in effect, any notice that is required by this Act or the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the 
Company to the shareholder must be delivered by the Company to

(a) the shareholder; or

(b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has

(i) directed the company to do so, in writing; and

(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so

(7) A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the shareholder without direction, except 
to the extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation, or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise.

(8) If the Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons named by the Company as a 
proxy, or supplies a form of instrument for appointing a proxy:

(a) the invitation must be sent to every shareholder which is entitled to notice of the meeting at which the proxy is 
intended to be exercised;

(b) the invitation, or form of instrument supplied by the Company for the purpose of appointing a proxy, must:

(i) bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established by this section;

(ii) contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name or names of any person or persons named 
in it, to enable a shareholder to write in the name and, if so desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen 
by the shareholder; and

(iii) provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of 
or against any resolution or resolutions to be put at the meeting, or is to abstain from voting;

(c) the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable; and

(d) the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting at which it was intended to be used, subject 
to subsection (5).

(9) Subsection (8) (b) and (d) do not apply if the Company merely supplies a generally available standard form of proxy 
appointment on request by a shareholder.



convergeNet Holdings Limitd
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1998/015580/06)
Share Code: CVN   ISIN: ZAE000102067

(“ConvergeNet” or “the company”)

ForM oF ProXY
For use by shareholders of the company holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders who have elected “ownname” 
registration, nominee companies of Central Securities Depository Participant’s (“CSDP”) and brokers’ nominee companies, registered 
as such at the close of business on Friday, 2 May 2014 (the “voting record date”), at the annual general meeting to be held at the offices 
of the of AfriAsia Corporate Finance, Ground Floor, Oxford Corner, Cnr Oxford & Jellicoe Avenue, Rosebank on Monday, 12 May 2014 
at 10h00 (the “annual general meeting”) or any postponement or adjournment thereof.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, 
other than with “own name” registration, should provide instructions to their appointed CSDP or broker in the form as stipulated in the 
agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker. 
I/We (please print name in full) 
of (address)
being a shareholder/s of CovergeNet, holding shares in the company hereby appoint:
1. or, failing him/her,
2. or, failing him/her,
3. or failing him/her,
4. the chairman of the annual general meeting,
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment thereof and to speak and 
act for me/us and, on a poll, vote on my/our behalf.
My/our proxy shall vote as follows:

Number of shares

In favour of Against Abstain

To consider the presentation of the annual financial statements for  
the year ended 31 August 2013

Ordinary resolution number 1:
Confirmation of appointment of Peter van Zyl as Financial Director

Ordinary resolution number 2:
To re-elect Dumisani Tabata as director

Ordinary resolution number 3:
To re-elect Nkosemntu Gladman Nika as director

Ordinary resolution number 4:
Re-appointment of auditors

Ordinary resolution number 5:
Appointment of Nkosemntu Gladman Nika to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 6:
Appointment of Lerato Mangope to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 7:
Appointment of Dumisani Tabata to the audit and risk committee

Ordinary resolution number 8:
Placing of unissued shares under the directors’ control

Ordinary resolution number 9:
General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution number 10:
Adoption of remuneration philosophy

Ordinary resolution number 11:
Authority to act

Special resolution number 1:
Remuneration of non-executive directors

Special resolution number 2:
Financial assistance to related and interrelated companies

Special resolution number 3:
Authority to repurchase shares

(indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above)
Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.
Signed this _______________________ day of ______________________2014
Signature ________________________________________________________
Assisted by me (where applicable)_____________________________________
(State capacity and full name)_________________________________________
Forms of proxy must be deposited at the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Ground 
Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, or posted to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 so as to arrive by no later than 10h00 on 
Thursday, 8 May 2014.
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.



Notes to the proxy form

1. This form of proxy should only be used by shareholders holding certificated shares and/or dematerialised shareholders 
who have elected “ownname” registration, nominee companies of CSDP’s and brokers’ nominee companies.

2. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in 
the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled 
by the shareholder. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will 
be entitled to act as proxy to those whose names follow.

3. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by means of a tick or a cross or by the insertion of the 
relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. However if you wish to 
cast your votes in respect of a lesser number of shares than you own in the company, insert the number of shares in 
respect of which you desire to vote. If: (i) a shareholder fails to comply with the above; or (ii) gives contrary instructions 
in relation to any matter; or any additional resolution(s) which are properly put before the meeting; or (iii) the resolution 
listed in the proxy form is modified or amended, the shareholder will be deemed to authorise the chairman of the 
annual general meeting, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at the annual 
general meeting, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems 
fit, in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. If however the shareholder has provided further written 
instructions which accompany this form of proxy and which indicate how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting 
in any of the circumstances referred to in (i) to (iii) above, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

4. Dematerialised shareholders who wish to attend the meeting or to vote by way of proxy, must contact their CSDP or 
broker who will furnish them with the necessary letter of representation to attend the meeting or to be represented 
thereat by proxy. This must be done in terms of the custody agreement between the member and his/her CSDP or 
broker.

5. Forms of proxy must be lodged at the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, 
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as to be received by not later than 
10h00 on Thursday, 8 May 2014.

6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the 
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

7. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative or other 
legal capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries 
or waived by the chairman of the meeting.

8. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

9. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or 
received, other than in compliance with these notes provided that, in respect of acceptances, he is satisfied as to the 
manner in which the shareholder(s) concerned wish(es) to vote.

10. Where there are joint holders of shares:

(i) any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and

(ii) the vote of the senior (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of shareholders 
appear in the register of members) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the 
exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s) of shares.

11. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the company’s transfer secretaries.

12. On a show of hands, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy shall have only one vote, irrespective 
of the number of shares he/she holds or represents. 

13. On a poll, every shareholder present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held by 
such shareholder. 

14. This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or postponement of the annual general meeting, including any 
postponement due to a lack of quorum, unless withdrawn by the shareholder.




